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Corporate Profile
i\\ ﬁ.l ﬁ i

Established in 1988, Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited is a leading provider of e-commerce
services for Hong Kong business community. Since 1997, Tradelink has been providing
Government Electronic Trading Services (GETS) for the trading community, initially under a
7-year exclusive franchise (1997-2003) and thereafter under licences with the current one
expiring by end of 2024, extendable up to three years at the Government’s discretion. Over the
years, Tradelink has earned the trust and support of the trading community; enabling it to
stand firmly as the dominant player in the e-commerce market. With the mission to empower
its clients with business enabled e-solutions for their commercial and financial activities,
Tradelink has diversified its business beyond GETS into other business areas. In addition to
GETS, Tradelink also offers a wide range of solutions, including supply chain solutions, digital
certification services/identity management solutions, payment solutions and a Community
Logistics Platform through its wholly-owned subsidiaries Digital Trade and Transportation
Network Limited, Digi-Sign Certification Services Limited, Tradelink E-Biz Secure Solutions
Limited and VSHIP Limited.

Tradelink was listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Stock
Code: 00536) on 28 October 2005.

BIBETESIBRARMIBFERYL  REFTHELE RETEHR - B1997FE B 5
BEHRAEZARMBNETE SR (GETS) © B & 6+ F 5 & #(1997-2003) ' BEEE
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Financial Highlights

B R B

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
BE-Z-)\F¥ HE-_ZT—tF
+=ZA=+-H +-A=+—8
LFE LFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T ok e
Revenue W = 271,930 241,830
Profit from operations BE R T 104,766 94,169
Profit attributable to equity AR RERSE ABMLEF
shareholders of the Company 89,768 74,120
Total assets EEHE 552,602 561,924
Net assets EEZEE 350,757 354,410
Dividend per share (HK cents) SEREE GBA)
Interim FEAR B 3.5 3.2
Proposed final BRKRERE 6.0 6.3
Earnings per share (HK cents) SREBR CGEWL)
Basic HAR 11.3 9.3
Diluted e 11.3 9.3
Financial ratios B 3 b &
Net profit margin (Note 1) Fom R K () 33.0% 30.6%
Effective tax rate (Note 2) BB XK (f22) 15.4% 16.1%
Current ratio (Note 3) BN LL K (ff #E3) 0.96 0.66
Quick ratio (Note 4) B K (i 774) 0.96 0.66
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
RNZE—+tF
+=A=t+—H
‘000
T &
Issued and fully paid ordinary shares ERTRBZEBER
As at 31 December R+=—A=+—H 794,634 794,586
Weighted average number of ordinary shares Rt+ZRA=+—BE2%T
(basic) outstanding as at 31 December T 5B AR Y hn A T B (B R) 794,624 794,581

Note 1 Net profit margin = profit attributable to equity shareholders of the

Kiitl JFEFIE=ZFRARERFEAEL 57, Wz

Company/revenue
Note 2 Effective tax rate = taxation/profit before taxation W2 EEFE=FIE RS F
Note 3 Current ratio = current assets/current liabilities Mit3 REBHF=-TBEE TBERE
Note 4 Quick ratio = current assets minus inventory/current liabilities Hiita FBHFE=RBHEERGFE  HTBHEE

—0 02
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Financial Highlights (Continued)
BB E )
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36.6% ¥ Special £ 5l E
32.8% 34.3% 33.0% W Final RERE
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHREFE

Dear Shareholders,

Review

While the global economy in 2018 remained close to post crisis high, the
growth significantly slowed down towards the latter part of the second
half year. The deteriorating market sentiment reflected major global
concerns over the continuing trade conflicts between China and the
United States. As these two countries are Hong Kong's two biggest
trade markets, the trade tensions between them inevitably weighted on
the Hong Kong economy which saw the slowest quarterly growth in the
third quarter in two vyears. In spite of the unsettled operating
environment during the year and particularly in the second half year, |
am pleased to report that the Group performed remarkably in 2018. Our
revenue and after tax profits both recorded double-digit growth, to the
extent even more than the growth in the first half of the year.

The Group’s revenue in 2018 at HK$271.9 million was up 12.4%
compared to the HK$241.8 million recorded in 2017. Though our
interest income and other net income together dropped slightly to
HK$15.6 million, taking into account our total costs at HK$182.7 million,
which was 10.1% higher than in 2017, our operating profit in 2018 at
HK$104.8 million was still up by 11.3% compared to the HK$94.2
million in 2017. As | mentioned in the 2018 Interim Report of the
Group, during the first half year, we completely disposed of the impaired
corporate bond in our other financial assets for which an exceptional
impairment loss of HK$8.2 million was recorded in 2017. Without such
a sizeable impairment loss this year, we made only a small provision for
potential impairment loss for the portfolio of corporate bond holdings
according to the new accounting standard, and that plus only a slight
reduction of the share of our PRC results, our before tax profits
increased by 20.2% from HK$88.3 million in 2017 to HK$106.2 million
in 2018. Taking into account the recognition of the deferred tax charge
arising from utilization of the unused tax losses of Digital Trade and
Transportation Network Limited (“DTTNCo"), the Group’s after tax profit
for 2018 was HK$89.8 million, up by an impressive 21.1% year-on-year,
compared to the after tax profit of HK$74.1 million for 2017.

O

BMBMRE

= B

BERBKRBER - N\FNRBELKES
- EEREERATHFRABERE - TEHE
LTS RARBRRRTISE 2 BERFENTE
BHER - BARNEMEBERREENZAES D
5o MEZENESERBEENTERMEET
EENRE CE=FHEMFANREERE
BESEK -BEARFELETHFNELRED
BE AAMABREAEER T \FHORR
SEREE - IR UE KB T8 M 15 815 AL
BFER BEEZBBAFELLFNERRE
o

REBER =T — ) \FHURE A %271,900,000
L BT~ F RS 6B %241,800,000T £ A
12.4% - HABRFOFERAREL BRI FHEA
5+ % = 75 15,600,000 © 18 5 A F P9 EY R R
42 F 75 ¥182,700,000 (B = F — £ F L 7
101%) RMR T -\ FHLEEMNBEE
104,800,0007T 138 — Z — -+ £ 19 7% #94,200,000
JTLEFA11.3% o AR AR =ZZT— )\ FhHREAT
o AEBEEAEAFE LEFREE2HERKM
WHMHBEERANDRECERES  MAEE
HFN T F BB E E 185 18,200,000
EEE- A
RARBF ST ERFAENCEBSFHEHANE
EREBEEL N ERE  ERDIEHRMAOF R
EBEESHALD BMOBRBAENR_-Z
— 4 4 #) 78 #88,300,0007T £ F202%E = &
— \4E K75 #106,200,0007T ° 5t & 18 FI 2k (5 #E 3R
HIEBE HEHMKABRAF([DTINCo ) K& HA
MEBEMELEMNEEHESL  AEER=-Z
— \F 8Bk B 18 5 F1| & 75 #89,800,0007T + & =
Tt FHKRBIE R R & #74,100,0007T 8% 15 1%
FAEAE21.1% °
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
FHERESE #)

Review (Continued)

Regarding the performance of our business segments, re-grouped into
three key segments, namely E-Commerce, Identity Management
(“IDM") and Other Services, for reasons stated in our 2018 Interim
Report, they all recorded strong growth of various magnitudes.
Particularly outstanding was our IDM business as continuing its growth
momentum gathered from the first half of the year, its revenue for
2018 surged by an impressive 42.9% year-on-year from HK$40.1 million
last year to HK$57.3 million this year and its profit also climbed 29.9%
to HK$7.6 million. The business has benefited from the strong and
increasing market demand for security solutions, in particular biometric
authentication solutions, to combat the growing threat of cyber-attacks
on businesses, not limited to the banking and financial industry, but all
industries. During the reporting period, we fulfilled several major orders
for our two factor biometric authentication solution which has become
one of our most sought after IDM solutions in recent years. Our
customers included renowned international and local banks as well as
major corporations which deployed our solutions for identity verification
of their clients for digital onboarding and/or conducting online
transactions. For some of our bank customers,
deployed specifically for conducting Know-Your-Customer (“KYC")
check of their client for mobile bank account opening.

our solution was

As for our E-Commerce business, its revenue grew by HK$9.0 million, or
4.9%, from HK$182.7 million last year to HK$191.7 million this year,
and its segment profit was up 18.2% from HK$61.5 million in 2017 to
HK$72.7 million in 2018. Although our core Government Electronic
Trading Services (“GETS") turnover in 2018 dropped slightly to HK$168.6
million, down 0.3%, HK$0.5 million less than last year, Commercial
Services business recorded a phenomenal revenue growth of 70.6%
year-on-year, an increase of HK$9.5 million from HK$13.6 million in
2017 to HK$23.1 million in 2018. The sub-segment quickly caught up in
the second half of 2018 with several major projects completed and
delivered to customers before the end of the year. As a result, the two
sub-segments together contributed to the overall pleasing performance
of the combined E-Commerce business in 2018. While the demand for
our GETS, which depends very much on Hong Kong's external trade, is
out of our control, we can at all times and use our best effort to sell
supply chain solutions to our GETS customers in the trade and logistics
industries, helping them operate their business more effectively and
efficiently regardless of the larger economic environment. Our decision
made early in the year to combine the GETS and Commercial Services
sub-segments under E-Commerce made sense as evidenced by the results
this year and together they have helped boost the resilience of our
E-Commerce business.

=l B8 (&)

ERBMNETEEBOBZRE R =_F—N
FHRMBENFEE FULHCEARETS
B o50ER(H0ER]) REMRBHN =X
EHH 2HPHETRBEENRDER - KB
EHENERMNEMHERER TEENASF
BEL+FNEEY N BT N\FlRahmEF
&) 78 #640,100,0007T  F B & 2 F142.9% & K F
[Z#)%8#57,300,0007T * il 7% A IR EF29.9% &
A #7,600,0007C - ZEH X ERE R LR R
URAEIRENMISEER  EPEMREMRRT
RUEHCXOSRROBBRERE  HEM
TRARTERERMTE EEABRMETE -
RESHE RPN ERESRERRN R
MZEARTE BRI REXNSOFREMEK
REENENERTRZ — - HMANEPEEM
ZHEREEABRTAREIZLE  ©MEAR
MRS RAREA R PREERF kot
THERSHNEMNZRE HREMN—LRITE
FmE  BRAOBATEREMANEERTSEH
SOREIRITIR PR ETRBIRNE P ([RBIRH
BERPDE®Z-

BEFHEEB I A EREzBEFNEE
182,700,0007T # /i1 7 #9,000,0007C 24.9% = 45
F A %191,700,0000T Mz oD 2HEF A B =-F
— 4 4 #)78 #61,500,0007T # MN182%E = &
— J\EE /)78 #72,700,0007T ° & A 7 189 0 K
RHEFEIRETGETS DR T N\EEE
58 S840 T Bk = 75 #168,600,0007T ¢ B E T K
0.3% 3 7 #6500,0007T + {8 78 3£ AR 75 3 75 WA 8%
BREENIRENIEI6% H_T—LFENBE
13,600,0007T £ F+ 78 #9,500,0007t & — T — \F
#) 75 #23,100,000T ° % D EBEB R =T —\F
THFNERE - ZEANIEBE TR EREAFRE
MR TFER Al MEFHHETERT =
T — \Fi7 E%ﬁﬁi%ﬁ%mﬂ“ﬁ R o
%E%GETSEI'JFEKW BEREHIINESBREE M
REMEEESE - ﬁEﬁszﬁ‘Jl@fh& 35PN
ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁeﬁ%%ﬁ PEE 5 kYRt
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Review (Continued)

Other Services business also recorded revenue and segmental profit
increase from HK$19.0 million and HK$11.4 million last year to HK$22.9
million and HK$14.8 million this year, representing an increase of 20.2%
and 29.1%, respectively.

Business of our PRC associate, Guangdong Nanfang Haian Science &
Technology Service Company Limited (“Nanfang”) continued to be
affected by the nation-wide implementation of the single window in
China and as such the Group's share of profit for 2018 from Nanfang
dropped to HK$1.5 million compared to HK$2.4 million for 2017.

Prospect

Looking ahead, 2019 is going to be challenging and hard to predict for
the business community. We are facing a lot of uncertainties, the most
paramount being the negative impact of the Sino-US trade disputes on
the global economy. The rise in protectionism will also create additional
trade barriers, making the operating environment difficult for businesses.
At time of writing my Statement here, there is still the risk of a ‘hard’
Brexit and, should that happen, the macroeconomic environment in
Europe would be badly hit. As for our two major trade markets, the US
and China, there have been signs of the market increasingly concerned
about the US economy starting to slow down with its future direction
unclear. As for the Chinese economy, it is also facing increasing
downside risk. As all these factors with negative bearing on Hong
Kong's trading activities are beyond our control, we will just have to
stay vigilant and do our best. For Tradelink, | am glad that we are well-
prepared for overcoming these challenges. We have started some years
ago to build a ‘firewall’ by diversifying our business to cover areas
more immune to cyclical economic fluctuation. Our IDM business, for
example, has largely been driven by the ever-changing and emerging
cyber threats and the requirements of corporations for continuous
enhancements of the security of their online services. The encouraging
results of the business segment in recent years is evidence of the
success of our business diversification strategy.

O

Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
FTHEHREES #)
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
FHERESE #)

Prospects (Continued)

Turning to our GETS business, 2019 is the first year of the new GETS
licence which has a term of 6 years from 2019 to 2024, extendable up
to three years to 2027 at Government'’s discretion so as to tie to their
planned fully implementation of the Trade Single Window (“SW"). As
the same three players since 2010 were granted the new GETS licence
and will continue to provide the service, we expect the competitive
environment to remain stable with them continuing to focus on serving
their own customers and improving the quality of their services rather
than competing with each other on price for customers. That said, the
biggest uncertainty and difficulty for our GETS business in 2019 is no
doubt the continuous headwinds from the looming Sino-US trade
disputes slowing down the economy. A survey confirmed that the Hong
Kong economy has had in 2019 one of the weakest starts of a year in a
decade.

Regarding the SW implementation, the same as | mentioned in the
Group's results reports in the last two years, we will keep a close watch
on the progress and development of the mega project, in particular the
likely future operating and business environment for Value Added
Service Providers which we potentially will become when the current
GETS licence expires. We will study the potential challenges and
opportunities that may bring to us beyond 2024/2027 and, once we
have more concrete information, we will plan our strategy and prepare
our business accordingly.

| am reasonably confident of our Commercial Services business given its
strong growth momentum, renowned customer references and quality
leads built up since the second half of 2018. It is worth mentioning that,
before end of 2018, the Commercial Services team secured a sizeable
project from a leading retail chain in Hong Kong to provide it with an
advanced warehouse solution that employs automated material handling
equipment to support its daily business operations. Our success in
winning this project signifies our client’s recognition of our ability to
provide advanced supply chain solutions, entailing usage of automated
material handling equipment and Internet of Things technology, for
modern warehouse operations.

Although the uncertainty of the global economy would affect our GETS
business, our hope is that would be compensated by the good
performance of our thriving Commercial Services business and, as such,
barring any possible major slump of the global economy should the
worst come out of the Sino-US trade conflict, our E-Commerce business
at large will have a stable outlook in 2019.

Al = (%)

TEGETSEB HE - —T— N F RN GETSER
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Prospects (Continued)

Riding on the growing demand for security solutions for companies to
combat hackers who are increasingly targeting Hong Kong and as a
result making Hong Kong ranked in the top five global destinations for
such activities, | expect IDM business to continue to be a key growth
driver of the Group’s business in 2019. We are pleased that our IDM
solutions are not only adopted by the banking and financial industry, but
have extended their reach to a variety of industries and also for a
diverse scope of user applications for identity authentication. The
imminent issuance of virtual bank licences by the regulatory authority in
2019 has also created new opportunities for our IDM business as
identity authentication solutions are crucial for supporting virtual bank
operations. We have renowned bank customers using our two factor
biometric authentication solution for conducting KYC procedure, and
with their successful experience as reference, potential virtual bank
operators have shown interest and are actively enquiring with us about
our electronic Know-Your-Customer (“eKYC") solutions. Given the strong
market position of our IDM business braced by solid customer references
and consistently increasing market demand, | feel rather optimistic about
the outlook of our IDM business in 2019.

As for Other Services, | believe its outlook will remain neutral in 2019.
GETS related business is expected to shrink somewhat due to the
generally pessimistic market sentiment. On the other hand, | am hopeful
that Smart Point-of-Sales (“PoS"”) business will start to reap bigger
harvest in 2019 after struggling for some years and learning useful
lessons. Our Smart PoS solution gained the support of a major bank in
2018 and we hope we could build on this success story and together
with the continuous support of this major bank to further expand our
business in 2019.

Regarding our PRC associate Nanfang, while it has been rather badly hit
by the implementation of the national single window making them
unable to generate revenue from its core river manifest declaration
service, it has built up relationship with relevant government authorities
which has enabled it to bid for and land government projects for
Customs and Port clearance at provincial and sub-provincial levels.
However, as the margins of these projects are generally lower than that
of the traditional river manifest declaration service, the Group’s share of
profit from Nanfang in the future would unlikely be as big as in the
past. Yet with the strong background of its controlling shareholder, we
believe it has a good chance of sustaining a reasonably profitable
business.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
FHERESE #)

Dividends

As always, shareholders’ interests are our priority. In deciding the
amount of dividend to distribute to shareholders, the board of directors
of the Company (“Board”) had calculated the distributable profits
taking into account the negative balance of the fair value reserve
amounted to HK$17.2 million arising from the corporate bonds held by
the Group at 31 December 2018, which is deemed to be a realised loss
item. According to the Companies Ordinance, there is a difference
between profit attributable to shareholders and profit distributable to
shareholders. As such, based on the Company’s distributable profits in
the amount of HK$47.9 million as at 31 December 2018, the Board has
decided to recommend a close to 100% pay-out of the distributable
profits of the Group and a final dividend of HK 6.0 cents per share.
Together with the 2018 interim dividend of HK 3.5 cents per share
already paid, the total dividend for 2018 would be HK 9.5 cents per
share, which is on a par with the total dividend for 2017.

Acknowledgement

Finally, I would like to express my gratitude to our shareholders and my
fellow Board members for their continuing support of the Group. My
thanks also go to our staff for their hard work in the past year.

Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S., J.P.
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2019
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Business Review

E-Commerce Business Review

For reasons explained in the 2018 Interim Report, we have combined the
reporting of the GETS and Commercial Services previously separately as
two sub-segments under E-Commerce into one set of figures under
E-Commerce starting this year. For the trade and logistics industry in
Hong Kong, 2018 was full of challenges and more so towards the latter
part of the year with the trade conflicts between Hong Kong's two
biggest markets — China and the US — escalating. With such headwind
affecting the operating environment of our E-Commerce users in the
trade and logistics industry, the E-Commerce business in 2018 was still
overall able to achieve commendable results, with revenue up by 4.9%,
or HK$9.0 million, from HK$182.7 million in 2017 to HK$191.7 million
in 2018 and segment profit also increased from HK$61.5 million in 2017
to HK$72.7 million, 18.2% increase year-on-year. The top line increase
was attributable mainly to the good performance of Commercial Services
business, whereas the segment profit increase was largely due to the
effective control of GETS operating costs.

Growth of the GETS market slowed down notably in the second half
year against the first half year. Nevertheless the GETS market in 2018
overall grew by about 1.95% year-on-year. Constrained by the price
ceiling freeze in the last two GETS licence extension years in 2017/18 as
in 2016, our overall Import/Export Declaration (“TDEC") average price in
2018 dropped slightly and correspondingly TDEC revenue had a mild dip
in 2018. Yet compensated by other non-TDEC GETS revenue which
recorded moderate growth, overall GETS revenue in 2018 was at almost
the same level as in 2017. Total GETS revenue amounted to HK$168.6
million in 2018, only down by a slight 0.3% compared to the HK$169.1
million made in 2017. As for our Commercial Services business, it caught
up significantly in the second half of 2018, with projects delayed in the
first half year completed and a couple of major new projects secured in
the second half year completed or partially completed with revenue
recognised or partially recognised in 2018. As a result, the revenue from
Commercial Services recorded a handsome growth of 70.6% from
HK$13.6 million in 2017 to HK$23.1 million in 2018.
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Business Review (Continued)

E-Commerce Business Review (Continued)

The GETS competitive environment in 2018 was at large stable as
foreshadowed in the 2018 Interim Report, given that 2018 was the last
year of the previous GETS licence and the same three players will
continue to provide GETS under the new GETS licence from 2019 to
2024, with possible extension for up to three years. Before the end of
2018, we have successfully completed enhancement of our GETS
platform as scheduled for production in compliance with the new GETS
licence requirements starting from 2019.

Regarding Commercial Services, as foreshadowed in the 2018 Interim
Report, we have completed projects which we had slippage in first half
of the year, as well as new projects signed up and completed or
partially completed to enable revenue recognition at least on a work-in-
progress basis before the end of 2018. Together with our growing
regular recurrent income, the total revenue for Commercial Services
business in 2018 recorded a significant surge.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
EEEN®ED T @)

Business Review (Continued)

E-Commerce Business Review (Continued)

In the second half of 2018, we have completed delivery of the two
major orders mentioned in the 2018 Interim Report. The first was a
Warehouse Management System (“WMS"”) project with consultancy
service provided to a local subsidiary of a major US-based marketing and
distribution services company and the second was provision of WMS
embedded with Internet-of-Things (“loT”) technology to a leading
organisation in Macau for managing all physical assets in its new
integrated entertainment resort. Furthermore, a couple of exciting orders
were confirmed, with one of them completely delivered and one with
software licence delivered before the end of the year to be followed by
further development and implementation work in 2019.

The work-in-progress project with software licence delivered to the
customer in 2018 is a mega project, which we successfully won through
a highly competitive tendering process in the latter part of 2018. The
project involves providing an advanced warehouse solution with
automated material handling equipment to support the daily high
warehouse traffic throughput requirement of a leading retail chain in
Hong Kong. The project aims at improving the warehouse operation
efficiency and addressing various warehouse labour issues that our retail
chain customer has been facing. Our sophisticated WMS will play a vital
role in the overall project, serving as the mastermind in planning,
guiding and controlling operation of the different automated material
handling equipment provided by our partners and in conjunction with
manual operations on the warehouse floor to meet the high service level
requirement of the customer. We are exceedingly pleased to be awarded
the mega project which signifies our customer’s recognition of our
capability in providing advanced supply chain solution for modern
warehouse operations supported by automated material handling
equipment. The project will add to the list of success stories in
deploying our supply chain solutions for renowned customers. Another
interesting WMS project secured in 2018 which was also worth
mentioning was for one of our GETS customers involving in the cigar
and tobacco business serving the China and global markets. Using our
Dutiable Commodities Permit (“DCP”) solution to submit DCP
applications to the Customs & Excise Department (“C&ED") for the
movement of its dutiable goods, this customer has engaged us to
provide a total solution for management of their dutiable goods
movement and inventory control of the duty paid goods in their
warehouse after their receipt of the relevant DCPs from the C&ED.
Through the integration of our DCP solution to their back end system,
our WMS allows our customer to manage movement of their goods in
and out the warehouse legitimately. This is our first customer case of this
nature and given our leading position in the DCP market, we would
explore opportunities to offer similar solution to our other DCP
customers.
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Business Review (Continued)

E-Commerce Business Review (Continued)

Looking ahead in 2019, the key challenge to the GETS business will no
doubt still be the US and China trade tensions creating an uncertain
trade environment and affecting Hong Kong's external trading activities.
Barring this global economic issue causing the overall market to shrink,
we believes the GETS business would otherwise be rather steady or
might even improve given a stable competitive environment and new
price ceilings chargeable under the new GETS licence starting 2019. Yet
the most crucial factor that could adversely affect the GETS business in
2019 is the extent of the hit of the global economy on Hong Kong's
external trade.

Regarding the Government’'s SW, according to the latest policy direction
published, the Government will press ahead with development of the SW
for rolling out in phases as soon as practicable without further
specifying a definitive timeframe. Phase 1 of the SW originally planned
to rollout in mid-2018 to cover voluntary submission of some 13
documents was launched just before the end of 2018 covering initially 5
documents out of the 13 originally planned. We will keep a close watch
on the progress of the Phase 1 implementation as a free pilot service
and the subsequent development of Phases 2 and 3 which will involve
not only work on the technical system but also complex issues relating
to legislative changes and SW pricing. Until the Government comes up
with a concrete plan on the future operating environment under SW for
Value-Adding Service Providers, which we would potentially become
upon expiry of the current GETS licence by 2024 or up to 2027, we
would remain vigilant. And, as always, we would continue to strive to
strengthen our leadership in the GETS market and enhance the stickiness
with our GETS clients by offering them more non-GETS related solutions
that improve their business operations/efficiency.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Business Review (Continued)

E-Commerce Business Review (Continued)

As for Commercial Services business, its outlook in 2019 is more
optimistic given the solid sales pipeline we have on hand for our
matured products, in particular WMS. With our flexible and versatile
design philosophy, our WMS can be used as building blocks in
developing solutions for diverse applications from managing warehouse
for supporting Business-to-Business/Business-to-Consumer operations,
various degree of warehouse automation and equipment handling tools
to inventory control and physical assets management. In addition, we
also have in-progress projects from 2018, for which development and
implementation will continue in 2019. One of them is the mega
automated warehousing project. Also apart from new customer cases
which we are working on, we are glad to receive new orders from
existing customers for extending scope of solutions deployed, replicating
similar solutions for their overseas operations and/or new solutions.
Deployment of WMS for customers is often the starting point as once
WMS, which serves as the control centre of operations along the entire
supply chain, is deployed, customers often will have demand for other
applications for managing associated operations. Regarding the impact of
the continuing trade conflict between China and the US on Commercial
Services business, we have yet to notice any sign of slowing down of
our business at least so far in early 2019. An unfavourable operating
environment would negatively impact the business of supply chain
customers, however, they would still want to look for ways and means
to enhance their business operation, reduce costs and/or open other
markets including investing in solutions which we could offer to them.

To keep up with the technological trend, we will continue our research
and development work, in particular in relation to applying Artificial
Intelligence and IoT on our solutions to enhance their functions and
features to meet changing market/customer demand. To do that, apart
from using our own resources, we will also try to seek relevant IT
support funding from the Government. One such project for which
Government funding is being sought involves research and development
of a solution that can give flexibility to warehouse operators in
implementing automated warehouse solutions for addressing warehouse
labour issues including labour shortage and cost. The deliverable of this
R&D project is expected to help promote the adoption of warehouse
automation and potentially present more business opportunities for us.

All factors considered, unless the global economy clashes and the GETS
market is catastrophically hit, we are cautiously optimistic about our
combined E-Commerce business in 2019, given the strong business
momentum Commercial Services has gathered.

Last but not least, we have decided to rename Commercial Services
business as Supply Chain Solutions business starting in 2019. The new
name reflects more clearly that the supply chain community is the target
market of the business.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Business Review (Continued)

Identity Management (“IDM"”) Business Review

Continuing the favorable performance in the first half of the year, our
IDM business for 2018 recorded a strong growth of 42.9% in terms of
revenue year-on-year, from HK$40.1 million in 2017 to HK$57.3 million
in 2018. The top line increase of the business segment is extremely
encouraging, priding a compound annual growth of about 39.0% for
two years since 2016 when the revenue recorded then was a little less
than HK$30.0 million. Indeed, the business has seen a faster year-on-
year revenue growth, 42.9% in 2018 relative to 2017 and that in 2017
relative to 2016 was 35.0%. Profit made by the business segment also
surged from HK$5.8 million in 2017 to HK$7.6 million in 2018, up
almost 29.9%.

As foreshadowed in the 2018 Interim Report, development of several
major projects with work commenced in the first half year was
completed in the second half year. Those major undertakings included a
biometric project for a banking subsidiary of a major Taiwanese financial
institution, two biometric/two-factor authentication (“2FA") solutions for
two local banks, an eKYC project similar to the one delivered in first half
of 2018 for another major international bank. During the reporting
period, we have also delivered further enhancement of the eKYC/
biometric solution in phases required by our major bank customer to
support extended scope of applications of the solution we deployed for
the customer a year ago. Benefiting from the growing demand for
online transactions and paperless solutions, our secure 2FA biometric
solutions used prevalently in the banking industry have started
penetrating into a variety of industries. Apart from a Public Key
Infrastructure solution for digital signing implemented for a private
hospital in the first half of 2018, a biometric solution was delivered to a
non-profit making organisation with entertainment as one of its core
businesses and a biometric authentication solution was deployed for a
regulatory body. Also, as mentioned in our 2018 Interim Report, the 2FA
biometric cloud-based service was launched in April 2018 for securities
companies to authenticate the identity of end-users of their online
services. Several securities companies have subscribed for the service
since, generating steady recurring revenues for our business.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Business Review (Continued)

Identity Management (“IDM") Business Review (Continued)
As for the security token delivery business, it was on a decline as
expected and explained in the 2018 Interim Report. The major bank
customer, who has been using our security token delivery service for
some years, has since beginning of 2018 asked us to start gradually
issuing soft tokens to their end clients to replace hard tokens. As such,
while the revenue from token delivery dropped alongside the smaller
quantity delivered, revenue from soft tokens was on the rise.
Nevertheless, such shift has a slight net effect on the segment’s revenue
and profit, given the different margins of the two businesses.

With online security a growing concern, demand for online security
solutions to plug potential loopholes for cyber-attacks in an ever
developing and advancing technological environment has also been
rising, and as such the market of IDM business is also growing. With our
sound domain knowledge, knowhow in meeting regulatory requirements
and through relentless research and development effort, we have
enhanced our 2FA biometric authentication solution to cover a wider
scope of banking applications from user identification for login and
online transaction authorization to KYC for account opening and digital
onboarding. The solutions available now are more versatile that, on top
of being used by our traditional customers in the banking and financial
they can serve a wide range of industries and different
it is clear that there are lots of

industry,
background customers. As such,
opportunities to explore, cultivate and grasp by the secure
authentication solutions business. Furthermore, driven by market demand
and with potential customers expressing interest, we are working on
adding to the suite of IDM solutions a new product applicable in a
totally different space. We are excited about the progress made so far.

Turning back to the banking and financial industry, the authority plans
to issue licences for virtual banks in early 2019, which is going to
translate into demand for our secure authentication solutions. Thus, we
are seizing this opportunity to offer our eKYC/digital onboarding
solutions to virtual bank operators. In fact, since the latter half of 2018,
a number of potential virtual bank operators have expressed interest in
our solutions. These opportunities are actively being pursued and indeed
we already have on hand several hot leads which we hope we could
confirm their deals as soon as they could secure their licence from the
Government.
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Business Review (Continued)

Identity Management (“IDM"”) Business Review (Continued)
To continuously enhance our services and products, research and
development work is being carried out on incorporating Artificial
Intelligence in the biometric authentication solutions to further enhance
their accuracy and effectiveness. Also, with the second generation Smart
Hong Kong Identity (“HKID"”) Cards being rolled out in the market, we
are actively working to enhance our IDM solutions to support the new
Smart HKID Cards embedded with more advanced and sophisticated
security features.

Given the solid foundation and healthy sales pipeline of the IDM
business, and the growing demand in the market, the business has a
promising outlook in 2019. The only question for it is whether it is able
to continue to build on and add to the strong growth momentum it has
gathered in the last two years. And, its answer is it is up for the
challenge and will strive to achieve this goal.

Other Services Business Review

Since re-grouping of our business segments in 2018, Other Services now
comprises GETS-related services plus two incubation-stage initiatives,
namely the Smart PoS business and the new community logistics
platform soft-launched in the first half year. The GETS-related services
previously referred to as Other Services included primarily our Road
Cargo Services (“ROCARS"), the call centre services offered to Customs
and Excise Department’s ROCARS, and the paper-to-electronic conversion
services for our GETS paper users. Revenue from GETS-related services in
2018 was HK$18.9 million, slightly down by about 0.9% compared to
HK$19.0 million in 2017. Nevertheless, with revenue amounting to
HK$3.5 million from Smart PoS business, Other Services business
recorded a 20.2% growth in revenue from HK$19.0 million in 2017 to
HK$22.9 million in 2018. Profit of the segment in 2018 was HK$14.8
million, up 29.1% compared to the HK$11.4 million profit in 2017. The
improvement in the margin of Other Services business was primarily
owed to our control on operating costs for GETS-related services.

With GETS affected by the deteriorating market sentiment in the second
half of 2018, GETS-related business also dropped slightly in the latter
part of the year. This explained the small drop in total revenue of the
sub-segment which would otherwise be rather stable in 2018. Looking
ahead at 2019, due to the loss of one of our partners providing paper
collection services to our competitor starting January 2019, we expect
revenue from our paper-to-electronic conversion services for our GETS
paper users would drop. Before ending the contract with the said
partner, we had made all relevant preparation and actions to minimise
the impact, including setting up new outlets through other partners.
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Business Review (Continued)

Other Services Business Review (Continued)

As for Smart PoS business, after some years of cultivation and
incubation, the business started to slowly and gradually kick off in 2018
bringing in a modest revenue in the reporting period. As mentioned in
the 2018 Interim Report, through our first bank customer who is a
major local bank, we have been deploying our Android-based Smart PoS
payment terminals which they market as an all-in-one payment collection
solution to their merchants. With the repeated orders from the bank
during the year, more than 1,000 Smart PoS terminals had been
installed in outlets of different merchants in the retail sector, including
food and beverages, fashion, electrical appliances, watches & jewellery,
telecommunications, petrol stations and taxi service. Given this bank
customer’s plan to expand the deployment of such all-in-one payment
collection solution to more merchants in 2019, we are working on our
proposal to discuss with them when appropriate to fulfil their upcoming
requirement.

Apart from this major local bank customer, another order for the
Android-based Smart PoS was secured before end of 2018 from a bank
in Hong Kong whose parent is major commercial bank in China. The
bank would like to first conduct a pilot with its merchants using the
solution, hence its first order was small. We are confident that, when the
pilot is completed confirming smooth operation of the solution, more
orders will come from this new bank customer. We will build on the
success stories from these two major banks to promote our solution to
other banks. At the same time, we have been working with channel
partners, who are mainly in payment gateway business, to sell the
solution. Also worth mentioning is that through one of the partners, a
new business model was confirmed with a merchant, whereby we will
receive a small share of the Smart PoS terminal transaction revenue
collected by the merchant. Pilot use of the solution by the merchant
under this new business model had started just before the end of 2018.
The plan is, after the pilot is completed, full production of the solution
will begin in 2019 for other outlets of this merchant. We are excited
about this new business model that allows us to generate ongoing
revenue tied to the business of our merchant customers. We will look
for opportunities to replicate this business model with other merchants
through working with our partners.
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Business Review (Continued)

Other Services Business Review (Continued)

Regarding the community logistics platform VSHIP, which had its soft-
launch in the second quarter of 2018, we have been working on two
related fronts. The first one was on promoting the bid-and-offer service
currently available on the platform to secure user registration from
shippers and forwarders/carriers as service providers. At the same time
we have been working on the enhancement of the features and
improvement of the user interface of the platform from feedback
received from our pilot users. With the initial hiccups all ironed out, the
platform has been operating smoothly with user registration ramping up
and activities on the platform in terms of Request for Quote (“RFQ") and
Offers submitted by shippers/service providers seeing a healthy climb. As
mentioned in the 2018 Interim Report, the service is currently offered
free of charge to all users and that will continue for some time like
most platform businesses. However, being extremely careful with the
burn rate of its services, we will focus on developing more value-added
services on the platform for customers to create/enhance their stickiness
to the platform. By doing so we believe it will enable users to
appreciate the value of the platform and be encouraged to pay for
usage. A development roadmap has already been drawn up for new
services/features to continue to be added on the VSHIP platform.

Taking into account the risks and opportunities of the GETS-related
services, the Smart PoS business and VSHIP as explained, the outlook of
Other Services business in 2019 is expected to at best maintain stable.
We hope any drop of the GETS-related business, which is not expected
to be significant, would be compensated by the moderate growth of the
Smart PoS business in 2019.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Business Review (Continued)

Investment in PRC Associate Review

Since fuIIy written off of our investment in _F /& [ 3 {H & 8 5 17 82 1% &
ERAF (“U-Link”) in 2016, the performance of our PRC associate now
refers onIy to Nanfang as our major associate in China. The performance
of Nanfang in 2018 was unfavorable, hence our share of gain from it at
HK$1.5 million was down 36.2% compared to HK$2.4 million in 2017.
That said, relative to the results for the first half of 2018 with the share
of gain amounting to HK$0.4 million only, the business of Nanfang had
caught up markedly in the second half of 2018. As explained in the
2018 Interim Report, Nanfang's business has been facing some
difficulties due to the implementation of the nationwide single window
in China earlier than expected. In fact, since the mandate was issued by
the authority in September 2018, Nanfang could no longer collect
revenue from users of its core river manifest declaration service.
However, aware of the impending new single window arrangement,
Nanfang started a year or so prior to cultivate relations with the PRC
Customs and ports authority at the state and provincial level in
Guangdong to build ahead a good foundation for it to bid for
government system integration and software/platform development
projects. Its efforts have so far proven successful, winning for it several
major government contracts. With income from these government
projects, it managed to maintain a satisfactory turnover in 2018, yet
since the margins of these projects were lower than that of its river
manifest declaration service, its profit for 2018 still dropped a bit.

With solid groundwork done and relations built with relevant
government authorities and given that its largest shareholder is a state-
owned enterprise with a strong background and state-level connections,
Nanfang is expected to have a good chance to turnaround its business
without relying on its core river manifest declaration business. On that
basis, barring any adverse change of the operating environment due to
new/change of government policies, we are cautiously optimistic about
the future outlook of Nanfang's business.
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Financial Review

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December 2018 grew by
12.4% or HK$30.1 million to HK$271.9 million compared to the
previous financial year. The increase was as a result of the higher
revenue generated across the business segments.
E-Commerce, came from GETS and the Commercial Services, was
HK$191.7 million in 2018, up by HK$9.0 million year-on-year. Revenue
from the core GETS business was relatively steady as compared to year

Revenue of

2017. Revenue from Commercial Services increased with more supply
chain solutions delivered to customers during 2018, such as, the
completion of WMS projects for a local subsidiary of a major non-
commodity marketing and distribution services company based in the
United States and a major organization in Macau, as well as the delivery
of the WMS license to a major client for a mega project. Revenue of
IDM segment in 2018 rose by 42.9% or HK$17.2 million to HK$57.3
million. With the strong demand for secured onboarding solutions and
applications from the banking and non-banking sectors, our security
solutions were well received in the market. Revenue generated from
biometric authentication solutions and eKYC solutions in 2018 increased
by about two folds year-on-year. Revenue was also recorded from the
delivery of a Public Key Infrastructure solution using digital certificates
for a private hospital, and the ongoing support for the Hong Kong
Police Smart Warrant Card System project during 2018. On the other
hand, revenue from the delivery of security tokens for a major banking
client dropped in 2018 with the units of tokens reduced from 299,000
in 2017 to 166,000 in 2018, which was expected given the trend in
replacing hard tokens by soft tokens. The revenue of Other Services in
2018 increased by HK$3.8 million to HK$22.9 million, mainly due to the
steady revenue from the GETS-related services and the
generated from Smart PoS business in 2018.

revenue

The Group’s operating expenses before depreciation in 2018 were
HK$175.8 million, an increase of 10.1% or HK$16.1 million from
HK$159.7 million in 2017. Staff costs increased from HK$105.6 million
to HK$114.1 million, up by 8.1% or HK$8.5 million as compared to the
last financial year. The increase in staff costs was in line with the market
inflation so as to retain experienced IT staff in particular. Additional
headcounts were recruited during 2018 with more resources required for
project delivery. The amount of cost of purchases rose by HK$6.0 million
to HK$29.3 million in 2018. This was mainly due to the increase in the
project costs relating to the IDM and the Other Services businesses. The
other operating costs at HK$32.4 million incurred in 2018 were 5.0% or
HK$1.5 million higher than that of the last financial year. Depreciation
charges in 2018 amounted to HK$6.9 million, were HK$0.6 million
higher than last year.

The Group’s profit from operations for the year of 2018 was HK$104.8
million, an increase of HK$10.6 million or 11.3% as compared to 2017.
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Financial Review (Continued)

The impairment loss of other financial assets in 2018 was HK$0.2
million, represented the net increase in the estimation of the expected
credit losses on the Group's other financial assets held during the year.
During the first half of 2018, the Group disposed of the remaining half
of an impaired corporate bond in our bond portfolio with the relevant
impairment loss had already been reflected in 2017.

The share of results in 2018 from PRC associates was a profit of HK$1.5
million, as compared to the share of profit amounted to HK$2.4 million
in 2017. Nanfang's results were affected by the implementation of the
national single window in the Guangdong area, which stopped it from
generating revenue from the traditional river manifest declaration service
during the latter part of 2018.

The Group's pre-tax profit for 2018 came to HK$106.2 million, higher
than 2017 by HK$17.8 million. Net profit for the year was HK$89.8
million, increased by 21.1% as compared to 2017.

Basic earnings per share for 2018 were HK 11.3 cents, higher than that
for 2017 at HK 9.3 cents by HK 2.0 cents. Diluted earnings per share
for 2018 were also HK 11.3 cents, higher than that for 2017 at HK 9.3
cents by HK 2.0 cents.

Dividend

The Board has recommended a final dividend of HK 6.0 cents per share
for 2018 (2017: HK 6.3 cents per share). The proposed final dividend,
which together with the interim dividend of HK 3.5 cents per share
(2017: HK 3.2 cents per share) paid on 9 October 2018, will result in a
total dividend of HK 9.5 cents for 2018, same as the total dividend for
2017. The total amount of interim and proposed final dividend for 2018
represents a payment of 84.1% of the Group's profit attributable to
shareholders for 2018.

The dividend payout ratio of 84.1% of the Group’s profit for the 2018
does not represent a departure from the Group’s usual practice of a
100% pay-out. The HK 6.0 cents per share final dividend in fact
represents nearly 100% of the Company’s distributable profit in 2018.
The difference reflects the gap between profit attributable to
shareholders and profit distributable to shareholders. The gap arises
because the negative fair value reserve balance at 31 December 2018 is
regarded as a realized loss and has to be deducted from profit
attributable to shareholders in the context of the Hong Kong's
Companies Ordinance for profit distribution. Therefore, the HK 6.0 cents
per share final dividend in fact represents nearly 100% of the
Company's distributable profit in 2018.
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Dividend (Continued)

The proposed final dividend will be submitted to shareholders for
approval at the annual general meeting on 10 May 2019. If approved,
the final dividend will be paid to shareholders whose names appear on
the register of members of the Company on 16 May 2019, on or about
29 May 2019.

The Board reminds shareholders that the Company’s dividend policy
enunciated at the time of our IPO in 2005 is that it will pay no less
than 60% of its distributable profit as dividend. The fact that the
Company has paid out all of its attributable profit in the past and over
84% of its profit this year does not mean that the policy has changed.

Liquidity and Financial Position

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had total cash and bank deposits
of HK$86.5 million (2017: HK$84.1 million).

The other financial assets as at 31 December 2018 in the non-current
and current assets amounted to HK$305.5 million (2017: HK$367.2
million) and HK$42.2 million (2017: Nil) respectively, represented the fair
value of the fixed income USD-denominated corporate bonds with no
more than US$3 million nominal value each invested in any single issuer
with maturity dates less than five years. As at 31 December 2018, the
weighted average of the portfolio coupon and yield were about 3.9%
(2017: 4.0%) and 3.7% (2017: 3.8%) respectively. As at 31 December
2018, 71% (2017: 74%) of the total amount was invested in investment
grade corporate bonds. The remaining 29% (2017: 26%) was invested in
non-investment grade or non-rated corporate bonds. All corporate bonds
held as at 31 December 2018 were tradable in open market.

To balance risk and returns, all investments in corporate bonds were
made in accordance with the investment guidelines which had been
approved by the Investment Committee comprising three Independent
Non-executive Directors and one Non-executive Director of the Company.
Before any opportunities were identified to acquire new businesses, the
cash surplus were parked in corporate bonds as part of our treasury
operations to improve the yield of the Group's cash surpluses.

Total assets and net assets of the Group as at 31 December 2018

amounted to HK$552.6 million (2017: HK$561.9 million) and HK$350.8
million (2017: HK$354.4 million) respectively.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had no borrowings (2017: Nil).
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Capital and Reserves

As at 31 December 2018, the capital and reserves attributable to
shareholders was HK$350.8 million (2017: HK$354.4 million), a decrease
of HK$3.6 million from the end of 2017.

Charges on Assets and Contingent
Liabilities

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has obtained three bank
guarantees totaling HK$4.2 million (2017: two bank guarantees of
HK$2.2 million) issued to the Government for the due performance by
the Group pursuant to the terms of the contracts with the Government.
The bank guarantees are secured by a charge over deposits totaling
HK$4.2 million (2017: HK$2.2 million).

Other than the foregoing, the Group did not have any other charges on
its assets.

Capital Commitments

Capital commitments outstanding as at 31 December 2018 not provided
for in the financial statements amounted to HK$1.5 million (2017: Nil),
mainly in respect of the purchase of hardware and software for the
Group.

Employees and Remuneration Policy

As at 31 December 2018, the Group employed 268 staff (2017: 261), of
which 230 are in Hong Kong and 38 in Guangzhou. The related staff
costs for the year came to HK$114.1 million (2017: HK$105.6 million).

The Group’s remuneration policy is that all employees are rewarded on
the basis of market levels. In addition to salaries, the Group provides
staff benefits including medical insurance and contribution to staff's
mandatory provident fund. To motivate and reward staff, the Group has
various commission, incentive and bonus schemes to drive performance
and growth.

The Company operates a share option scheme to reward the
performance of staff at senior vice president grade and above.
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Exposure to Fluctuation
Rates and Related Hedges

in Exchange

As at 31 December 2018, other than its investments in the PRC and
Macau incorporated entities and debt securities denominated in US
dollars, the Group had no foreign exchange exposure and related
hedges.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s accounting policies and
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2018. It also had independent discussions with the internal auditor and
the external auditor, KPMG, without the presence of the management
team.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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Directors

Chairman and Non-executive Director

Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S., J.P., aged 76, was appointed a Director
on 19 September 2000. He is also our Chairman. He holds a Bachelor’s
degree in Electrical Engineering from the Imperial College, London, the
United Kingdom and a Doctorate from Brown University, the United
States. He joined Textile Alliance Limited in Hong Kong in 1973 and in
1983, was appointed Managing Director (title changed to Chief
Executive since 2010) of TAL Apparel Limited (“TAL"), which currently
employs over 25,000 employees. Dr. LEE is now the Chairman of TAL.
He was a Director of The Link Management Limited (now known as
“Link Asset Management Limited”) and of Phillips-Van Heusen
Corporation. He has over 40 years' experience in the textile and garment
industry. He is actively involved in a number of trade organizations in
Hong Kong. He was the Chairman of the Innovation & Technology Fund
(“Textiles Projects”) Vetting Committee, council member of The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University and is currently the Honorary Chairman of
the Hong Kong Garment Manufacturer’s Association, Honorary Chairman
of Textile Council of Hong Kong Ltd, board member of Global Apparel,
Footwear & Textile Initiative, Advisor, Chairman Emeritus of Hong Kong
Research Institute of Textiles & Apparel Ltd and the Chairman of the
Committee of Overseers of Lee Woo Sing College of the Chinese
University of Hong Kong. He was named in the Queen’s birthday
honours list as an Officer of the British Empire (“OBE"”) in 1996. He was
appointed a Justice of Peace (“J.P.”) in 1997 and was awarded the
Silver Bauhinia Star (“S.B.S.”) at the Fourth Anniversary of the
Establishment of the HKSAR in 2001.

Executive Directors

Mr. TSE Kam Keung, aged 59, was first appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company in March 2013 and subsequently
took over the CEO position in July 2015.

Before joining the Company, Mr. TSE had worked mostly in the financial
industry covering the Asia Pacific region. He began at State Street in
1993 to develop and lead its investment servicing business in the region
and completed his career there as an advisor till early 2015. Before State
Street, he had worked for Standard Chartered, Ogilvy & Mather, Baring
Securities and the Hong Kong Government.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
EELRRERABR B

Directors (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. TSE has served on many committees and boards. He is currently on
the Process Review Panel of the Financial Reporting Council, the Hang
Seng Index Advisory Committee, and the Investment Committee of Hopu
Fund. He also serves as Chairman of the Pan Asian e-Commerce
Alliance, Hon. Treasurer of the New Life Psychiatric Rehabilitation, Board
member of the Global Legal Entity Identifier Foundation, and Overseer of
Lee Woo Sing College of the Chinese University of Hong Kong.

Mr. TSE received the CW Chu Scholarship to study in the US and
obtained his BA from Lawrence University. He got his MBA from the
Chinese University of Hong Kong and also got the Government's
sponsorship to obtain his MPA from the University of Hong Kong.

Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew, aged 49, was appointed a Director
and acting DCEO of the Company on 15 November 2011. He was the
DCEO of the Company and re-designated to be the Chief Technology
Officer of the Company on 1 January 2017. He is also a Director of the
Company’s various subsidiaries and associates. Mr. CHENG holds a
Master of Commerce degree in Information Systems from the University
of New South Wales, a Master of Engineering degree from the
University of Sydney, a Bachelor of Engineering degree with Honours in
Electrical Engineering from the University of Sydney and a Bachelor of
Science degree from the University of Sydney. Mr. CHENG has over 23
years' experience in IT-related business, covering internet security,
domestic and international supply chain, logistics and finance. He was a
specialist in the consultancy on the setting up of a Public Key
Infrastructure by the Hong Kong Government and is currently a member
of the Advisory Committee on the Code of Practice for Recognized
Certification Authorities of the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region, a member of the Expert Review Panel of Hong
Kong R&D Centre for Logistics and Supply Chain Management Enabling
Technologies and a member of the Fintech Advisory Group of the
Securities and Futures Commission.

Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily, aged 62, was appointed a Director on
2 September 2008. She joined the Company in 1992. She is currently
the Chief Operations Officer of the Company and is also a Director of
the Company’s various subsidiaries and associates. Ms. CHUNG
graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor of Science
degree and a Master of Science degree in Engineering. Prior to joining
the Company, Ms. CHUNG worked in the then Government of Hong
Kong for over 11 years providing management consultancy services to
government bureaux and departments. Since joining the Company in
1992, she has gained over 26 years of solid and diversified experience in
the management of various aspects of e-commerce business in both the
public and private sectors.
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Directors (Continued)

Non-executive Directors

Dr. LEE Delman, aged 51, was appointed a Director of the Company on
29 October 2012. Dr. LEE Delman holds a doctorate from the University
of Oxford and a Bachelor’s degree in Electrical & Electronics Engineering
from the Imperial College, London. He is the President and Chief
Technology Officer for TAL Apparel Limited (“TAL"). He is responsible
for driving TAL's long-term strategy in operations, technology and value-
added services to customers. He looks after information technology and
supply chain projects — from IT infrastructure to logistics management
throughout the entire organization. He is the architect behind TAL's
current enterprise resource planning (ERP) system. He is also responsible
for global operations initiatives such as standardization of work methods,
cultivation of a continuous improvement organization and corporate
social responsibility.

Dr. LEE Delman joined TAL in 2000. He was appointed a member of the
TAL Group’s Executive Committee in 2006 and became President and
Chief Technology Officer in 2010. He has a strong background in
research. Prior to joining TAL, he was a researcher at UK based Sharp
Laboratories of Europe for three years. There, he was responsible for the
commercial application of modern computer vision techniques to stereo
photography and stereoscopic displays. He has worked as a research
fellow at University of Pennsylvania in the US and University of Leeds in
the UK in various aspects of imaging.

Dr. LEE Delman has been appointed as an independent non-executive
director and a member of the Risk Committee commencing from 21
March 2017, a member of the Nomination Committee and member of
the Audit Committee commencing from 1 December 2017 of The Bank
of East Asia, Limited (listed on main board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited). He joined the board of Dairy Farm International
Holdings Ltd (a standard listing on the London Stock Exchange as its
primary listing, with secondary listings in Bermuda and Singapore) on 9
May 2018.
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
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Directors and Senior Management (Continued)
EELRRERABR B

Directors (Continued)

Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. YING Tze Man, Kenneth, aged 63, was appointed a Director on 26
June 2012. He was a Director of the Company during the period from
16 September 1996 to 9 May 2008. Mr. YING retired from COSCO-HIT
Terminals (Hong Kong) Limited (“CHT") as the Managing Director, Asia
Container Terminals Limited as the Executive Director and the Hutchison
Port Holdings Trust (a trust listed on the Singapore Exchange) as an
EXCO member on 30 April 2016. Mr. YING has over 31 years’
experience in the finance and logistic sector. Prior to joining CHT, he
had held various executive positions at Hutchison Port Holdings Limited
("HPH"). He was the Executive Director of Hongkong International
Terminals Limited and the Finance Director of South China Division of
HPH. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and also a fellow member of the Chartered Association of
Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom. He was a member of the
Port Development Advisory Group of the HKSAR.

Mr. YUEN Wing Sang, Vincent, aged 51, has 24 years of experience in
the maritime industry. He started his career in Hongkong International
Terminals Limited where he held a number of business development,
commercial and management positions. Since 2012, Mr. YUEN has been
a member of the Hutchison Port Holdings Trust (“HPH Trust”) Exco, a
committee of executives that determines the strategy for HPH Trust. HPH
Trust is the world’s first publicly traded container port business trust
listed on the Main Board of the Singapore Exchange. As the Managing
Director of Port Services and Logistics Division of HPHT Limited, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of HPH Trust, Mr. YUEN leads both Hutchison
Logistics (HK) and Asia Port Services. Integrating services from container
depot, warehousing and distribution to freight handling, trucking and
feeder service, to provide seamless total supply chain solution across sea,
air and land networks. Mr. YUEN has a Bachelor of Science in Geology
and Geophysics from the University of Hawaii at Manoa and holds a
Master of Science in Environmental Engineering from the Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology. He is a chartered fellow of the
Chartered Institute of Logistics and Transport in Hong Kong.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. CHAK Hubert, aged 57, was appointed a Director on 21 October
2002. He retired from Link Asset Management Limited (“Link”), the
manager of Link Real Estate Investment Trust, as Director (Finance) in
August 2018. He joined Link in 2010 and was responsible for the
finance and capital markets functions. Mr. CHAK was an executive
director of CSI Properties Limited between 2007 and 2010. He also held
various senior management positions at PCCW Limited between 1999
and 2007 and was an executive director of Pacific Century Premium
Developments Limited until February 2007.
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Directors (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. CHAK began his career with KPMG in Hong Kong and worked as an
investment banker between 1990 and 1999. He holds a Master of
Business Administration Degree and a Bachelor of Science degree in
Mechanical Engineering from University of Wales (now known as Cardiff
University).

Mr. CHAU Tak Hay, aged 76, was appointed a Director of the Company
on 1 September 2009. He was the non-executive Chairman of the board
of directors of the Company from 1998 to 2002. Mr. CHAU graduated
from The University of Hong Kong in 1967. He served in the Hong Kong
Government from 1967 to 2002. Between 1988 and 2002, Mr. CHAU
served in a number of principal official positions in the Government,
including Secretary for Trade and Industry, Secretary for Commerce and
Industry, Secretary for Broadcasting, Culture and Sport, and Secretary for
Health and Welfare. Following his departure from the Government, Mr.
CHAU has been an independent non-executive director of the Hong
Kong Main Board listed SIM Holdings Limited since 2008; and Wheelock
& Company Limited since 2012. Mr. CHAU was awarded the Gold
Bauhinia Star by the Hong Kong Government in 2002.

Ms. CHAN Chi Yan, aged 57, was appointed a Director of the Company
on 9 February 2015. She has over 30 years of experience in financial
management and planning. Ms. CHAN joined The Dairy Farm Company,
Limited on 16 April 2016 as North Asia Food Finance Director and left
her job as Project Lead — China Expansion (Convenience) on 17
October 2018. The Dairy Farm Company, Limited is a member of Dairy
Farm International Holdings Limited which has a standard listing on the
London Stock Exchange as its primary listing, with secondary listings in
Bermuda and Singapore. Before joining the Dairy Farm Group, Ms. CHAN
was CFO, China Beverage and Senior Region Financial Planning &
Analysis Director, China Region of PepsiCo Inc. in Shanghai. During her
employment with PepsiCo Inc., she had also worked in Guangzhou,
Shenzhen and Hong Kong. PepsiCo Inc. is listed on The New York Stock
Exchange. Prior to joining PepsiCo Inc., Ms. CHAN had worked in Hong
Kong for ExxonMobil Chemical and Nestlé S.A. (listed on SIX Swiss
Exchange). Ms. CHAN graduated from University of Western Ontario,
Canada in 1983 with a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economic and
Administrative & Financial Studies and obtained a Master of Business
Administration in Marketing from the Chinese University of Hong Kong
in 1985.
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Directors (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy, aged 69, was appointed a Director on
11 May 2007. He has over 24 years of experience in financial advisory,
taxation and management. He was a partner of PricewaterhouseCoopers
and retired in June 2005. In October 2005, he joined a professional
consulting firm, Russell Bedford Hong Kong Limited (now known as
Russell Bedford Hong Kong), as Director-Tax & Business Advisory. Mr.
CHUNG is a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, the Taxation Institution of Hong Kong and the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants (“ACCA"). He was the President of
the Hong Kong branch of ACCA for the year 2005/06. He is currently
also an Independent Non-executive Director and Chairman of the Audit
Committee of Lee Kee Holdings Limited (listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited).

Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, J.P., aged 58, was appointed a Director on 13
May 2005. He holds a Bachelor's degree from The University of Hong
Kong. Mr. HO is the Executive Director of the Hong Kong Shippers’
Council. He has over 24 years’ experience in the Shipping and Logistics
industry. As he now shapes the thrust of the Shippers’ Council mandate
as the voice of the Hong Kong shippers, he has considerable experience
in aspects of trade and transport of goods. Prior to the Shippers’
Council, he was Deputy Managing Director of Swire Shipping (Agencies)
Limited and Taikoo Maritime Services Ltd, gaining experience in liner
shipping, warehousing and distribution, freight forwarding, container
haulage, mid-stream operations, China feeders, transport and logistics
services. Mr. HO is a member of the Logistics Industry Training Advisory
Committee, the Town Planning Board, and the Private Columbaria
Appeal Board. He is also a member of the Transport & Shipping
Committee of the Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce and
Logistics Services Advisory Committee of the Hong Kong Trade
Development Council. He was appointed a member of the Hong Kong
Logistics Development Council, the Port Operations Committee and the
Dangerous Goods Standing Committee for several years and Chairman of
the Hong Kong Liner Shipping Association for 1993-1995. He is the
current Chairman of Hong Kong Logistics Management Staff Association,
Fellow and Council Member of the Chartered Institute of Logistics &
Transport in Hong Kong, Advisor to the China Council for the Promotion
of International Trade of International Trade Guangzhou Sub-Council,
and the Shenzhen Ports & Harbour Association. Mr. HO has been
elected as a member of the Election Committee for the Chief Executive
in 2011 and 2016.
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Senior Management

Mr. TSE Kam Keung — Chief Executive Officer
Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew — Chief Technology Officer
Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily — Chief Operations Officer
Ms. CHU Pik Kwan, Peggie — Chief Financial Officer

Mr. TSE, Mr. CHENG and Ms. CHUNG are also directors of the
Company. Their biographical details have already been set out above
under the sub-heading “Directors”.

The biographical details of Ms. CHU are set out as follows:

Ms. CHU Pik Kwan, Peggie, aged 43, is currently the Chief Financial
Officer of the Company which she joined in 2004. Prior to that, Ms.
CHU worked in KPMG for audit services. She holds a Bachelor’s degree
in Professional Accountancy and a Master of Business Administration
degree from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. Ms. CHU is a
member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. She has
over 15 years of experience in accounting, auditing and financial
management.
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KERREE

Compliance with Corporate Governance
Code (the “"CG Code"”)

The Company is committed to a high standard of corporate
governance and the Board believes that good corporate
governance is fundamental to effective and proper management
of the Company in the interests of its stakeholders. It has made
every effort to ensure full compliance with the code provisions in
the CG Code contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”). The Company confirms that it has
complied with all code provisions during the year ended 31
December 2018.

Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules to govern its Directors’ dealings in the
Company’s securities. Having made specific enquiry, all Directors
have confirmed compliance with the required standards during
2018.

Risk Management & Internal Controls

The Group is committed to the continuous enhancement of its
risk management framework, capabilities and culture across the
Group to strengthen its ability in achieving its business objectives.
Appropriate risk management activities are embedded into the
business planning, project management, contract management,
business operations and organizational procedures. The Group is
willing to take reasonable and manageable risks in pursuit of its
strategic business objectives. The reasonableness and manageability
vary from business segment to business segment.
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(3) Risk Management & Internal Controls

(Continued)

Once risks, including those which are Environmental, Social and
Governance-related, have been identified, recorded, analysed, and
the agreed treatments have been implemented, an appropriate
monitoring and reporting regime will be established to provide
assurance that the treatment is effective and helps to control the
risk. Appropriate risk treatments are embedded into daily
operations. The risk will be continuously monitored depending on
the subsequent risk rating and the strength of controls to treat
the risks. All staff have the responsibility for the continuous
monitoring of risks and operation of controls within their area of
responsibility. In particular, close attention would be paid to those
risk areas with a strong reliance on internal controls and processes
to bring the risk to an acceptable level.

The Company believes that effective communication and
consultation is essential throughout the risk management process
as it enhances the understanding of risk identification, analysis
and evaluation among process owners and risk management team
in the Group. During the reporting year, individual departments of
the Company at least monthly reviewed and updated their own
risk logs. The responsible persons of the departments updated and
reported the risk logs to the Risk Manager and the responsible
executive director (the “Responsible ED”) of the Group on a
regular basis. The Responsible ED then presented the consolidated
risk logs to Senior Management for identification and assessment
at management and Group levels. Senior Management updated
the Board on any significant risks and progress via monthly
reports or in Board meetings.

The Board recognizes the need for sound and effective risk
management and internal controls systems to safeguard
shareholders’ investment and the Group’s assets. The Board
acknowledges its overall responsibility for the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems. With the support of
Senior Management and the Audit Committee, the Board
reviewed the effectiveness of the systems which covered different
areas, including without limitation, the financial, operational and
compliance controls in compliance with Code Provisions C.2,
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. Such systems were designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the
Group's business objectives, and could only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material mis-statement or loss.
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rEEAMES )

(3) Risk Management & Internal Controls (3) EMEIE & N3P EE2E (F)

(Continued)

The risk management system framework adopted by the Group AEEMRANERERERFERDIZR
was designed by reference to the principles and process outlined ISO310002 (£ 1% 2 Fh 48 i &9 R BI K2 72 3%
in the international standard of 1SO31000. Appropriate risk o EERREREHEMAEBLRE
management activities were embedded into business planning, EEHEIR AHNERE EHEERMERRE
project management, contract management, business operations FeoRBREREFIRONELSRS

and organisational procedures. The six steps involved in the risk
management process are:

1. Establish the scope, context and criteria 1. M EHE AR RIZRE

2. Risk assessment (Risk identification, risk analysis, risk 2. [2 B B A (B R LR 4T - &
evaluation) T (E)

3. Risk treatment 3. [ B B2 3B

4. Monitoring and review 4. 855 R A At

5. Recording and reporting 5. A0 8% & (& 3R

6. Communication and consultation 6. B LR R

Our risk management process and risk management framework BMOREREERREF KRR ERIEZRA B

can be represented diagrammatically as follows: B&RBEROT :

Risk Management Process 1SO31000:2018 [ & B FE 2 [71S031000:2018

——O0 38 Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited Annual Report 2018 @



(3) Risk Management & Internal Controls
(Continued)

Risk Management Framework

Evaluate the effectiveness of
the risk management system

The Board and Audit Committee

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
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(3) EmEERANBER (&)
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A
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Oversee the implementation of
the risk management system

Senior Management
EERBEERGNER
SREBAS

T

Risk review, assessment, analysis
and reporting

Responsible persons of Individual Departments,
Risk Manager and Responsible ED

B EE - T 24 M ER
AR REA EREEARBEHRTES

A

Risk identification, recording and
monitoring

Individual Departments

[ B 3 Bl ~ RC 6% A BE 2R
1 %) &8 P9

As an on-going process, the Company has assessed its internal
control system with reference to The Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO") internal
control framework 2013, specifically in relation to the five

elements of: control environment, risk assessment, control

activities, communication and monitoring.

O

Independent Assurance
Internal Auditor and External Auditors
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Commission ([ COSO J) =& — = F R EP &5
HIER  HENEAMEERS SR
EEPEEROR - EbRATM  BED - BERE
RERNATE

TE-)\FFHR BEZBEFEZERAA

39

——



—0 40

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

2%

(3)

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited Annual Report 2018 @

EARAMEE®)

Risk Management & Internal Controls
(Continued)

To further strengthen the risk management and internal control
systems, the Company’s internal auditor (“Internal Auditor”) has
been designated by Audit Committee to conduct a review and
audit tests to verify the effectiveness of risk management and
internal control systems in place. A review report was presented to
Audit Committee, which based on the report formed the opinion
on the effectiveness of Tradelink’s risk management and internal
control systems and reported to the Board accordingly. The
external auditors would obtain an understanding of internal
control relevant to their audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances though not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control. The external auditors would
communicate with Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that they identify during the course of their audit. If
necessary, remedial actions will be taken timely by the Company.

During the year of 2018, Internal Auditor has conducted a review
of Tradelink’s risk management and internal control systems. In
particular, Internal Auditor has conducted the following:

o A gap analysis and evaluation of effectiveness of risk
management system by using 1SO31000:2018 as a basis for
comparison;

o A COSO entity level control gap analysis (‘{COSO Review’) to
ascertain if the Company has established entity level
controls that are consistent with the key concepts of the
control framework recommended by COSO — ‘Internal
Control — Integrated Framework’;

o Audit tests to verify the effectiveness of the Company's
internal controls in place.

The Company also has a whistle-blowing procedure in place to
encourage its staff to raise concerns, in confidence, with the
Audit Committee about possible improprieties in any matter
related to the Company. During the reporting year, no whistle-
blowing report received.
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(3) Risk Management & Internal Controls

(Continued)

Based on the confirmation from Senior Management, the reviews
from the Internal Auditor and the Audit Committee, the Board
considered that the risk management and internal control systems
are adequate and effective for the reporting year. There were no
significant control failings, weakness or significant areas of
concern identified during 2018.

The Board also considered the resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programs and budget of the Group’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions were
adequate.

The Group handled and disseminated inside information in
compliance with the Listing Rules and the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO"). The
Board, with the recommendation of Senior Management, would
identify and determine whether certain information needs to be
disclosed as inside information under the Listing Rules and the
SFO. Once certain information has been determined as inside
information, it would be disclosed as soon as practicable by way
of announcements.

The Company has in place separate internal policies for dealing in
the Company’s shares by Directors, general staff and those staff
who are likely to be in constant exposure to inside information.
All employees and Directors are not allowed to deal in the
securities of the Company when they possess unpublished inside
information. Pre-clearance on dealing in the Company’s securities
is mandatory for Directors and those staff who are likely to be in
constant exposure to inside information.

During the reporting period, Directors and relevant employees, as
identified by Senior Management, were notified of the periods
when dealings in the securities of the Company were prohibited.
All inside information was disclosed timely by way of
announcements. Before the disclosure of inside information by
announcements, it was kept confidential and would only be
disclosed to, and handled by, those employees who had a
genuine need to know. Documents containing inside information
are protected by passwords.

In addition, every employee is subject to the Code of Ethics and
Conduct of the Group and is expected to achieve the highest
ethical and professional standards of behavior.
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Board Composition

As at 31 December 2018, the Company is led by a Board
comprising three Executive Directors, four Non-executive
Directors, including the Chairman of the Board, and five
Independent Non-executive Directors. The Independent Non-
executive Directors represent at least one-third of the Board
as required by the Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules. The five
Independent Non-executive have all confirmed in writing to
the Company that they meet the guidelines for independence
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

As at the date of this annual report, the members of the
Board are:

Chairman and Non-executive Director
Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S., J.P.

Executive Directors

Mr. TSE Kam Keung (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew (Chief Technology Officer)
Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily (Chief Operations Officer)

Non-executive Directors

Dr. LEE Delman*

Mr. YING Tze Man, Kenneth
Mr. YUEN Wing Sang, Vincent

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. CHAK Hubert

Mr. CHAU Tak Hay

Ms. CHAN Chi Yan

Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy

Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, J.P.

(* Dr. LEE Delman is a nephew of Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry,
S.B.S., J.P)

The Board oversees the overall management and operations
of the Company. Major responsibilities include determining
the Company’s overall business, financial and technical
strategies, setting key performance targets, approving
budgets and major expenditures, supervising the
performance of management with the objective of
enhancing shareholder value. Matters not specifically
reserved to the Board and necessary for the daily operations
of the Company are delegated to Senior Management
under the supervision of respective Directors and the five
committees of the Board.
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(4) Board of Directors (Continued) 4) EE=(#E)
(i) Board Composition (Continued) (i) E=g4dA/k@&
The diversity profile of the Board is set out in the following EEEZ TR E IR TEE -
charts:

Gender and Age Group
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Board Composition (Continued)

Work Profile
TEREERR
Business and Industry
[EELGES
Government
BT

Professional (e.g. legal, accounting, IT, investment,
asset management and maritime industry)

% (0 ORR B ERBE
1% - REEBRSETE)

Others
it

0% 10%

The biographical information of Directors is set out in the

“Directors and Senior Management” section on pages 29 to
34 of this annual report.

Changes of Directors’ and Chief Executive’s
Information Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the
Listing Rules

There have been no changes in the information of Directors
and Chief Executive of the Company since publication of
the 2018 interim report up to this annual report, save and
except that:

(a)

Ms. CHAN Chi Yan left The Dairy Farm Company, Limited
as Project Lead — China Expansion (Convenience) on
17 October 2018.

Mr. TSE Kam Keung ceased to be the Vice Chairman
and became the Chairman of the Pan Asian
e-Commerce Alliance on 1 January 2019. He ceased
to serve on the governing board of Lawrence
University from August 2018.

Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, J.P. ceased to be a member
of the Hong Kong Logistics Development Council on
26 November 2018 and he ceased to be the
Immediate Past President and became the Council
Member of the Chartered Institute of Logistics &
Transport in Hong Kong on 20 September 2018.
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(4) Board of Directors (Continued)

(ii)

(iii) Appointment,

(iv)

(v)

Changes of Directors’ and Chief Executive’s

Information Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the

Listing Rules (Continued)

(d)  Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S., J.P. became Advisor,
Chairman Emeritus of Hong Kong Research Institute
of Textiles & Apparel Ltd from October 2018.

(e) Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew became a member
of the Fintech Advisory Group of the Securities and
Futures Commission for a term of one year from 1
March 2019 to 29 February 2020.

Rotational Retirement and Re-
election

All non-executive directors (including independent non-
executive directors) were appointed for a period of three
years and all directors are subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election in accordance with Article 100 of the
Articles of Association of the Company. Pursuant to that,
one half of the Directors (or, if the number is not a
multiple of two, then the number nearest to but not
greater than one half) shall retire each year but are eligible
for re-election at each AGM.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The positions of the Chairman of the Board and the Chief
Executive Officer are held by Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S.,
JP. and Mr. TSE Kam Keung respectively to maintain
effective segregation of duties. The Chairman is responsible
for overseeing the functioning of the Board and the
strategies of the Group while the Chief Executive Officer is
responsible for managing the Group’s day-to-day
businesses.

The Chairman of the Board held a private session with the
Non-executive Directors and the Independent Non-executive
Directors without the presence of the Executive Directors
immediately after the Directors’ Conference of the
Company held on 21 September 2018.

Directors’ Time Commitments

The Directors have confirmed that, during the course of the
year, they devoted adequate time to discharging their duties
as members of the Board and its Committees. The Directors
also confirmed that they had been provided with monthly
updates on the Group’s operations, performance and
business prospects to enable them to discharge their duties.
Additional information, explanation and clarification were
provided by Senior Management in response to questions
raised by them in the course of their reviews of such
materials.
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Board Meetings and General Meeting
During 2018, four board meetings and an AGM were held.

The attendance of Directors in board meetings and AGM of

the Company is as follows:

(4) =g (&)

(vi) EE2FERRRAE
RZFT—N\F ARFAGEITER

EFgeal

—RBRRBEEXRE

EENEZESHRLERRBERE

B EENT
Board meetings 2018 AGM
attended/ attended/
Eligible to attend Eligible to attend
BHE/GEREE
BHE/ SEREE —E-N\F
ESEe3R8 RRBFAERHY
Chairman and Non-executive Director IREREPTES
Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S., J.P. ZTEE L sBS., )P 4/4 171
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. TSE Kam Keung (Chief Executive Officer) 18538 9t & (77 B # ) 4/4 171
Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew (5 IRk (BT E 4/4 1”1
(Chief Technology Officer)
Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily BIERR L (EEEE) 4/4 171
(Chief Operations Officer)
Non-executive Directors FYITES
Dr. LEE Delman® FEAELO 3/4 0/1
Mr. YING Tze Man, Kenneth RFXEAE 4/4 (Al
Mr. YUEN Wing Sang, Vincent? ROKEFAED 2/3 N/A
TERR
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Mr. CHAK Hubert® Bt LS 4/4 0/1
Mr. CHAU Tak Hay R4 4/4 171
Ms. CHAN Chi Yan® REARL® 3/4 (Al
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy BHEE LA 4/4 171
Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, J.P. (CAVE- 3R N ) 4/4 171




(4) Board of Directors (Continued)

(vi)

(vii)

Board Meetings and General Meeting
(Continued)

Notes:

(@) Dr. LEE Delman was unable to attend the Board meeting on

19 June 2018 due to overseas engagement and the 2018
AGM due to other prior business commitment.

(2) Mr. YUEN Wing Sang, Vincent became a member of the Board
after the conclusion of the 2018 AGM. He was unable to
attend the Board meeting on 28 August 2018 due to
overseas engagement.

3) Mr. CHAK Hubert was unable to attend the 2018 AGM due
to other prior business commitment.

(4) Ms. CHAN Chi Yan was unable to attend the Board meeting
on 23 March 2018 due to sickness.

Directors’ and Auditors’ Responsibilities for the
Accounts

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
financial statements that give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Group. In this regard, the Directors
have confirmed that appropriate accounting policies have
been selected and applied consistently and that judgements
and estimates made were prudent and reasonable in light
of the information provided by Senior Management.

In preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2018, the accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong were adopted and the
requirements of the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the applicable laws were complied
with.

The Board has prepared the financial statements on a going
concern basis and is not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that might cast
doubt in the Group’s ability to continue as a going

concern.

The reporting responsibilities of the external auditors of the
Group are disclosed in the “Report of the Auditors”.

O

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TtEERBREE )

(4) =2 (&)

(vi)

(vii)

—E-N\FFER

ExggdRBRRAE (M)
M T

(M FEAFLREBIERHAED
FRZF-NFXNATARET
MEFEEAREEMELNE
EEMAREEE T -NFRE
BFERE -

@ ffiikiﬁi‘ﬁ\::;—)\iﬂﬁiéﬂ
REERERREEGHE -
ﬁl/ﬁﬁ\\%ﬁ%ﬁ'ﬁﬂi BEHEN =T
—NFNAZTNBREITNES
g
B BEBLTERAEMIELENOTER
MABELE T NFRRAF
RE -

4 REEZ T ERMARELE
"*)\iiﬁ +=8 %?E’Jé

ESHERBAMRE ARENE
£
EXHORSEAEERE MR
BEM AT R A& EEBRR
A T R R o BLUE ?i%EHSuUEEL,?é
VTERERBEENSHBE
EEABRENER
FEA RO HE R E -

%ﬁ

EERREEE T -NF+ A
ZSt-HLEFENHBBRERE B
%%%%Q%@JEW I 38 & &
DR E PR M (R I R
mﬁﬁDﬁm&@%EW°

EFRORAR YRR
BEE - BT MBS B
EREAEATANEE BEH
7 B AT M TR

REESNBZEBE NI ETER &
R EEINEE -

ESBETEZARRAA

47



—0 48

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERREE #)

(4) Board of Directors (Continued)

(viii) Directors’ and Auditors’ Attendance at the 2018

(ix)

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited Annual Report 2018 @

AGM

The Directors’ attendance for 2018 AGM is shown in the
above table under the sub-heading “Board Meetings and
General Meeting”.

The Company’s external auditors, KPMG, also attended the
2018 AGM to confirm the audited financial statements of
the Company and to answer questions from shareholders.

Directors’ Training and Continuous Professional
Development

It is our practice that all newly appointed Directors will have
to attend an induction programme to enhance their
knowledge and understanding of the Group’s business and
operations and their responsibilities and obligations under
the Listing Rules and other legal and regulatory
requirements. Mr. YUEN Wing Sang, Vincent attended an
induction programme provided by our external lawyers on
30 May 2018.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company
arranged a 6-hour in-house conference to brief Directors on
Fintech development in Hong Kong, business updates, and
financial outlook of the Group. In addition, the Company
allocated financial resources to support and encourage the
in continuous professional

Directors to participate

development training to refresh and enhance their
knowledge and skills regarding their roles, functions and
duties as directors. On 27 November 2018, the Company
arranged a directors’ training on the topic “HKEX/SFC
Regulatory Developments — A Practical Update” provided
by our external service provider. All Directors namely, Dr.
LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S., J.p., Dr. LEE Delman, Mr. YING
Tze Man, Kenneth, Mr. YUEN Wing Sang, Vincent, Mr.
CHAK Hubert, Mr. CHAU Tak Hay, Ms. CHAN Chi Yan, Mr.
CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy, Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, J.P., Mr.
TSE Kam Keung, Mr. CHENG Chung Chun, Andrew and Ms.
CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily participated in the in-house
conference and the Directors’ training.

All Directors have provided their training records to the
Company during the year.

4 E=g(R)
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(ix)
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(4) Board of Directors (Continued)

(x)

(xi)

Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and
Officers’ liability insurance to indemnify them for liabilities
in respect of legal actions arising from its day-to-day
business activities. During the year, the insurance coverage
was HK$100 million.

Board Evaluation

The Board recognizes the benefits of regular evaluations of
its performance. During the year, an evaluation covering
Board and Board Committees performance was conducted
by the Corporate Governance Committee with the
assistance of Senior Management. Areas covered included
the overall effectiveness of the Board and its Committees,
attendance, participation and contributions both during and
outside meetings. The conclusion was satisfactory.

(5) Board Committees

The Board has established the following committees: Audit,
Corporate Governance, Remuneration, Nomination and Investment

Committees.

()

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently consists of five Independent
Non-executive Directors.

The Audit Committee oversees the overall financial
reporting process as well as the adequacy and effectiveness
of the Company’s risk management and internal controls. In
addition, it is responsible for making recommendations to
the Board for the appointment, reappointment or removal
of the external auditors. It also reviews and monitors the
external auditors’ independence and objectivity as well as
the effectiveness of the audit process to make sure that it
is in full compliance with applicable standards.

O

(4)

(5)

—E-N\FFER

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)
rEEAMES

EEE (&)

ESRERAEHNRE
ARAEHRBAENEELSHA
BEERB URBREEERSRA
BRARAAABEEBEIIMELN
FERFDEE -FA - RBE/BE
100,000,0007T °

(x)

ESERATRK

EEeRAEHNTIREEERAN
- FR EaRERABNRE
T hEBERZESETREES
EREEZRERANIK - B R
BEEREZSERETZEENE
B HEX  2EBELNEAR
BIMER - BHAIRERST AN

(xi)

EFEGCRUTIEZES  EREES
TEERZEE FHZEe REZEE
ghKELRES -

EVZEGRRHARBELIFNT
ERAK-

ERZEGERARANERNK
PE A2 A B L B O e N ED BE 4R
RERRAR - W BREEGT
BEREZME BENZEHARINE
TEE  REFSFEHERRZS -
ZZ B ERERTMERINEZH
MERBLIMEE  URERERF
RERER EUBREXEFZE
8 5T E AR -

ESBETEZARRAA

49

——



—0 50

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TEERREE #)

(5) Board Committees (Continued)

(i) Audit Committee (Continued) (i)
The Audit Committee met twice in 2018. The attendance of
members is as follows:

(5) EBZEE (&)

EREEE (H)
R-ZFE-N\F BRZEELGET
MAE#H ZERFEEWT:

Audit Committee
meetings attended/
Eligible to attend

Names BHE S&EEBHE
®H EREESEENRY
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, limmy (Chairman) R E(FE) 2/2
Mr. CHAK Hubert 2Rk A 2/2
Mr. CHAU Tak Hay B S A 22
Ms. CHAN Chi Yan BREE 2+ 2/2
Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, J.P. [CRvE-S 3-SR 2/2
During 2018, the Audit Committee performed, among RIE-)N\F BREEE  KREAM
other matters, the following duties: FIFHN - BHEIT T ITIE -

(a) reviewed the Group’s financial statements for 2017,
the draft 2017 annual report, the draft 2017 results
announcement and the proposed 2017 final dividend
and recommended them to the Board for approval,

(b) reviewed the Group's interim financial statements for
the 6 months ended 30 June 2018, the draft 2018
interim report, the draft results announcement for
the 6 months ended 30 June 2018 and the
proposed 2018 interim dividend and recommended
them to the Board for approval;

(o) reviewed and approved the various audit plans and
audit reports prepared by the Internal Audit
Department of the Company;

(d)  reviewed the reports on risk management and internal
control of the Group and to ensure that the risk
management and internal control systems are
adequate and effective;

(e) reviewed connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions (if any);

() reviewed whistle blowing procedure and any reported
incidents;

(a)

BRAEE T+ FUBR
R ZE—LFFREHREK
“EFEERNEERLRK
T FRIRREBRE X
Ut MEE R HEZE A
%

BRASHEBEZE-_Z-/\ERX
A=+ B1E}1E R ey B8 7%
BE - —Z - N\FRAREE
BE BE_Z-/\FXA
=tRLERNEAZELEER
AR ZE - N\FHIKDHK
o tptitmEESRERE
AR

S B3 e A A 7 BRI AL
PR S (D E B R B
"

ERAEENRREE KA
EERE  UERAREER
NAEfEEE AR B AR AR

ENREXGRFERERS

(mA)

ENEREFRIACHES
i
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(5) Board Committees (Continued)

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

/\JJL

TrEELWRSTE #HE)

(5) EXZE=E(H)

(i) Audit Committee (Continued) (i) BERZEEESEA

(g)  met with the Internal Auditor independently to discuss (90 HABZHMEBSE @
the work of the Internal Audit Department; RAEEZ PR TIE

(h)  reviewed the remuneration of the Internal Auditor; (h) % 5T B A EE B &

(i) met with the external auditors, KPMG, independently (i) HEINEZHMAES e AME
to discuss the financial reporting and internal control HEEBEemH  UilmiEfT=
issues encountered during the 2017 annual audit; T—tFEEZILERBIN
and MBARRATEZERE &

0 reviewed the proposed audit fee for 2018 and ) BRI N\FHNEREZE
recommended the re-appointment of the external A - YMEFeRZEEINE
auditors to the Board for consideration and final T2 BRT - AR AR R A IR BE A
approval by shareholders at the AGM. REERRGEHE -

Auditors’ Remuneration BREMM e

During 2018, the audit and non-audit fees payable/paid to RZZE—N\F AEEEMN BN

KPMG were: an audit fee of HK$1.03 million (2017: E5HSTMEBANZEKIEZ

HK$0.95 million) and a non-audit related service fee of HER BEZBEEBRABE

HK$0.11 million (2017: HK$0.09 million). The latter 1,030,000 (= & — £ F: F &

represented taxation service fees. 950,0007T) K FE 1% EUAE FA AR 75 & %

110000 (= & — £ F: 8 &
90,0007T) & E RTIEIRISE -
(ii) Corporate Governance Committee (i) CEXEREZEES

The Corporate Governance Committee consists of five EEREEEHABBILIENT

Independent Non-executive Directors. The main EEHEN ZEERRAMEFAAQA

responsibilities of the Committee are to ensure and uphold REWBARERIFREERBEE

good corporate governance functions of the Company and

its subsidiaries.

During the year of 2018, the Corporate Governance RZZE-N\F EELLZEEY

Committee met twice. The attendance of members is as BITMAGH ZEHEXENOT

follows:

Corporate Governance
Committee meetings
attended/

Eligible to attend

Names EHil%/AﬁﬁHiﬁ

®E TCEEREEY RE

Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy (Chairman) 88 HE B ST A () 2/2

Mr. CHAK Hubert EL%@%E 2/2

Mr. CHAU Tak Hay Ef‘ai 2/2

Ms. CHAN Chi Yan E%%iz‘@‘ 212

Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, J.P. 174%9‘6% 2/2

O —ZT—)\F5F#% BHZEBEETEZERAA
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(5) Board Committees (Continued)

(i)

(iii)
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(5) EBZEE (&)

Corporate Governance Committee (Continued) (i) EEERZEE(H)
At the two meetings, the Corporate Governance Committee MAEg®HEL tEEREZEEE  KHE
reviewed, among other matters, the Group’s policies and EIBFIN RATAEBHLEER
practices on corporate governance and the relevant BEREHAR-ZTE—LEFLEER
compliance disclosures in the 2017 Corporate Governance MER_T-NEFPHBENRE
Report and 2018 Interim Report. WIS EHE -
Remuneration Committee (i) FHZEE
The Remuneration Committee consists of one Non-executive FTMEBE R —BERTESTEM
Director and two Independent Non-executive Directors. BB IENITESMAMN ©
The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making THEESRERESRERER
recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure AEWFHEBERERE RMEFE
for the remuneration of Directors and Senior Management. REHEBRER -
During the year, the Remuneration Committee held one FN - FMEESSEERIT-REE
meeting. The attendance of members is as follows: ZEHEEMT :
Remuneration
Committee meetings
attended/
Eligible to attend
Names CHE GEREE
HE FHZEEEERAH
Mr. CHAU Tak Hay (Chairman) BB K& (E/E) 11

Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy
Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S., J.P

EMEE A
ETyEE £ sBS., )

171

At this meeting, the Remuneration Committee performed,
among other matters, the following: (a) reviewed the
remuneration packages of Directors and Senior Management
and recommended the same to the Board for approval; (b)
made recommendation to the Board to grant share options
to Directors and Senior Management; and (c) made
recommendation to the Board to enter into the service
contracts for the newly appointed Non-executive Director
and the re-appointed Independent non-executive Directors.

P 11
tesEtr FMEES  BREMSEE
%vLﬁ AT EENSREE
AERE MﬁLI#M@%%%@
HE OEFEZCTRNESILSR

EEABRNBEE ROZRE
FERMBRIFRTESERBEE
ERBLFERTEETLRBAL -




(5) Board Committees (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Remuneration Committee (Continued)
Remuneration paid to Executive Directors and Senior
Management

Details of remuneration paid to Executive Directors in 2018
are set out in Note 9 to the Financial Statements.

Remuneration paid to Senior Management in 2018 by band
is as follows:

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TtEERBREE )

(5) EXZE=E(H)

(iii)

FMESE (8
APTEEREREEAEBINHN
# B
RZE-NFEXNTHITEED
FMABERNM B RENAZI -

RZZ-N\F RAESREEAEX
RHE BN A T 8B

Number of staff
ETA#™

HK$8,000,001-HK$9,000,000
HK$4,000,001-HK$8,000,000
HK$3,000,001-HK$4,000,000
HK$2,000,001-HK$3,000,000
HK$1,000,001-HK$2,000,000

7 #8,000,0017T & & #9,000,0007T
7 #4,000,0017T & /& #8,000,0007T
7 #3,000,0017T & & #4,000,0007T
7 #2,000,0017T & /& #3,000,0007T
7% #1,000,0017T & /& #2,000,0007T

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee consists of the Chairman of the
Board and two Independent Non-executive Directors.

The duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board, to review the
independence of Independent Non-executive Directors and
to select suitable candidates for appointment as Directors in
the general meeting of the Company.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the
“Board Diversity Policy”) with measurable objectives.
Selections of Board candidates shall be based on a range of
diversity perspectives with reference to the Company’s
business model and specific needs, including but not limited
to gender, age, educational background and work-profile.
The Company recognizes the benefits of having a diverse
Board and sees diversity at the Board level as an essential
element in maintaining its competitive advantage. The Board
composition reflects a full complement of expertise and
skills and diversity appropriate to the Company’s business
activities.

The complete Board Diversity Policy can be found on the
Company’s website.
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(5) Board Committees (Continued)

(iv)
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Nomination Committee (Continued)

Nomination Policy

On 27 November 2018, the Company adopted a
nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) to provide
formal, clear and transparent procedures, process and
criteria for the Nomination Committee to nominate and
recommend suitable candidate to the Board.

Selection Criteria

Nomination Committee and the Board may consider the
following factors, which are neither exhaustive nor decisive,
when assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate:

(@) personal ethics, reputation and integrity;

(b) professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and
experience that are relevant to the Company’s
businesses and corporate development and strategy;

(9] willingness and ability to devote adequate time to
discharge the duties as a director and to make
required commitments;

(d)  the "Board Diversity Policy” adopted by the Company
(as amended from to time); and

(e) applicable legal and regulatory requirements (as
amended from time to time).

Nomination Procedures

(a) For filling a causal vacancy or appointing an additional
director to the Board in accordance with Article 92
of the Articles of Association of the Company,
Nomination Committee shall make recommendation
for the Board’s consideration and approval. For
proposing candidates to stand for election at a
general meeting, Nomination Committee shall make
nomination to the Board for consideration and
recommendation.
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(5) Board Committees (Continued)

(iv) Nomination Committee (Continued)
Nomination Procedures (Continued)

(b)

Shareholder(s) may nominate a candidate to stand for
election as a director at a general meeting in
accordance with the “Procedures for shareholders to
propose a person for election as a director”
published by the Company from time to time.

The nomination proposal should include the
biographical information and other
information as required to be disclosed under the
Listing Rules and the candidate’s signed written
consent to be appointed as a director and to the
publication of his/her personal

candidate’s

data on any
documents or the relevant websites for the purpose
of or in relation to their standing for election as a
director.

If considered necessary, Nomination Committee may
request the candidate to provide additional
information and documents.

Nomination Committee shall consider the nomination
proposal, evaluate such candidate based on the
selection criteria and review the structure, size and
diversity of the Board to determine whether such
candidate is suitable for recommending to the Board.

A circular with the candidate information such as the
name, brief biography (including qualifications and
relevant experience), proposed
independence and any other information, as required

remuneration,

pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and regulations
will be provided to shareholders before the general
meeting and within the prescribed period as required
under Listing Rules.

The Board shall have the final decision on all matters
relating to the recommendation of a candidate to
stand for election at a general meeting.

The complete Nomination Policy can be found on the

Company’s website.
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TEERREE #)

(5) Board Committees (Continued)

(iv) Nomination Committee (Continued)
During the year, the Nomination Committee held one
meeting. The attendance of members is as follows:

(5) EEZEE (&)
(ivy REZ8g (&)

FR REZEGLRITNGH
ZEHBEERMT

Nomination
Committee meeting

attended/

Eligible to attend

Names BHE SEEBHE
s REZEEEERY
Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, J.P. (Chairman) ISz B A P (/) 1/1
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy 5 4B A 11
Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S., J.P. EThEE L 0 SBS, )P 1”1

At the meeting, the Nomination Committee performed,
among other matters, the following: (i) reviewed the
structure, size and composition of the Board; (ii) reviewed
the independence of the Independent Non-executive
Directors; (iii) reviewed and recommended five retiring
Directors for re-election by shareholders at the 2018 AGM,;
(iv) recommended Mr. YUEN Wing Sang, Vincent as a Non-
executive Director for election by shareholders at the 2018
AGM.

(v) Investment Committee
The Investment Committee consists of one Non-executive
Director and three Independent Non-executive Directors.

The duty of the Investment Committee is to oversee the
Company’s investments in financial instruments and the
management’s execution of the investment policy guidelines
laid down by the Board.

Rl REZEgEENT(EHSE

F)THEBEERE : (BT E2Fe R
B BB R (i) ﬁﬁﬁi#%ﬂﬁ
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(5) Board Committees (Continued)

(v)

Investment Committee (Continued)

During the year, the Investment Committee convened two

meetings. The attendance of members is as follows:

Corporate Governance Report (Continued)

TtEERBREE )

(5) ExZ5g (&)
v) REZEEM)

FA-

Tiﬁiﬁ = @Eﬁﬁﬁ/}(?% !

ZEHEXRMT

Investment
Committee meetings

attended/
Eligible to attend
Names BHE SERLE
& REZEEEIRNEH
Mr. CHAK Hubert (Chairman) EL?@?‘E%G&'/—#} 2/2
Mr. CHAU Tak Hay E%E 2/2
Ms. CHAN Chi Yan rﬂﬁg‘s‘@‘ 2/2
Dr. LEE Delman® $I7ME?1L 0/1
Mr. YING Tze Man, Kenneth® HF X AR 1/1
Notes: B 7
(1) Dr. LEE Delman was unable to attend the Investment (1) FERAE - FHGINEB M EE D

Committee meeting on 13 March 2018 due to overseas
engagement. He ceased to be a member of the Investment

Committee of the Company on 11 April 2018.

(2) Mr. YING Tze Man, Kenneth became a member of the
Investment Committee of the Company on 11 April 2018.

At the two meetings, the Investment Committee reviewed
the execution of the investment policy by Senior
Management and the portfolio of the Company's
investment. The Investment Committee also discussed the
global economic and investment outlook and reviewed the

investment strategy.

(6) Company Secretary

Mr. HO Chi Kin Joseph, the Group's Senior Vice President of Legal
& Compliance, is the Company Secretary of the Company. Mr. HO
has confirmed that during the year under review he has taken no

less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.
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Shareholders’ Rights

Shareholder(s) holding at least 5% of the total voting rights of all
the shareholders of the Company having a right to vote at
general meetings can send a request to the Company to convene
a general meeting pursuant to Section 566 of the Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622). The request must state the general nature
of the business to be dealt with at the meeting and may include
the text of a resolution that may properly be moved and is
intended to be moved at the meeting. The request must be
authenticated by the relevant shareholder(s) and sent to the
Company in hard copy form or in electronic form.

Shareholders may also put forward proposals at general meetings
in accordance with Sections 580 or 615 of the Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622). Shareholder(s) representing at least 2.5% of
the total voting rights of all the shareholders who have a relevant
right to vote at the general meeting or at least 50 shareholders of
the Company who have a relevant right to vote at the general
meeting may request the Company to circulate statements
regarding resolutions proposed at the general meeting; or request
the Company to circulate resolutions which may properly be
moved and is intended to be moved at the AGM. The requisition
must be authenticated by the shareholder(s) concerned and sent
to the Company in hard copy form or in electronic form where, (i)
in the case of a requisition for the circulation of statements
regarding resolutions proposed at a general such
requisition must be received by the Company not later than 7
or (i)
requisition for the circulation of resolutions to be moved at the

meeting,

days before the general meeting; in the case of a
AGM, the requisition must be received by the Company not later
than six weeks before the relevant AGM or if later, the time

when the notice of the AGM is dispatched.

Pursuant to Article 101 of the Company's Articles of Association,

no person, other than a retiring Director, shall, unless
recommended by the Directors for election, be eligible for election
to the office of Director at any general meeting, unless notice in
writing of the intention to propose that person for election as a
Director and notice in writing by that person of his willingness to
be elected shall have been given to the Company in each case,
during the period (being a period of at least seven days)
commencing on the day after dispatch of the notice of general
meeting at which elections to the office of Director are to be
considered and ending on the day that falls seven days before the
date of the general meeting (both days inclusive). The procedures
for shareholders of the Company to propose a person for election
as a Director are set out in the Corporate Governance Section of

the Company's website.
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Communications with Shareholders and
Investors

The Company has established Shareholders Communication Policy
and is available under the “Investor Relations” section of the
Company’s website. The Company encourages two-way
communication with its shareholders and investors to enhance
understanding of the Group’s performance and developments.
Regular newsletters on the Company's latest business
development are published on the Company’s website. A free
subscription service is available for interested parties to receive
email notification when there are major updates on investor's
information webpages.

During the year, the Company held two forums for its individual
shareholders on 13 April 2018 and 14 September 2018 to brief
the shareholders on the 2017 annual results and 2018 interim
results respectively and the latest corporate developments. The
Company also arranged meetings for institutional investors and
analysts to discuss the Company’s latest developments with Senior
Management. In 2018, the Company met with a total of 51
institutional investors, analysts and individual shareholders.

After the announcements of the 2017 annual results and 2018
interim results respectively, the Company organized two media
luncheons with a total of 16 financial reporters and journalists to
brief them about the Company’s financial results and business
developments.

As regards the Company’s 2018 AGM, almost all Board members,
including Chairman of the Board and Chairmen of the respective
Board Committees, and Senior Management of the Company
attended the meeting to answer questions raised by shareholders.

Constitutional Document

The Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company
("Constitutional Document”) is available on the Company’s
website and the website of the HKEXnews of the Hong Kong
Exchange and Clearing Limited. There was no amendment to the
Constitutional Document during 2018.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report ("ESG Report”)

RR #ERERBA(RR HERE

This ESG Report includes our disclosures related to the requirements as
set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide
(the "ESG Guide"”), Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (”Listing
Rules”).

About Tradelink

Tradelink is an e-commerce services company and its principal activity is
("GETS") for
Leverage its core

to provide Government Electronic Trading Services
processing certain official trade-related documents.
business in other areas

competence, Tradelink has diversified its

including supply chain solutions, identity management solutions and
payment technology solutions, some of which being operated by the
Company’s subsidiaries. The mission of the Company is to empower its
clients with business enabled e-solutions for their commercial and

financial activities.

Scope of the ESG Report

This ESG Report focuses on aspects which have been identified as
material to the Group’s business by the Board and its key stakeholders
namely, its employees, investors and shareholders, customers, suppliers
and the community. As our core business is operated in Hong Kong, the
scope of reporting in this ESG Report covers Tradelink and its
subsidiaries in Hong Kong for the period from 1 January 2018 to 31
December 2018.

ESG Strategy & Reporting

In accordance with the Listing Rules, the Board has overall responsibility
for the Company's ESG strategy and reporting. The Company has been
pursuing its ESG strategy since its adoption by the Board on 29 March
2016. Our ESG strategy is summarized as follows:

Environment

— We are committed to sustainable business practices that help
protect the environment.

— We run our business in a responsible manner and minimize
environmental pollution.

— We implement internal policies to reduce environmental impact and
raise employees’ awareness of the efficient use of resources.

— We support or collaborate with organizations which promote
environmental protection.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RE - HEEARARS (B

Social

— We manage our human resources and maintain our employer-
employee relationship with the employees in strict compliance
with the relevant labor laws.

— We use our reasonably best endeavors to engage suppliers which
are in compliance with their local environment and labor laws.

— We make positive contributions to the community.

Governance

— Tradelink is committed to a high standard of corporate governance
and detailed information in relation to Governance aspect is
shown separately under the heading “Corporate Governance
Report” in the annual report.

The Board will review the ESG strategy and identify areas for
improvements from time to time or when appropriate.

The Board has delegated its responsibilities to the Audit Committee to
evaluate and determine ESG-related risks to ensure that appropriate and
effective ESG risk management and internal control systems are in place.
The Board has also delegated responsibilities to the Corporate
Governance Committee to review performance and compliance on
corporate governance matters of the Company. Both the Audit
Committee and Corporate Governance Committee would report back to
the Board on their decisions or recommendations for the Board'’s
consideration and approval.

During the vyear, the Board received a confirmation from Senior
Management on the effectiveness of the ESG risk management and
internal control systems on the basis of the risk management and
internal control reports. The same reports have been endorsed by the
Audit Committee.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Stakeholders’ Engagement

The Company values the opinions of its stakeholders and engages them
on a continual basis in order to understand their views, meet or even
exceed their expectations and implement its ESG strategy more smoothly
and successfully. In 2018, the Company collected the following
stakeholders’ opinions via various channels:

R HEgkERBRE (#)

KOENSHE

ARRERFHENBERRTHBRFRESH
NEREENEN mEXEZBHNFHE -
RMEGIERKDETARRNRE HENE
AR N T \F - ARABEBBZHEREBW
ETHHHENER

Stakeholders Concerned matters Engagement channels
FE EMNEER SHEHRE

Employees — Employee rights and benefits Staff intranet portal and emails
== — Training and development BT NEAE R EH

— The work environment
— Work-life balance

— EEREFREF

— BIlRERE

— TEIRIE

— TFRAEZHHTE
Investors and shareholders — Investment returns
HEERRR — Business development

— Business performance
— Business strategies

— Corporate governance
— RE[EH

— EBERE

— EBRH

— XIGR

— EER

Customers — Product/service quality
®P — Product/service price

— Customer information

confidentiality

— Business ethics

— Em/REE %

— ER/IREER

— BFEHREE

— EERER

Suppliers — Business ethics and credit
HEm — Fair trade

— Mutually beneficial strategic

alliances

— Environmental protection

— Fﬁ%kf = M A5 H

— I'Z/\%

— BEEG BB

— RERE

Community — Community development
e — Social welfare
— HEEERE
tEREA

Announcements, newsletters, circulars, annual
report, interim report, annual general meeting,
investor forums and shareholder meetings
NE-BA - -BH - FHR PR BRREFAE-
Txé% P E N

Product/service terms and conditions, contracts,
meetings and training, after-sales service (customer
inquiries or complaints), customer satisfaction
survey

Em/ REERRGE &80 g2 REI - E&
R (EFERSIRHF) Eﬁg/ﬁﬁ,mraﬂﬁ

Contracts, meetings, compliance confirmation from
key suppliers
R BE TZHEBSAMER

Volunteer work and charitable activities

BEIRBLESED

ESG-related risks were also raised and discussed in the Company’s risk
management meetings which were held on a regular basis. Comments
and recommendations were reported back to Senior Management.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RE - HEEARARS (B

Materiality Assessment

During the year, the stakeholders’ opinions collected were reviewed and
assessed. Taking into account the reporting principles as set out in the
ESG Reporting Guide, the business nature and principal activity of the
Company, the relevant information under the Social Areas of the ESG
Guide, which is considered to be important to its investors and
stakeholders, would be disclosed in details in this ESG Report.
Information on the relevant policies adopted by the Company and how
such policies comply with the relevant laws and regulations would also
be disclosed.

Given the fact that the Company is an e-commerce services company,
the three aspects under the Environmental Area, namely Emissions, Use
of Resources and the Environment and Natural Resources, are not
considered material enough which need to be disclosed in accordance
with the ESG Guide. The respective reasons are as follows:

For Emissions, the Company’s operation is not involved in air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste in significant
quantities. There are no relevant laws and regulations that have
significant impact on the Company regarding Emissions.

Similarly, for Use of Resources, the Company’s operation is not involved
in direct and/or indirect energy consumption (e.g. electricity, water and
other raw materials) and water consumption in significant quantities. In
addition, the Company’s operation is not involved in packaging materials
used for finished products as the Company does not deliver tangible
products.

For Environment and Natural Resources, the Company considers its
business nature and operation having no significant impact on
environment and natural resources.

Nevertheless, the Company understands the importance of
environmental protection and undoubtedly supports it. In this regard, the
Company constantly reminds its staff to protect the environment and use
energy and resources effectively and efficiently by issuing policies and
guidelines on the related subjects. In this ESG Report, we would
voluntarily disclose the policies and practices which have been adopted
by the Company with a view to conserving the environment.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Environmental

The Company has implemented several environmental policies to protect
the environment. We have been running and will continue to run our
business in a responsible manner and minimize environmental pollution.

The Company takes actions in daily operations to reduce environmental
impact such as using LED lamps, reminding staff of turning off lights
and air-conditioning when not in use or out of office, keeping air-
conditioning at 25°C, posting internal posters on saving water, installing
tap water controllers to limit the water flow and speed to save water
consumption, setting up timer for air conditioners and water dispensers
to save electricity, using e-forms to reduce use of paper and installing
recycling bins for metals, plastics and waste paper collections in office.
Besides, the Company produces corporate stationeries, reports and
souvenirs made by environment-friendly materials, uses recycled papers
and toners, and also adopts green dish in Company Annual Dinner to
raise employees’ awareness of efficient use of resources and
conservation of the environment. The Company is willing to support or
collaborate with organizations which promote environmental protection.
All these policies aim at not only environmental protection but also cost-
saving for the Company.

The Company also promotes environmental awareness of our employees
and the good use of resources through different programs. During the
reporting period, the Company has mobilized our staff to support Non-
Governmental Organizations (“NGOs”) campaigns such as:

— donating used sofas to Po Lam Housing for the Elderly through
Helping Hand,

— donating used sofas and coffee tables to Hong Kong AIDS
Foundation,

— supporting Green LUCK Banquet in company annual dinner in order
to encourage colleagues to reduce food waste,

— collecting used red packets for recycling by Greeners Action and
pledging to reduce the printing quantity of company red packets,

— collecting books for recycling in support of the Used Book Recycling
Campaign organized by World Vision Hong Kong,

— collecting mooncakes for the needy and mooncake boxes for

recycling organized by St. James’ Settlement; and

— donating food/Chinese New Year gifts to the underprivileged in
support of the campaign organized by Food Grace.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

RE - HEEARARS (B

Caring Our Employees

Employment
Employee profiles and turnover rates in 2018 of our operations in Hong
Kong, breakdown by gender and age are shown at table below.

HERE

=]
TRITRHEENRERBS N _B— \EEEE
BrEEEHRRAE -

Number of Overall turnover rate

employee 2018

EEBA" —E-NFERRLE

Our workforce BT 230 9.57%
Breakdown by gender BB & D

Female g 109 10.09%

Male B 121 9.09%
Breakdown by age RERE D

< 25 < 255% 16 25.00%

25-29 255% 2295% 27 25.93%

30-39 305% £395% 51 17.65%

40-49 4078 £2495% 91 2.20%

> 50 > 5075% 45 0.00%

The Company manages its human resources and maintains its employer-
employee relationship with the employees in compliance with the
Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57), the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485), the Minimum Wage Ordinance (Cap.
608) and the different legislations against discrimination.

To the Company, employees are valuable assets. The Company provides
equal employment opportunity and competitive remuneration packages
to attract and retain employees. The Company has issued and would
continue to review and update policies and guidelines relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and other
benefits and welfare.

The Company offers employee benefits better than the requirements of
Employment Ordinance like fully-paid sick leave, maternity leave and
paternity leave, and provides birthday leave, marriage leave,
compassionate leave, examination leave, voluntary service leave, medical
insurance and ex-gratia payment to retiring employees. The Company has
employed disabled employees and provided them with disability-friendly
working environment. The Company has adopted a lactation policy and
provided a lactation room to support breastfeeding mothers as part of
the Company’s family-friendly policies and benefits. In addition, during
the reporting period the Company has encouraged staff to have
healthier diets and provided fresh fruits for their consumption every
Monday and Wednesday.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Caring Our Employees (Continued)

Employment (Continued)

In order to promote work-life balance, the Company provides flexible
working hours to employees, makes part-time job arrangement for
working parents, and the Tradelink Staff Club has organized different
leisure activities for employees and their family members during
weekends and holidays. The Company has also designated a room to be
the common room for holding staff social activities.

Development and Training

The Company has policy on training subsidy. The Company supports
employees to attend external, job-related training courses and seminars
to improve their knowledge and skills for discharging their duties at
work and enhance their career progression. Moreover, the Company
provides training subsidy to staff for payment of course fees and
examination fees for job-related courses or qualifications. During the
year, the Company has organized in-house training and workshops on
job-related subjects, like managing change and ICAC talk on anti-
corruption.

Labour Standards
The Company abides by the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57) and its
regulations and have not employed any child and forced labour.

Health and Safety

The Company provides a safe and healthy working environment and
protected employees from occupational hazards in compliance with
relevant laws and regulations, including without limitation the
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap. 509) (“OSHO") and the
regulations under the OSHO.

During the year, yoga training, badminton competition and interest
classes were organized for staff. Fruit is provided to staff on every
Monday and Wednesday. Besides, Automated External Defibrillator
("AED") was purchased in 2018 and training on AED was provided to
staff. From time to time, the Company provides occupational health and
safety information to its employees so as to raise their awareness on
workplace safety.

The Company always puts office safety as their top priority. The
Company would do its utmost to minimize the risk of fire in office. In
accordance with fire regulations, all Tradelink offices have been installed
with fire sprinklers and fire extinguishers, which are checked annually by
qualified persons. In order to increase the staff's safety awareness, fire
drill is conducted regularly to show the location of fire exits and the way
to the exit in case of a fire.
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Caring Our Employees (Continued)

Anti-corruption

The Company has zero tolerance to corruption. As a matter of fact, the
Company is deemed a “public body” under the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Cap. 201) to reflect the nature of the GETS services and the
Company’s market position as a major service provider with a licence
granted by the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region (the “Government”) in running important public functions. In this
regard, Senior Management and directors of the Company who will likely
be regarded as ‘public officials” for the purpose of the common law
offence, have been advised on their various liabilities under the common
law offence on “misconduct in public office”.

For employees in general, in order to comply with Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Cap. 201) and other relevant anti-corruption laws and
regulations, the Company has adopted a Code of Ethics and Conduct
(the “Code”) which is applicable to all employees of the Group. The
Code which is subject to the review and comment by the Independent
Commission Against Corruption (“ICAC"), provides the details about the
liabilities as employees of a public body. All employees are required to
read the Code and understand and observe them both in letter and in
spirit at all times. They must observe the prescribed standards of
behavior when performing duties at work. The Code addresses, inter
alia, the following key areas:

— Proprietary and Confidential Information
— Conflict of Interest

— Prevention of Bribery

— Gifts, Gratuities, Hospitality

— Notification of Suspected Corrupt Conduct
— Personal and Private Dealings

To provide education to employees on anti-corruption, the Company
invites ICAC to conduct anti-corruption talk to the employees every year.

Moreover, the Company has whistle-blowing procedures to encourage
staff to report, on a confidential basis, any misconduct, dishonesty,
corruption, illegal activity or wrongdoing within the Company which they
become aware of to the Vice President (Internal Audit), who is the
delegate of the Audit Committee. If the whistle-blower believes that the
Vice President (Internal Audit) has a conflict of interest in the matter, the
report can be made directly to the CEO. Likewise, if it is believed that
the CEO has a conflict of interest in the matter, the report may be made
directly to the Chairman of the Audit Committee or the Chairman of the
Board. No such report was received during the reporting period.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Our Partners and Customers

Supply Chain Management

The Company values mutually beneficial long standing relationships with
the suppliers and customers by providing high quality services to
customers and developing mutual trust with suppliers.

In the Company’s procurement policy, it is specifically stated that the
Company would use its reasonably best endeavors to select and engage
suppliers which are in compliance with their local environmental and
labor laws. Moreover, the Company requests its key suppliers to provide
written compliance confirmations confirming, inter alia, that they are in
compliance with their local environmental laws and regulations and they
businesses responsible manner and minimize

will run their in a

environmental pollution.

Product Responsibility

The Company provides hotline service, on-site technical support and
training for customers who use our services and products. The Company
also pledges to continuously improve its service and products through
enhancements and upgrades with an aim to deliver the best possible
reliable and quality solutions to our customers. The Company does the
best to meet the set service targets and strives to achieve high standard
in different aspects of its operations.

Tradelink observes the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap. 486) (the
“PDPO") and the data collection principles under the PDPO in
conducting its business. The Company educates and requires its staff to
handle personal data of its customers carefully and properly. Access to
the personal data of the customers is limited to those employees who
have a genuine need to access to such personal data in order to
perform the services to the customers. The Company will only process
the personal data of its customers to the extent, and in such a manner,
as is necessary for the purposes of provision of its services and in
accordance with the customers’ instructions and will not process the
personal data for any other purposes. The Company will not disclose the
personal data of its customers to other third parties without the consent
of its customers. The Company stipulates clearly its obligations in this
regard in its terms and conditions of services offered to customers.
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Our Partners and Customers (Continued)

Innovative Services/Products

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited Annual Report 2018 @

Equip IT staff with the latest knowledge and skills

To embrace the challenges from ever-changing new technologies
for research and development (“R&D") of new services and
enhancement of existing services, our IT staff keep abreast of the
latest technological trend and knowledge as well as domain
knowledge. People are our important asset. Tradelink encourages
our staff members to continuously enhance their skills and
knowledge by sponsoring their attendance in training courses and
encouraging their participation in seminars/conferences where
relevant. During the reporting period, our staff members have
attended artificial intelligence (“Al") summits and related training
courses in order to enrich the knowledge and skill sets for
By equipping
ourselves with more up-to-date knowledge and skills, we are able

adoption of this technology in our solutions.

to strive for excellence, offer more professional services and
products, and successfully address our clients’ needs.

Improve our solutions with Al and Robotic Automation

Al, robotic and automated technology are not only the buzzwords
of the day. Tradelink has been continuously enhancing our
solutions by adopting advanced technology to meet our clients’
business needs. Through our ongoing R&D, our team successfully
involved in digital warehousing projects centered around our
Warehouse Management and Execution System supported by
automated material handling equipment. Leveraging our expertise
in supply chain solutions, we are able to deliver the solutions
supported by different automated material handling equipment to
meet our client’s requirement for highly automated warehouse
operations. Added to our sophisticated solutions, our capabilities
in integrating our solutions to clients’ systems effectively are also
well recognized. The continuous support of our clients and their
referrals to us are the best proof of their endorsement of their
trust in us and also a motivation for us.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report (Continued)

Our Partners and Customers (Continued)

Innovative Services/Products (Continued)

Address clients’ needs in cybersecurity with our cutting edge
solutions

Riding on the awareness of and demand for online security
solutions, we have been receiving enquiries about potential
security loophole from cyberattacks and solutions to combat such
loopholes so as ensure secure online transactions. To address
these concerns, we adopted a set of stringent selection procedure
for sourcing our partners worldwide who are able to meet the
regulatory requirements and/or industry standards in providing
secure solutions to our clients, in particular those in the banking
industry. Based on our domain knowledge, knowhow in meeting
regulatory requirements and capabilities in integrating solutions
into different system efficiently, we have enhanced the service
scope of our biometric authentication solutions not only for user
login and transaction authorization but also for conducting Know-
Your-Customer process and digital onboarding. Our client
coverage ranges from financial sector to healthcare and
entertainment industries. With our unceasing effort, Tradelink has
also become a member of the FIDO Alliance, an industry
consortium that seeks to develop specifications that reduce
reliance on passwords to securely authenticate users of online
services. In a research report sponsored by FIDO, our work on
developing FIDO-compliant solutions to protect our customers’
accounts was cited as one of their case studies.

Supports Government’s Logistics and Supply Chain R&D
projects

During the reporting period, Tradelink has provided sponsorship to
one of the projects of the Logistics and Supply Chain MultiTech
R&D Centre (“LSCM"), an organization funded by the Hong Kong
Government with the objective of fostering development of core
competencies in logistics and supply chain related technologies in
Hong Kong. Our participation in their HK-Zhuhai Trade Facilitation
Platform project involves in the development of the connection
between Hong Kong and the Zhuhai E-Port for the import and
export trade declaration lodgment. This project can pave the way
for our potential business development in the Greater Bay Area.

We also have been providing support to another LSCM R&D
project in robotics, sensory and artificial intelligence fields with
applications in warehouses. As one of their sponsors, we provided
not only cash funding, but also more importantly, our domain
knowledge in robotics and solution development along with
automated guided vehicles for the actual solution deployment.
These R&D projects play an important role to nurture the
technology development and also arouse public interest in and
attention to the application and acceptance of logistics and supply
chain related technologies.
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Our Community

Community involvement

With our commitment to help improving the community well-being, we
continuously encourage our staff members, their families and friends to
participate in different voluntary activities. To this end, one measure
which the Company has introduced to motivate staff members to
participate in voluntary services is our implementation of a voluntary
service leave policy under which a staff member can take up to 2 days’
full paid leave in a year for his/her participation in service of a charitable
nature. During the reporting period, over 19 days of voluntary service
leave were taken by our staff members in total; more than the 14 days
in 2017 and hence showing the increasing voluntary service participation
by our staff members.

During the reporting period, the Company has worked closely with a
number of local NGOs and community groups to provide support on
their charitable and community work. There were two specific focuses
for our community work in 2018. The first one was about the global
hunger crisis and poverty issue and the second one was related to our
sustainability value in nurturing future talents.

We believe that big things have small beginnings and our involvement
was not limited to those events held at certain locations and time.
Putting words into action, our staff members skipped their meal in the
office to raise funds for working against poverty. Through participation
in this program, we encouraged our staff to bring the community
involvement in our daily life.

o Participating in World Vision’s Spring Charity Barefoot Walk
for Children
By experiencing the displacement of South Sudanese children, we
participated in walking barefoot for 4km in the picturesque golf
course to raise funds for South Sudanese children and families in
need on 24 February 2018. In appreciation of our active
contribution, we were honored to receive the first runner-up of
the top fundraisers award in the corporate category. Through this
event, we did not only raise funds for the needy, but we also
learned a more important lesson which was to treasure what we
had even just a pair of shoes.

o Joining World Vision’s 30-Hour Famine & Skip-to-Meal
Campaign
Supporting the World Vision’s 30-Hour Famine, our staff members
raised funds for providing food, nutrition and livelihood
assistances to children and families affected by the conflicts in
South Sudan, Myanmar and Syria. To our staff participants, the
event is not only a charity event, but also an opportunity to
inspire us to think about the relationship between people and
food, learn to cherish food and share with people in need.
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Our Community (Continued)

Community involvement (Continued)

Joining World Vision’s 30-Hour Famine & Skip-to-Meal
Campaign (Continued)

Also in response to the “Famine 30" donation appeal, Tradelink
supported the World Vision’s Skip-to-Meal Campaign and
encouraged staff to donate their meal money to help hungry
children and families. With this new format of “Famine 30" in
place, our contribution is no longer confined to a certain location
or time. We can seize every opportunity to help fight against
poverty and hunger experienced by millions of people around the
world.

Support to the charity sale of Oxfam Rice

Tradelink organized a volunteer team to participate in the Oxfam
Rice Event held in May 2018. The theme of the 2018 Oxfam Rice
event was “Support the smallholder farmers with one pack of
rice”, which called for people to purchase Oxfam rice aiming to
raise funds for the “Smallholder Farmers Development Fund”.
Funds raised were used to assist poverty-stricken smallholder
farmers to improve their lives, escape poverty and stay
independent. Thanks for the active participation of our team
comprising staff members and their families, we were honored to
receive the second runner-up in fundraiser (corporate volunteer
team) award for two consecutive years.

Participating in the HKGCC's Business-School Partnership
Program

It was the second year for Tradelink to join the Business-School
Partnership Program organized by the Hong Kong General
Chamber of Commerce (“HKGCC"). At his talk, our CEO shared
his past education and work experience and gave advice to more
than two hundred students of CCC Yenching College in Tsing Yi.
Following the CEO talk, we organized a company visit for
students to have a glance of the daily business operation of a
commercial entity and help them understand IT business. The
program was a good lesson to the teenagers and was conducive
to their future career planning and also nurtured their interest in
technological area.

Charity Donation

To promote our care for the community, we not only participated in

voluntary services and donation, but also encouraged our customers to

join in with us. Under our customer loyalty program, customers could

use their bonus points to make charity donations to charitable

organizations such as the Hong Kong PHAB Association and Oxfam Hong

Kong. During the reporting period, we had more than 350 customers

donating their bonus points to these two charitable organizations.
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Our Community (Continued)

Charity Donation (Continued)

To celebrate our 30th anniversary, Tradelink launched a special donation
matching program during 2018 whereby for each bonus point donated
by our customer to charity donation, Tradelink would donate the same
amount, hence doubling the donation to the designated NGOs. Also
with our seasonal offers for Lunar New Year and Dragon Boat Festival,
we made arrangement for customers to use their bonus points to
redeem turnip cakes and rice dumplings and the equivalent cash
amounts were donated to charitable organizations.

Community Recognition

During the reporting period, the Company was pleased to receive the
following awards that recognized work of the Company in various social
aspects.
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Award for Family-Friendly Employers to Tradelink
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Award for Breastfeeding Support to Tradelink
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Good MPF Employer Award for the year 2016-18 to
Tradelink and Digi-Sign
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Support for MPF Management Award 2016-18
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Caring Company Logo 2016-18 to Tradelink and
Digi-Sign
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List of Barrier-free Companies 2016-19 to Tradelink
2016-19F EEBHRAELERE —E5B Rk
Happy Company Label (2015-2018) to Tradelink and
Digi-Sign
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“Green Office” label and "“Eco-Healthy Workplace” label
in Green Office Awards Labelling Scheme (GOALS)
2017-2018
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Family Council and Home Affairs Bureau

ERBEBR

Family Council and Home Affairs Bureau

ERBEBR

Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority
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Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority
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Hong Kong Council of Social Service

R E S

Hong Kong Council of Social Service

R E S

The Promoting Happiness Index Foundation and the Hong
Kong Productivity Council
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World Green Organisation
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Directors’ Report
EEEREE

The Directors have pleasure in submitting their Annual Report together
with the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2018.

Principal Place of Business

The Company is a company incorporated and domiciled in Hong Kong
and has its registered office and principal place of business at 11th and
12th Floors, Tower B, Regent Centre, 63 Wo Yi Hop Road, Kwai Chung,
Hong Kong.

Principal Activity

The principal activity of the Company is the provision of Government
Electronic Trading Services (“GETS") for processing certain official trade-
related documents. Leveraging its core competence, the Company has
diversified its business into other areas including supply chain solutions,
identity management solutions and payment technology solutions, some
of which being operated by the Company’s subsidiaries.

activities and other particulars of the Company’s
“Notes to the Financial

The principal
subsidiaries are set out in Note 75 to the
Statements”.

Business Review

A fair review of the business of the Group during the year, a discussion
on the Group’s future business development and possible risks and
uncertainties that the Group may be facing are set out in the sections
headed “"Management Discussion and
Analysis” and these sections form part of this Directors’ Report.

“Chairman’s Statement” and

The Group's financial risks are shown in Note 26 to the sections headed
“Notes to the Financial Statements”.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using financial
key performance indicators can be found throughout this Annual Report.

The Board believes that a strict compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations is pivotal to the success of the Company. For this purpose,
the Board has delegated responsibilities to the Audit Committee, the
Corporate Governance Committee and Senior Management to monitor
and implement the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with
the legal and regulatory requirements that have a significant impact on
the Company.
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Business Review (Continued)

As an entity incorporated and listed in Hong Kong, the Company is
governed, managed and operated pursuant to the Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622), the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571), the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited on the corporate level. The Board has adopted the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, and its
committees have their own terms of reference defining their respective
rights, duties and obligations. Besides, the Company is deemed to be a
“public body” under the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201) to
reflect the nature of the GETS services and the Company’'s market
position as a major service provider granted a licence by the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (the
“Government”) in running important public functions. The Company has
also acted in strict compliance with the Employment Ordinance (Cap.
57), the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485), the
Minimum Wage Ordinance (Cap. 608) and the different legislation
against discrimination.

On the operational level, the various businesses of the Group are
conducted in accordance with, among others, the Competition
Ordinance (Cap. 619), the Unsolicited Electronic Messages Ordinance
(Cap. 593), the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap. 486) and the
Electronic Transactions Ordinance (Cap. 553). The member companies of
the Group have registered their trademarks and domain names to
protect their intellectual property rights, which are considered crucial to
their businesses. In particular, the Company conducts its core business of
providing the GETS services to the industrial and trading sectors in
conformity with the Import and Export Ordinance (Cap. 60) and the
GETS Contract signed with the Government in addition to the above-
mentioned ordinances.

For the Group's environmental policies and performance and the key
relationships with its employees, customers, suppliers and community,
the discussions are shown in the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report (“ESG Report”) and the ESG Report forms part of this Directors’
Report.
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Major Customers and Suppliers
The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively during the
financial year is as follows:

Directors’ Report (Continued)
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TEEFRHEER

RAMBFEREIBZEPRHEREOREEAKE
MHERLERBEERDT

Percentage of the Group’s Total

EAEEHEENED L
Sales Purchases
SHEH 2 2
The largest customer BAREP 4.6%
Five largest customers in aggregate A AR P A&t 12.8%
The largest supplier BAHER 4.3%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate hRHERAE 14.7%

Of the five largest customers, two are banks, one is a leading retail
chain in Hong Kong, one is a non-profit making organisation with one
of the core businesses in entertainment and one is a major German-
based mail order house. As at end of 2018, their length of relationship
with the Company ranges from 1 year to 16 years.

At no time during the year have the Directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any interest in
these major customers or suppliers.

Financial Statements

The profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 and the
state of the Company’s and the Group’s affairs at that date are set out
in the financial statements on pages 98 to 209.

Recommended Dividend

An interim dividend of HK 3.5 cents per share (2017: interim dividend of
HK 3.2 cents per share) was paid on 9 October 2018.

The Directors now recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK
6.0 cents per share (2017: final dividend of HK 6.3 cents per share) for
the year ended 31 December 2018. The proposed dividend is expected
to be paid on or about 29 May 2019 to qualified shareholders subject to
shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming AGM.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Movements in property, plant and equipment during the year are set out
in Note 14 to the “Notes to the Financial Statements”.

O

RAXBEFPEY MELPARIT  —BEPARBHE
TEREE M- SFPRIFEFEE(BRERZ
DEB )RS —EPARTEEZREE AR -
RZE-N\FEFE BERAQANERND F1
FEI6%F ©

FAMEBETAES HEOBRBALTRENAR
ABRRBEEMAEE AR ABRAS%IA L) %
BERFTEEPRMHERBEMER -

Bt % ) &

AEEHZE-_Z-NF+_A=+—HILEFEH
A AR AR R R BN R E A % B B B R #
MREIBEEFE209E B B MK A -

Z2ERE

“E-NE+ANAERNTHRESKRISE
(=T —1F : FHRSTR32EM) -

ERERERRNBE_T-—N\F+RA=+—
BIEFENRBBRESR6EIN(ZE—1F:
REB B &6 37811 - B3 I B BCR A2 Bl
BITWERBFRGHER SR _T—-NEFHR
AZThBAHAREN TFTRERRKRE -

ME- -BERRE
M BEREBRENOEDRERRH
| A 214 <

TE-\EEH BEZBETFEZERLSA

77



—0 78

Directors’ Report (Continued)
EFEgWEE @

Share Capital

Shares were issued during the year on exercise of the share options.
Details of the issue of shares and the movements in share capital of the
Company during the year are set out in Note 25 to the “Notes to the
Financial Statements”.

Directors

The Directors of the Company during the financial year 2018 and up to
the date of this report were:

Chairman and Non-executive Director
Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S., J.P.

Executive Directors

Mr. TSE Kam Keung

Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew
Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily

Non-executive Directors
Dr. LEE Delman

Mr. YING Tze Man, Kenneth
Mr. YUEN Wing Sang, Vincent

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. CHAK Hubert

Mr. CHAU Tak Hay

Ms. CHAN Chi Yan

Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy

Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, J.P.

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company at the date of this
report are shown on pages 29 to 34.

In accordance with Article 100 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, at each AGM one half of the Directors for the time being (or,
if their number is not a multiple of two, then the number nearest to but
not greater than one half) shall retire from office. Dr. LEE Nai Shee,
Harry, S.B.S., J.P., Dr. LEE Delman, Mr. YING Tze Man, Kenneth, Ms.
CHAN Chi Yan, Mr. TSE Kam Keung and Mr. CHENG Chun Chung,
Andrew will retire at the forthcoming AGM. All retiring Directors, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.
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Directors (Continued)

The Directors of subsidiaries during the financial year 2018 and up to
the date of this report were:

Mr. TSE Kam Keung

Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew
Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily
Ms. CHU Pik Kwan, Peggie

Permitted Indemnity Provision

Pursuant to the Company's Articles of Association, subject to the
statutes, every Director of the Company shall be indemnified out of the
assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities which Director may
sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of the Director’s
relation thereto. Such permitted indemnity
provision is in force at any time in the financial year and at the time of
approval of this report.

office or otherwise in

Director’s Interests in Transactions,
Arrangements or Contracts

Dr. LEE Delman was appointed as a Non-executive Director on 29
October 2012 and is the President and Chief Technology Officer for TAL
Apparel Limited and accordingly may be regarded as interested in all
contracts and other dealings between TAL Apparel Limited and members
of the Group during the year under review.

Apart from the foregoing, no contract, transactions or arrangements of
significance to which the Company or its subsidiaries was a party or
were parties, in which a Director of the Company or any entities
connected with the Director had a material interest, subsisted at the end
of the year or at any time during the year.

Directors’ Service Contracts

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has an
unexpired service contract which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than normal
statutory compensation.

O
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Directors’ Service Contracts (Continued)

All Directors shall retire by rotation in accordance with the Articles of
Association of the Company and the Listing Rules or at such time as
may be required by resolution of the Board of the Company.

Details of three Executive Directors’ employment contracts, four Non-
executive Directors’ and five Independent Non-executive Directors’ service
contracts are set out below.

Mr. TSE Kam Keung signed an employment contract to act as the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company with effect from 1 July 2015, for a
three-year term until 30 June 2018, subject to a 3-month written notice
to terminate the contract by either the Company or Mr. TSE. The
contract extended upon its expiry on 30 June 2018 for a period of not
more than 3 years with other terms remain unchanged.

Under the employment contract of 30 August 2004 signed between the
Company and Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew, the contract can be
terminated by the Company or Mr. CHENG by giving one month’s notice
or payment in lieu of notice. On 15 November 2011, Mr. CHENG was
appointed as Acting Deputy Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
and on 26 June 2012, he became the Deputy Chief Executive Officer of
the Company. In line with the business developments of the Company,
he was re-designated as the Chief Technology Officer of the Company
on 1 January 2017.

Under the employment contract between the Company and Ms. CHUNG
Shun Kwan, Emily dated 20 March 2008, Ms. CHUNG acts as the Chief
Operations Officer of the Company. The contract can be terminated by
the Company or Ms. CHUNG by giving one month’s notice or payment
in lieu of notice. Since Ms. CHUNG reached retirement age at her 60,
her employment contract was extended on 14 July 2016, 17 July 2017
and 16 July 2018 respectively, each for a 1-year period.

In the 2017 AGM, the Company entered into service contracts with
three Non-executive Directors, namely Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, SB.S., J.P,,
Dr. LEE Delman and Mr. YING Tze Man, Kenneth; two Independent
Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. CHAU Tak Hay and Ms. CHAN Chi
Yan, each for a period of three years. The service contract can be
terminated by the Company or the Director by giving one month’s
notice in writing or payment in lieu of notice.

In the 2018 AGM, the Company entered into service contracts with a
Non-executive Director Mr. YUEN Wing Sang, Vincent and three
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. CHAK Hubert, Mr.
CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy and Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, J.P., each for a
period of three years. The service contract can be terminated by the
Company or the Director by giving one month’s notice in writing or
payment in lieu of notice.
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Directors’ Interests and Short Positions in
Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures

As at 31 December 2018, Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S., J.P.,, a Non-
executive Director, had a deemed interest in 101,125,000 shares of the
Company through his indirect shareholding in TAL Apparel Limited and
95,673,000 shares in the Company through his direct shareholding in
Eastex (HK) Limited respectively. Dr. LEE Delman, a Non-executive
Director, had a deemed interest in 101,125,000 shares of the Company
through his indirect shareholding in TAL Apparel Limited. The deemed
interests 101,125,000 shares of the Company held by Dr. LEE Nai Shee,
Harry, S.B.S., J.P. and Dr. LEE Delman were the same shares held by TAL
Apparel Limited. Mr. TSE Kam Keung, Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew
and Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily, Executive Directors of the Company,
held 4,070,000, 2,755,843 and 2,994,605 ordinary shares of the
Company registered in their own names respectively as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFO").

The Directors of the Company are entitled to options under the share
option schemes of the Company, details of which are set out in the
section “Share Option Scheme” below.

Apart from the foregoing, none of the Directors of the Company or any
of their spouses or children under eighteen years of age has interest or
short positions in shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company, any of its holding company, subsidiaries or other associated
corporations, as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Companies.

Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme currently in operation was adopted on 9 May
2014 (the “Share Option Scheme 2014"). Under the Share Option
Scheme 2014, the Board has the absolute discretion to offer any
employees (whether full or part-time), directors (including Independent
Non-executive Directors), consultants, business associates or advisers of
the Company or any company within the Group options to subscribe for
shares of the Company, provided that the total number of shares issued
or to be issued to any one grantee in any 12-month period shall not
exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue. The grantee shall pay
HK$1.00 to the Company as nominal consideration for the grant upon
acceptance of the offer of an option. Each option has a 10-year exercise
period and the details of vesting conditions are set out in Note 24(a)
under the heading “Notes to the Financial Statements” on pages 185 to
187. The Share Option Scheme 2014 will expire on 8 May 2024.
However, share options granted under this Share Option Scheme before
its expiry date will remain valid, subject to the same terms and
conditions.
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Share Option Scheme (Continued)
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme 2014 is:

(a) to assist the Company to attract and retain the best available
personnel; and

(b)  to provide additional incentives to employees, directors, consultants,
business associates and advisers to promote the success of the
Group;

by providing them with an opportunity to have a personal stake in the
Company through an offer of grant of options. The Shares subject to
the Share Option Scheme 2014 will be identical in nature with the other
Shares of the Company.

The total number of share which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme 2014 shall not
exceed in aggregate 10% of the issued capital of the Company at its
adoption date, being 79,207,319 shares on 9 May 2014 (the “Scheme
Mandate Limit”). Options that have lapsed shall not be counted for the
purpose of calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit. The Scheme Mandate
Limit may be renewed by obtaining approval of shareholders in general
meetings of the Company provided that such total number of shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme 2014 under the Scheme Mandate Limit as
renewed shall not exceed 10% of the shares issued at the date of
approval of such limit (the “Refreshed Limit”). Options previously
granted (including those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed or exercised)
shall not be counted for the purpose of calculating the Refreshed Limit.

The subscription amount payable in respect of each share option upon
exercise of an option shall be determined by the Board and shall be not
less than the greater of:

(i) the closing price of the shares on the SEHK's daily quotation sheet
on the date, which must be a business day, of a written offer of
such option (the “Date of Grant”); and

(i) the average closing price of the shares on the SEHK as stated in
the SEHK's daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the Date of Grant.

At the AGM of the Company on 8 May 2015, shareholders approved the
amendments to clauses 10.1(D), 10.1(E) and 2.1 of the Share Option
Scheme 2014. Such amendments to the Share Option Scheme 2014 give
the Board a discretion to waive or extend the 90-day Limitation with
authority to impose conditions to any such waiver or extension and to
provide an appropriate exercise period for each grant of options during
the scheme period. This provides the Board with necessary flexibility it
needs to deal, in the best interest of the Company, with the different
types of situations that may arise over the course of the ten-year validity
period of the Share Option Scheme 2014.
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Share Option Scheme (Continued) BEREE (&)

The following table discloses movements in the Company’s share options TFERBEEFAARQF ERIENES) :
during the year:
Effect of

options lapsed
upon termination  No. of options

No. of options of employment/ outstanding Market value
outstanding as  No. of options  No. of options  No. of options expiry of the as at Exercise  per share on
at 1 January granted during exercised during cancelled during 10-year exercise 31 December Date Exercise price exercise of
2018 the year the year the year period 2018 granted period per share options”
HELZR, R=B-N\%F
R-B-NF tETERER t=A=1t—-8 BRETER
—A—-BHERTE FERRLN FRITEN FREHN MAMNBRE HRTEHBR BREOH
HERERA BRERE BRERE BRERE ih-2 EHA RHEAM TEH SROTEE En
HK$ HK$
BT AT
Directors
i
Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, 900,000 — — — — 900,000 30/06/2014 10 years 1.90 —
SB.S., JP. —T-mE +F
FTfEEL SBS, JP ~AZ+H
100,000 — — — — 100,000 02/07/2015 10 years 1.78 —
—T-8F +F
+tA=H
Dr. LEE Delman 200,000 — — — — 200,000 30/06/2014 10 years 1.90 —
FEAEL “T-WE +F
ANA=Z+EH
100,000 — — — — 100,000 02/07/2015 10 years 1.78 —
—E-RF tF
tA=A
Mr. YING Tze Man, 200,000 — — — — 200,000 30/06/2014 10 years 1.90 —
Kenneth —T-NF +5F
ES e ~AZ
100,000 — — — — 100,000 02/07/2015 10 years 1.78 —
—T-8F +F
+tAZ=A
Mr. CHAK Hubert 900,000 — — — — 900,000 30/06/2014 10 years 1.90 —
Bmatt “T-ME +F
~A=+H
100,000 — — — — 100,000 02/07/2015 10 years 1.78 —
—E-0F tF
A=A
Mr. CHAU Tak Hay 500,000 = — — = 500,000 30/06/2014 10 years 1.90 —
BEREE —T-mF +F
~A=+H
100,000 — — — — 100,000 02/07/2015 10 years 1.78 —
—T-8F TF
+tAZH
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, 800,000 — — — — 800,000 30/06/2014 10 years 1.90 —
Jimmy —T-ME +%
EHREEE ~NA=+H
100,000 — — — — 100,000 02/07/2015 10 years 1.78 —
—Z-8F +F
tA=H
Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, 900,000 — — — — 900,000 30/06/2014 10 years 1.90 —
1P “T-WE +F
fal SLE £ - )P, ~A=+H
100,000 — — — — 100,000 02/07/2015 10 years 1.78 —
“T-0F 4§
tA=R
Mr. TSE Kam Keung 200,000 — — — — 200,000 30/06/2014 10 years 1.90 —
HEBm e e —ER-WF tF
~A=+H
100,000 — — — — 100,000 02/07/2015 10 years 1.78 —
—ZT-8F +F
tA=A
1,200,000 — — — — 1,200,000 04/07/2016 10 years 1.57 —
—T-RE +F
+tHAM@A
2,400,000 — — — — 2,400,000 28/04/2017 10 years 1.592 —
—-T-— +F
mAZ+N\AE
— 2,400,000 — — — 2,400,000 04/05/2018 10 years 1.34 —
VAL S
TAMA
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Share Option Scheme (Continued)

No. of options

Effect of
options lapsed
upon termination

No. of options

of employ /

ou

BRESS(E)

Market value

outstanding as  No. of options  No. of options  No. of options expiry of the as at Exercise  per share on
at 1 January  granted during exercised during cancelled during 10-year exercise 31 December Date Exercise price exercise of
2018 the year the year the year period 2018 granted period per share options”
RALER, H=-B-N\F
R-B-NF tETERER t-A=+-8 IR AR AT R B
—RA-BMKRTE FRBEH FRITEN FREHN MAMNBRE MKRTENBER BREOH
HERERE BRERE BRERE BRERE HEg BHA REAH TEH SROEE EA
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, 1,200,000 — — — — 1,200,000 30/06/2014 10 years 1.90 —
Andrew —WE +4F
BEBEE ~AA=+H
1,000,000 — — — — 1,000,000 02/07/2015 10 years 1.78 —
—Z-8F +F
+tA=A
900,000 — — — — 900,000 04/07/2016 10 years 1.57 —
—E-RF TF
tAM@A
500,000 — — — — 500,000 28/04/2017 10 years 1.592 —
“E—LF +F
i AN
— 900,000 — — — 900,000 04/05/2018 10 years 134 —
ZE-N\F +F
TAMA
Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan, 500,000 — — — — 500,000 30/06/2014 10 years 1.90 —
Emily —T-mF 4§
EIRER L ~A=+H
700,000 — — — — 700,000 02/07/2015 10 years 1.78 —
—T-8F TF
tAZH
900,000 — — — — 900,000 04/07/2016 10 years 1.57 —
ZERE tHF
+tAMA
1,000,000 — — — — 1,000,000 28/04/2017 10 years 1.592 —
—E—tF +F
mA=+N\RH
— 1,000,000 — — — 1,000,000 04/05/2018 10 years 1.34 —
—T-\F +F
hAmA
Employees 198,718 — (48,000) — (150,718) — 14/04/2008 10 years 1.01 134
B8 i A N
mA+MmA
2,300,000 — — — — 2,300,000 30/06/2014 10 years 1.90 —
—WEFE +5F
~NA=+E
2,100,000 — — — — 2,100,000 02/07/2015 10 years 1.78 —
—Z-8F +F
tA=A
2,300,000 — — — — 2,300,000 04/07/2016 10 years 1.57 —
TE-RF tF
+tAmA
2,400,000 — — — — 2,400,000 28/04/2017 10 years 1.592 —
I
mA=+N\R
— 3,100,000 — — — 3,100,000 04/05/2018 10 years 1.34 —
—B-)N\F tF
RAMA
Ex-employees 2,900,000 — — — — 2,900,000 10 years 1.90 —
AIER +F
2,900,000 — — — — 2,900,000 02/07/2015 10 years 1.78 —
—T-8F +F
+A=H
2,100,000 — — — — 2,100,000 04/07/2016 10 years 1.57 —
TE—RE tF
+tAMA
500,000 — — — — 500,000 28/04/2017 10 years 1.592 —
T—LF +F
mA=+NR
Total
@t 33,398,718 7,400,000 (48,000) — (150,718) 40,600,000
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Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Being the weighted average closing price of the Company’s ordinary shares
immediately before the dates on which the options were exercised.

The options granted to the Directors are registered under the names of
the Directors who are also the beneficial owners.

Information on the accounting policy for share options granted and the
weighted average value per option is provided in Note 1(q)(ii) and 24(a)
to the “Notes to the Financial Statements” respectively.

Apart from the foregoing, at no time during the year was the Company,
or its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors of
the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in the Company or any other body corporate.

Equity-Linked Agreements

No equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year, save for the share option schemes
described in this report.

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and
Short Positions in Shares and Underlying
Shares

The Company has been notified of the following interest in the
Company’s issued shares as at 31 December 2018 amounting to 5% or
more of the ordinary shares in issue:

Directors’ Report (Continued)
EFgREE @

BRES A

B 2 B 3 i AR B2 3 B8 ROHE 7T {2 B H3 BT O 0 4
FHYTHE -

ETEENBREDUNETOEREL  RF
NEREREBA -

R EERENSTEE LG5 B ENE
FEBERE R RIS B 5K Wit WA
1(q)(ii) & B 5#24(a) °

B ESXCPratoh - I AR R - AR A SH
BARMETIEFARY REARREEAE
188 AR A SR E MR A B B2 9 AR 40 1 BUAS A

N

BX

B 8 16 5

A R 5 Pt 0 B AR AT B SN - 0 B P (A B ]
RAFEKEH  WEFT AT RER B -

FERRRRMOKEBERGH
BERAKR

ARAEZR - E-N\F+_A=+—HBEEX
REDETROWERZED EHTEBRS%ILMNA
FHRRERWAT

Ordinary shares

ZBER
Corporate/

Registered individual Number of % of total

shareholders interests shares issued shares

N HE#RTRG

BRERRE 1B A % & BROHE wYEIH

Substantial Shareholders FERX

South China (Jersey) South China (Jersey)

Holdings Ltd. Holdings Ltd. — 101,125,000 101,125,000 12.73%
TAL Apparel Limited Bt BIX AR A A 101,125,000 — 101,125,000 12.73%
Dr. LEE Nai Shee, FThEE L - sB.S., P,

Harry, S.B.S., J.P. — 95,673,000 95,673,000 12.04%
Eastex (HK) Limited Eastex (HK) Limited 95,673,000 — 95,673,000 12.04%

O
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and
Short Positions in Shares and Underlying
Shares (Continued)

The register of interest in shares and short positions kept under Section
336 of the SFO indicates that the interest disclosed by South China
(Jersey) Holdings Ltd. is the same as the 101,125,000 shares disclosed by
TAL Apparel Limited, its 100% owned subsidiary; and the interest
disclosed by Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S., J.P., is the same as the
95,673,000 shares disclosed by Eastex (HK) Limited, his 100% wholly
owned company.

Apart from the above, the Company had not been notified by any
person who had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company as at 31 December 2018, which was recorded in
the register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors of the Company as at the date of
this Annual Report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public
float under the Listing Rules.

Connected Transactions and Continuing
Connected Transactions

There are no connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions pursuant to the Listing Rules during the year of 2018.

Bank Loans and Other Borrowings

The Company did not have any bank loans and borrowings as at 31
December 2018.

Summary of Financial Information

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on pages 210 to 211 of the
Annual Report.

Retirement Scheme

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) for all qualifying employees. Particulars of this retirement
scheme are set out in Note 23 to the “Notes to the Financial
Statements”.

FTERRRKRMDKREBRGH
EERxE (E)

RIEFES R E GG FE336EETORNDESER
w2 E R MATR - South China (Jersey) Holdings
Ltd T TR e B R X AR AR (K2 E
J& A R)) BT & B9101,125,0000% A% 17 /&8 7 — #Ht iR
D R ZFETHEE L sBS, JPFTIRE M % B
Eastex (HK) Limited (E 2B AN A F]) TEHEN
95,673,0008% % 17 & [B — BEAR 17 ©
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Independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors

The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and considers all the Independent Non-executive
Directors to be independent.

Auditors

The Company’s auditor, KPMG, will retire at the forthcoming AGM and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the
re-appointment of KPMG as auditors of the Company is to be proposed
at the forthcoming AGM.

By Order of the Board

Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, SB.S., J.P.
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2019
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Other Information

Hitt & ¥

Purchase, Sales or Redemption of the
Company'’s Listed Securities

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of its listed securities.

Closure of Register of Members

The register of members will be closed from Tuesday, 7 May 2019 to
Friday, 10 May 2019, both days inclusive, during which period no
transfer of shares will be registered to determine the shareholders’
entitlement to attend and vote at the annual general meeting ("AGM")
to be held on Friday, 10 May 2019. In order to qualify to attend and
vote at the AGM, all duly completed transfer forms accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s share
registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan
Chai, Hong Kong for registration, no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 6
May 2019.

The register of members will also be closed from Thursday, 16 May
2019 to Monday, 20 May 2019, both days inclusive, during which period
no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify for the final
dividend, all duly completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s share registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-
1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai,
Hong Kong for registration, no later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 15
May 2019.
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Report of the Auditors
REMBES

Independent auditor’s report to the members of
Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tradelink
Electronic Commerce Limited and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out
on pages 98 to 209, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2018, the consolidated statement of
profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2018 and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"”) and have been
properly prepared
Ordinance.

in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Report of the Auditors (Continued)
% AN R E E #)

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements for the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,

B ETE R

MR EAFASRBRMANERHE  RB

ETREEN RMATEHELERREHEZFNE

and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate &

opinion on these matters.

Revenue recognition in respect of the provision of
front-end Government Electronic Trading Services

RHUAMGBENETESRBHRSERER

Refer to note 3 to the consolidated financial statements
and the accounting policies on pages 117 to 119.

FRHGE BRI AIRREN7TEZE19R B & 51

R e

The Key Audit Matter
BB EE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BENESNNAEEZRSEE

Revenue of the Group is derived from the provision of
front-end Government Electronic Trading Services (“GETS")
for processing certain official trade-related documents and
from project and other service income. Revenue from GETS
accounted for 62% of the Group’s revenue for the year
ended 31 December 2018.

Revenue is recognised when the customer obtains control of
the promised service in the contract.

The Group uses complex information technology (“IT")
systems to track the point of service provision for GETS. The
calculation of the GETS charge is automatically performed
by the IT systems based on pre-defined key parameters,
including unit price and transaction volume.

EEEMKERERERES TRFE 7 E S HEEXIHH
RIm BT B 8 5 IR (I GETS 1) 2R 518 B A E o iR 7% W
A GETSHHAEEEERZE —_T-N\F+_-_A=+—H
LIEEFE R EEM62% °

Yo sk T5 0 5 P I B A 40 175 7E HO BR 765 128 Il B R FERR
BEREERAEMNE AR (BB R4 KRR ERGETS

MRHIRE R E - GETSERAMNGEREAMKEARER
BARTNHAREL2B (BRELERERZE)BHNIT -
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Our audit procedures to assess the recognition of revenue in
respect of GETS included the following:

e with the assistance of our internal IT specialists, identifying
and evaluating the key relevant IT systems and the
design, implementation and operating effectiveness of key
internal controls,

with particular emphasis on the

capturing and recording of GETS transactions;

e with the assistance of our internal IT specialists, assessing
the calculation logic of the pre-defined formulae built into
the IT systems and the related parameters (including unit
price and transaction volume) used in the calculation of
GETS charges;

e comparing the details of the monthly manual journal
entries relating to the input into the accounting system of
aggregate GETS revenue with the reports generated by
the IT systems, on a sample basis;

B AR EGETSI R R B B R 7 B

o ERMAMEAMKERNGBE T - 25 RFEHE
S E AR R R G R BER ARG R Bk R E
T20E R Bl 58 I GETS R 5 ) 78 B8 Mo i 8%

o ERMAMEAMKERNBGI T  FHEERMKRERL
PARAEMELEAEEANESESE IR EGETSE Ak
ERNERSB(EREVERRRSE)

e BBASHENRAMGETSAWENET A AT CHHS
B SRR R AT A R R RS AT R LR

MG BHREANEARABENFTH - ELF
ERERMBIBEEGAVBEBRERRHAERR




Key audit matters (Continued)

Revenue recognition in respect of the provision of
front-end Government Electronic Trading Services
(Continued)

Report of the Auditors (Continued)
%A R EE #)

BEETEE ()

RUEAMGBATETFE SR REHEE (F)

Refer to note 3 to the consolidated financial statements
and the accounting policies on pages 117 to 119.

FRHGEE N BRENAIRRENI7EZE 1198 8 85T

e

The Key Audit Matter
BRETER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BRANETNMWEEZEE

A record of GETS transactions is generated by the IT
systems from which the GETS charges, in an aggregate
amount, are manually input into the accounting system on
a monthly basis.

We identified revenue recognition in respect of GETS as a
key audit matter because of its significance to the Group’s
total revenue and because the reliance on complex IT
systems with the subsequent manual input into the
accounting system increases the risk of error in recording
revenue.

GETSHIXR Btk A EMBIREGEN GETSEAMNAES
BIRABUAFHASH RS

HMBGETSH N SRR B SHRESFE AREMGE
SHRBKENEZE S LERNKBEENEANZR
BARRETHEWA G RGN T CEU R A 55 R AR -

e comparing the unit price for each GETS charge as recorded
in the IT systems with details in contracts signed with
customers, on a sample basis, and to test the operating
effectiveness of internal controls in respect of the
authorization of and input of the unit price changes;

e comparing cash receipts from customers during the year
and subsequent to the financial year end with invoices
issued to customers during the year, on a sample basis;
and

e inspecting underlying documentation for other manual
journal entries relating to revenue which were considered
to be material or met other specific risk-based criteria.

e MEBEBAMKASME BN GAGETSE B EMNE
REZFPEIANSNFABETLS XAAREMLER
BB IR T B A B 10 R o A B AT AR

s MERFARMBFERRKREELNRS EEANR
BEPBEHMNBERETLER R
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Report of the Auditors (Continued)
% AN R E E #)

Key audit matters (Continued)

Loss allowance of debt securities measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income

B ESTSEE (&)

ZREMZEARSRAABEFENERRSBERE

Refer to note 18 to the consolidated financial statements
and the accounting policies on pages 125 to 128.

ERAE A BEREN ISR REIZEE 2 F1288 #) 25
/B? °

The Key Audit Matter
BB EE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BEPNESNNATEEZSEE

The Group invests in corporate bonds to earn interest
income as part of the Group’s cash management strategy,
which is governed by the investment guidelines approved by
the investment committee of the Group. As at 31
December 2018,
securities

the Group held a portfolio of debt
measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) with a fair value of

HK$348 million.

The Group measures loss allowance of debt securities using
the expected credit loss (“ECL") model, which requires an
ongoing measurement of credit risk associated with a
financial asset. It is subject to a number of key parameters
and assumptions, including the estimates of probability of
default, loss given default and discount rate, adjustments
for forward-looking information and other adjustment
factors. Management judgment is involved in the selection
of those parameters and the application of the
assumptions.

EEERECEBSFUARDAEBA  ERAEEEREE
BREN—BD ZRBIEEEAREZESHENRE
EIFHAE - RZE—NF+_A=+—H BEEEHEF
FREMEERSIEAABETZ(FVOC) MBS B
FH o HRQ R (EE A #348,000,0007T °

ExlﬁﬂﬁﬂﬁfﬁﬁUﬂlhﬁﬁﬁiﬁ%%%m%
%ﬁ FRRAZRBEFELEMBEEABNEER
CEPESZHETIEZ2HERRK BREEORE  BY

%E&%ﬁf AITBE 1 B R e 38 B I EL 8 B R 3R o BB OB
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Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited Annual Report 2018 @

Our audit procedures to assess the loss allowance for debt
securities measured at FVOCI included the following:

e obtaining an understanding on the key parameters and
assumptions of the ECL model adopted by management,
including the basis of the segmentation of the debt
securities based on credit risk characteristics, the historical
default data,
management’s estimated loss rate;

and the assumptions involved in

e evaluating the appropriateness of the key parameters and
assumptions adopted in the calculation of loss allowance
by comparing against historical default data and seeking
collaborative evidence from external sources;

BMARFEEBEME2ENER AR BEFENEBRES
BERENENZFERE:

s THEEERAEHNEEERREANTIZZ2HNMKR
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Key audit matters (Continued)

Loss allowance of debt securities measured at fair
value through other
(Continued)

comprehensive income

Report of the Auditors (Continued)
%A R EE #)

BEETEE ()

ZREMEZERSEAABEAENEBESEERE
(%)

Refer to note 18 to the consolidated financial statements
and the accounting policies on pages 125 to 128.

ERHES BRI ZISRREI25H Z F128H #) & 51
BE -

The Key Audit Matter
BEEEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EMHENONMNEEZEE

We identified the loss allowance of debt securities
measured at FVOCI as a key audit matter because of the
significance of these financial assets to the Group’s total
assets and because the recognition of ECLs is inherently
subjective and requires the exercise of significant

management judgement.

BMERMNEBEMEERSEARBEFENERKES
ERBEGERARENFH AARSYKEEHESEL
BEMERMRAHRCEEEENERFEEEN IR LM
W N B IR 8 B BN K -

e evaluating the validity of management’s assessment on
whether the credit risk of the debt securities has, or has
not, increased significantly since initial recognition and
whether the debt securities is credit-impaired by selecting
samples based on specific risk criteria; and

e assessing whether the disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements on loss allowance of debt securities is
appropriate with reference to the requirements of the
prevailing accounting standards.
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Report of the Auditors (Continued)
% AN R E E #)

Information other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the
consolidated financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibilities
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

O

Report of the Auditors (Continued)
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Report of the Auditors (Continued)
% AN R E E #)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements
(Continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, related safeguards.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Sylvene Fong.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

26 March 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

mEEER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZEZE T —N\F+_A=1+—HILFE

2018 2017

—E-N\F —ET—tF

(Note)

(Bt &t)

Note HK$'000 HK$'000

Lig=3 BET T BT T

Revenue € 3 271,930 241,830

Interest income B WA 15,152 16,892

Other net income Hi Wz F58 5 405 1,463

Cost of purchases R B8 A AR (29,283) (23,279)

Staff costs BE A 6(a) (114,142) (105,607)

Depreciation e (6,893) (6,270)

Other operating expenses H b (32,403) (30,860)

Profit from operations & & % F 104,766 94,169

Impairment loss on other financial assets £ b 81 75 & 2 5 & &5 18 26(a) (156) (8,242)

Share of results of associates Fi{h B & R E ¥ E 1,540 2,415

Profit before taxation RR B A& 6 106,150 88,342

Taxation I8 7(a) (16,382) (14,222)

Profit for the year 7 B a A 89,768 74,120
Earnings per share (HK cents) SREF GEA) 13

Basic BN 11.3 9.3

Diluted ' 11.3 9.3

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 and HKFRS 9 at 1 January 2018.

Under the transition methods chosen,
restated. See Note 1(c).

The notes on pages 105 to 209 form part of these financial statements.
Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company
attributable to the profit for the year are set out in Note 71.
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
REEakHEME2EWE R

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ_-_ZF—\F+_A=+—HIFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F T —+F
(Note (i)
(B1aEG))
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
k23 BET T BB T T
Profit for the year 7 A 89,768 74,120
Other comprehensive income for the ZAEEH 2 @K
year (after tax and reclassification (RBEREHFIE
adjustments): AERE):
ltems that may be reclassified HiggkesHimoEs
subsequently to profit or loss: BH&RHIAR
Exchange differences on translation of BMEBINETEH
financial statements of the overseas M m& A&
operations =% (880) 1,459
Debt securities measured at fair value FERHEMEE Y E
through other comprehensive BEARnEETE
income (“FVOCI") — net movement (TFVOCI ) W E TS
in fair value reserve BHE — AnEE
HEEEFE 12 (15,648) —
Available-for-sale debt securities: net AHEEEHES
movement in fair value reserve N EBERKE
(Note (i) BEy S (A 3)) 12 — 2,840
Total comprehensive income AEEXEHREESE
for the year 73,240 78,419
Notes: B &

(i) The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 and HKFRS 9 at 1 January 2018. (i) FEBER=—F—NNF—F—HBERXRRH(EE
Under the transition methods chosen, comparative information is not BB EERDE 159 RCE B BHEERDE

restated. See Note 1(c).

9% c IRIXEBIERBIET % WEEIHEKE
# o BHFIC) °

(i) This amount arose under the accounting policies applicable prior to 1 January (i) U BRER = FE—\F—H—HBIEHR &

2018.

R ELE -

The notes on pages 105 to 209 form part of these financial statements. 51058 Z= 5209 8 & [ 5 # pk 81 7% i 3% &) — 26
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e B # IR R R

As at 31 December 2018 R-—ZE—N\E+=-_A=+—H

2018 2017
—E-N\EF —T—tF
(Note)
(K1 7E)
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B iF BT T BT T
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M- WEREZE 14(a) 26,587 25,996
Goodwill GRS 15(b) 9,976 9,976
Interest in associates PTG Bt &~ Al i 16 18,078 17,278
Other financial assets Hh B 75 & B 18 305,499 367,181
Deferred taxation IEIE T 18 8(b) 3,719 6,823
363,859 427,254
Current assets RBEE
Trade receivables and contract assets EWEREEHNEE 19 44,117 28,933
Other receivables, prepayments and H th e W OB - TR B
other contract costs K E A& # A 20 15,918 21,631
Other financial assets HmigEE 18 42,233 —
Deposits with bank RITHER 4,222 4,246
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEE 82,253 79,860
188,743 134,670
Current liabilities RBAE
Trade creditors, contract liabilities and ENER - AHAEEBER
other payables H th jE A~ 3008 21 194,222 200,101
Taxation 18 8(a) 3,241 4,097
197,463 204,198
Net current liabilities RBEEFE (8,720) (69,528)
Total assets less current liabilities EEABERRBERE 355,139 357,726
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Provision for long service payments RERE € BE 22 3,179 3,093
Deferred taxation IEER I 8(b) 1,203 223
4,382 3,316
NET ASSETS EEFE 350,757 354,410
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

e MBI K #)

As at 31 December 2018 R-—Z—N\E+=-A=+—8

2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—tF
(Note)
(K1 52)
Note HK$'000 HK$’000
M &t BT BT T

Capital and Reserves EXRFEE
Share capital % < 25(b)(i) 296,093 296,039
Reserves &% 54,664 58,371
TOTAL EQUITY R 350,757 354,410

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 and HKFRS 9 at 1 January 2018.  Hfit : ZEBHE R —F— N F—FH— H & A FH(EE

Under the transition methods chosen, comparative information is not BBEBREERDEISHER(EFNFHEERNDE
restated. See Note 1(c). 9% cRIBEEENBRET L WEEIHEKE

# o BHEEIC) -

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 26 HEFENR T —NF=F - +RHHENRRE

March 2019. N

Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, SBS., J.P. *E

Chairman ZJ3EE L sBS., P
TSE Kam Keung HITEFE

Executive Director 5 8838

The notes on pages 105 to 209 form part of these financial statements. 51058 Z= 55209 & & [ff 5T # pk 81 7% i 3k &) — 26
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
REERBBR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZEZE T —N\F+_A=1+—HILFE

Share Capital  Exchange Fair value Other  Retained Total
capital reserve reserve reserve reserve profits equity
AAREE

BRE  EBEAfREE ELRE A HtEE RKREEN BEEAE
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
Mt BETR BWTR BWTT BBTr E%Tr E%Tr  E%TR

As at 1 January 2017 R-E-+tF5-BF—H 295,870 4,169 336 (6,106) — 56,082 350,351
Changes in equity for 2017 ZE-tFNRAEREE
Dividends approved in respect of  FEE D HER B

the previous year 11 — — — — — (50,059) (50,059)
Issue of new shares BRI 25(b)(ii) 169 (27) — — - - 142
Equity-settled share-based PABR BB AR AR

transactions R 5 — 984 — — — - 984
Lapse of share options BRERM — (98) — — — 98 —
Profit for the year KEE 5T — — — — — 74,120 74,120
Other comprehensive income AFEEEM AR E

for the year — — 1,459 2,840 — — 4,299
Total comprehensive income AEEZANGEER

for the year — — 1,459 2,840 — 74,120 78,419
Dividends declared in respect of ~ AEETRFERLOKE

the current year 11 — — — — — (25,427) (25,427)

As at 31 December 2017 (Note) R=-Z—t&+=-A=+-H

(Hit) 296,039 5,028 1,795 (3,266) — 54,814 354,410

Impact on initial application of BRER(EERBREER)

HKFRS 9 FORMTE - — — 1,760 - (1,772) (12)
Adjusted balance as at R=ZZ-NF-A—-B#H

1 January 2018 TR 296,039 5,028 1,795 (1,506) — 53,042 354,398
Changes in equity for 2018 ZE-N\FHRAEZRE
Dividends approved in respect of  EEE D H R B

the previous year 11 — — — — — (50,062) (50,062)
Issue of new shares IR 25(b)/ii) 54 (5) = = = = 49
Equity-settled share-based PABR B B AR 17 R B

transactions HR 5 — 944 — — — - 944
Lapse of share options BREXY — (16) = = = 16 =
Profit for the year A A — — — — — 89,768 89,768
Other comprehensive income AEEEM 2R E

for the year — — (880)  (15,648) = — (16,528)
Total comprehensive income AEEZEUNGZEE

for the year — — (880) (15,648) — 89,768 73,240
Transfer to other reserve ERHEMEE — — — — 12 (12) =
Dividends declared in respect of ~ AFEERFERENKS

the current year 11 — — — — — (27,812) (27,812)
As at 31 December 2018 R=EB-NE+=A=+-H 296,093 5,951 915 (17,154) 12 64,940 350,757

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 and HKFRS 9 at 1 January 2018.  [fit + AEFER —F— )\ F—F— H B X EH(E#F

Under the transition methods chosen, comparative information is not B ERDFE 159 R(E BB HEERDE
restated. See Note 1(c). 9 o IRIFE EFER A E T Z  WHEESHERE

# e ZHTEE1(C) -

The notes on pages 105 to 209 form part of these financial statements.  $ 1058 % 52098 #Y ff & 1 B 81 7% 8 & &9 — &6

D e
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

RERTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #HZ_-_ZF—\F+_A=+—HIFE

2018 2017
=t —F— %
(Note)
(K7 7%)
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
M &t BET T BT T
Operating activities REEK
Profit before taxation R A5 Al g A 106,150 88,342
Adjustments for: -
Depreciation e 6(b) 6,893 6,270
Net loss/(gain) on disposals of property, HEWE - HEK&BE
plant and equipment B (Yez) F358 6(b) 10 (30)
Interest income B YA (15,152) (16,892)
Share of results of associates FriG B & R R EE (1,540) (2,415)
Equity-settled share-based payment LA B 45 8 30 DA IR 19
RETEE 6(a) 944 984
Net foreign exchange gain PE 3 W 2 5 58 6(b) (1,023) (3,298)
Net gain on disposal of available-for- HEAHHEEHESFN
sale debt securities W 588 5 — (1,463)
Gain on disposal of an associate & — S AR ke 5 (405) —
Impairment loss on trade receivables FEUEBR R E B 1B 6(b) 791 —
Impairment loss on other financial Hh B %8 ERE R A
assets 26(a) 156 8,242
Operating profit before changes in R ZEBEELEFHAH
working capital REBR 96,824 79,740
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables, JEUWBRFK - ANEE - H
contract assets, other receivables, fib JE U R 78 - TEAS FRIE
prepayments and other contract R E M E # KR
costs (& hn) /A (10,890) 3,715
Decrease in trade creditors, contract ERER - 6H8ER
liabilities and other payables H i FE S RRIE R (855) (2,577)
Decrease in customer deposits received B WEFIZEH D (5,921) (4,947)
Cash generated from operations REEENES 79,158 75,931
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid EREATEM (13,003) (11,360)
Net cash generated from operating RKEETEBELENRESFHE
activities 66,155 64,571

O
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement (Continued)

HEBRERER B

For the year ended 31 December 2018 HE-ZT—NF+_A=+—BIFE

2018 2017
=t B —T— %
(Note)
(K7 5%)
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
k3 ok BT T
Investing activities RETES
Proceeds from disposal of debt TESEREMEEKER
securities measured at FVOCI ANAEBEFENERE
F B IE 3,981 —
Proceeds from disposal of available-for- & &] #f & (& 15 &
sale debt securities Fri3 5K 18 — 254,025
Payment for purchase of available-for- 8 A AJ fit i & B &
sale debt securities FT 2 A~ 5/ 18 — (215,985)
Proceeds from sales of property, HEME  BER&FE
plant and equipment Fr 8 378 — 30
Payment for purchase of property, BEME BE R&#E
plant and equipment FT 2 4 5/ 18 (6,512) (6,044)
Interest received AL &R 16,222 17,874
Proceeds from disposal of an associate & B 4 A & 18 308 405 —
(Placement)/receipts of deposits with (FA)/ WE SR 1T 13 3%
bank (33) 690
Net cash generated from investing BRETBHFELERSFH
activities 14,063 50,590
Financing activities R ESEE
Proceeds from shares issued under BIEERE S ZITRGD
share option schemes Fr 18 318 49 142
Dividends paid to equity shareholders B4R AIRIERE B AH
of the Company s\ (77.874) (75,486)
Net cash used in financing METBMANRESFEE
activities (77,825) (75,344)
Net increase in cash and cash ReRESSHEEMFE
equivalents 2,393 39,817
Cash and cash equivalents as at R—A—HWEER
1 January Re%E 79,860 40,043
Cash and cash equivalents as at RT+TZA=+—-—HHWRS
31 December RREEE 82,253 79,860

Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 and HKFRS 9 at 1 January 2018.
Under the transition methods chosen, comparative information is not

restated. See Note 1(c).

The notes on pages 105 to 209 form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B R R M RE

1 Significant accounting policies

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards

("HKFRSs"”), which collective term includes all applicable
individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs"”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong

Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These
financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
(“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“SEHK"). Significant accounting policies adopted by
the Company and its subsidiaries (“the Group”)
discussed below.

are

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are
first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 7(c) provides information
on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent that they are
relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting
periods reflected in these financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2018 comprise the Group and the Group’s interest
in associates and a joint venture.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis, except for debt securities
measured at their fair value (Note 1(i)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which
form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

O

1 FESTHE

(a)

(b)
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

B 7% R Y A ()

1 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

(Continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods. Major sources of estimation uncertainty are disclosed in

Note 2.

At 31 December 2018, the Group had net current liabilities of
HK$8,720,000 (2017: HK$69,528,000). Notwithstanding the net
current liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2018, the
Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2018 has been prepared on a going concern basis
as the directors of the Group are of the opinion that the
Group would have sufficient funds to meet its obligations as
and when they fall due, having regard to the following:

i.  The Group will continue to generate positive operating cash

flows; and

ii. it is not expected that significant customer deposits are
required to be refunded in the next twelve months from

the end of the reporting period.

(c) Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued a number of new HKFRSs and
amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective for the current
accounting period of the Group. Of these, the following
developments are relevant to the Group’s consolidated

financial statements:

(i) HKFRS 9, Financial instruments

(i) HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers

(i) HK(IFRIC) 22, Foreign currency transactions and advance

consideration

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation

that is not yet effective for the current accounting period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

B 7% R Y A ()

1 Significant accounting policies 1 FESFTBEGE)

(Continued)
(c) EtBXEE (F)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

(i) HKFRS 9, Financial instruments (i) (BERMBBREEAFSR 24T
A
HKFRS 9 replaces HKAS 39, Financial instruments: (BEMBREE)BIRIMACE

recognition and measurement. It sets out the requirements
for recognising and measuring financial assets, financial
liabilities and some contracts to buy or sell non-financial
items.

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 retrospectively to items
that existed at 1 January 2018 in accordance with the
transition requirements. The Group has recognised the
cumulative effect of initial application as an adjustment to
the opening equity at 1 January 2018. Therefore,
comparative information continues to be reported under
HKAS 39.

The following table summarises the impact of transition to
HKFRS 9 on retained earnings and reserves and the related
tax impact at 1 January 2018.

BT ERDENR  2H T A
BRAE RN ER L E
YHEE MBEERETERF
FHEBANMER-

BRIBBERTE  NEEBKEENE
BEZEADFRBEPEANR-F
—NF-A—BFEFEMNIEAR - K&
EREREANZFZEERRY
- N\F-A—BWHBUERR
TERE - Fit - L BEMEEL(E
B ERDEINR RS -

TREINR-_Z-NE—-A—RHB
BE(EBM B REER)FNH
RE N R FEEOEEIARABRER

By 4B
B

Retained earnings =R HK$'000
BT T
Recognition of additional expected credit losses — FtLA TS IE#EREINEHREEEIE -
on:
— financial assets measured at fair value — BRAMEEHKRREAREEB
through other comprehensive income AENMIBEE (1,760)
— trade receivables — FEURBR K (163)
Related tax e IE 151
Net decrease in retained earnings at RZZE-—NF—A—HBHHREBEF
1 January 2018 R EE (1,772)
Fair value reserve ARBEEMEE HK$'000
BT
Recognition of additional expected credit losses B Z=ZF— /\F— A — B #ERFEI
on financial assets measured at fair value FREMBEERERANEBENE
through other comprehensive income at 1 M BEEMNESREEESE
January 2018 1,760

O — T \FFEHR EESBEFTEZERAA
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

5 7% & = Kt & (#)

1 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
(i) HKFRS 9, Financial instruments (Continued)

Further details of the nature and effect of the changes to
previous accounting policies and the transition approach
are set out below:

a.  Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities
HKFRS 9 categories financial assets into three principal
classification categories: measured at amortised cost,
at FVOCI and at fair value through profit or loss
("FVPL"). These supersede HKAS 39's categories of
held-to-maturity investments, loans and receivables,
available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets
measured at FVPL. The classification of financial assets
under HKFRS 9 is based on the business model under
which the financial asset is managed and its
contractual cash flow characteristics.

Debt securities held by the Group are classified as
FVOCI since the contractual cash flows of the
investment comprise solely payments of principal and
interest and the investment is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both the
collection of contractual cash flows and sale. Changes
in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive
income, except for the recognition in profit or loss of
expected credit losses, interest income (calculated
using the effective interest method) and foreign
exchange gains and losses. When the investment is
derecognised, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income is recycled from equity to profit
or loss.

1

TEETEHE(E)

(o EFBER2H ()
(i) (BERUBHEERES  2HT
A (#)
FHBEEARENEYINERY
BUNRBETENE - T BT
m

a.

BBEEERMBEEN S
(BB BImE LR FE A7
BEEDR=ZHEIEZHER
A REBHEAKR EREME
R EE AR BEIEBER
BARBEIFPLDEE - %
SHEHNMACERBGHERDE
TS HEHHMKRE -
SRR EMN A AT HER
BEEMEBRBRRAAEE
AENMBEE - BREBE(EEY
BHREEADFSR  MBEE
REBMBEENEBERR
HeWHAeREBE -

HRRENGHNRESRERR
AeRFMEMNK  BHFERE
B X B 5 R WIS 4
Renkib & AEEFEHN
BHEFREREBEME2E
WaHRARBEFE - 2AE
BER2HREMDE KR DHER
HERBEEER WA (2
ERMEEAE) RELBBER
EREMR - ERLIERRE
B REMEEkERAHE
HAEROREES -
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

B 7% R Y A ()

1 Significant accounting policies 1 ST (&)
(Continued)
(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued) () SsTB X2 (&)
(i) HKFRS 9, Financial instruments (Continued) (i) (EBMBRELEANFR 24T
A (#)
a.  Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities a HWHBEERHMBEBENSKE
(Continued) (#)
The following table shows the original measurement TRINTAEBRBE(EAGET
categories for each class of the Group’s financial EANEIRHZHRV B E
assets under HKAS 39 and reconciles the carrying EffEoE U BRE(EESE
amounts of those financial assets determined in FFERADERETNZEN
accordance with HKAS 39 to those determined in BEERBBR(EBMERELE
accordance with HKFRS 9. ANESRETENRMELR -
HKAS 39 HKFRS 9
carrying carrying
amount at amount at
31 December 1 January
2017 Reclassification ~ Remeasurement 2018
S EA) (BRUBRE
£39% £8)F95
RZE—+F RZE-N\E
TZA=+-H -A-AH
MEAE EHAE EiitE MEAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT
Financial assets carried at amortised ~ REHRAKHENHHFEE
cost
Trade receivables e 28,933 - (163) 28,770
Financial assets measured at FVOCI FRHEM2EAUBRAAE
BHENUEEE
Debt securities (Note) ERERMZ) — 367,181 — 367,181
Financial assets classified as available- 1R (E &5t £ 8l) £39%
for-sale under HKAS 39 (Vote) PERATREENBEE
(B2 367,181 (367,181) - -

Note: Under HKAS 39, debt securities were classified as
available-for-sale financial assets. These debt securities
are classified as FVOC| under HKFRS 9.

O

Bt - R B(E B & a1 £ A1) E39
R EHEZS A A E
EAFEE - RE(ZEHF
REBRDE  ZEEH
BE D HEREBRME AR
BEAAEEE -
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

B 7% R Y A ()

1 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
(i) HKFRS 9, Financial instruments (Continued)

Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities
(Continued)

For an explanation of how the Group classifies and
measures financial assets and recognises related gains
and losses under HKFRS 9, see respective accounting
policy notes in Notes 1(i), (k)(i), (m) and (t).

The measurement categories for all financial liabilities
remain the same. The carrying amounts for all
financial liabilities at 1 January 2018 have not been
impacted by the initial application of HKFRS 9.

The Group did not designate or de-designate any
financial asset or financial liability at FVPL at 1
January 2018.

Credit losses

HKFRS 9 replaces the “incurred loss” model in HKAS
39 with the “expected credit loss” (“ECL") model. The
ECL model requires an ongoing measurement of credit
risk associated with a financial asset and therefore
recognises ECLs earlier than under the “incurred loss”
accounting model in HKAS 39.

The Group applies the new ECL model to the
following items:

— financial assets measured at amortised cost

(including cash and cash equivalents and trade
and other receivables);

— contract assets as defined in HKFRS 15 (see Note
1(1)); and

— debt securities measured at FVOCI.

1 TESEEEE)

(o EFBER2H ()
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1 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
(i) HKFRS 9, Financial instruments (Continued)

b.

Credit losses (Continued)
For further details on the Group’s accounting policy
for accounting for credit losses, see Note 1(k)(i) and

().

The following table reconciles the closing loss
allowance determined in accordance with HKAS 39 as
at 31 December 2017 with the opening loss
allowance determined in accordance with HKFRS 9 as

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

51 7% ) & MY 5 (#)

TESHBEX (&)

() EFBRREH (F)
(i) (BEBUBHREERES 24T

A (&)

EEEE ()
EHRAEENEEBEARN S
HRNE—FFHE - RIF 1000 R
(i) »

R-ZZT—+&+_F=1+—HRE
(BEGHERDEIREENHR
FEREBERN_Z-N\F—-HF—H
RIBCE B Y B M E LR ESR &=

at 1 January 2018.

ENRBRBEFHHENAT

HK$'000
BT T
Loss allowance at 31 December 2017 RZE—tEFF+ZA=+—ARE
under HKAS 39 (BEBGTER)FEINRETHER
B —
Additional credit loss recognised at RZE-NF—A—HBHRATEE
1 January 2018 on: WRHEIMZEEIE -
— Financial assets measured at FVOCI — EREMEEKRRZALEME
AENMBEE 1,760
— Trade receivables — YRR 163
Loss allowance at 1 January 2018 RZZE—N\F—A—BRBE(GHEAEHY
under HKFRS 9 BRI FRE T N EBREE 1,923

O — T \FFEHR EESBEFTEZERAA
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

5 7% & = Kt & (#)

1 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
(i) HKFRS 9, Financial instruments (Continued)

c¢.  Transition

Changes in accounting policies resulting from the
adoption of HKFRS 9 have been applied
retrospectively, except as described below:

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited Annual Report 2018 @

Information relating to comparative periods has
not been restated. Differences in the carrying
amounts of financial assets resulting from the
adoption of HKFRS 9 are recognised in retained
earnings and reserves as at 1 January 2018.
Accordingly, the information presented for 2017
continues to be reported under HKAS 39 and
thus may not be comparable with the current
period.

The assessment on the determination of the
business model within which a financial asset is
held has been made on the basis of the facts and
circumstances that existed at 1 January 2018 (the
date of initial application of HKFRS 9 by the
Group).

If, at the date of initial application, the assessment
of whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition would have
involved undue cost or effort, a lifetime ECL has
been recognised for that financial instrument.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

51 7% ) & MY 5 (#)

1 Significant accounting policies 1 FESFTBEGE)
(Continued)

() EFBRREH (F)
(i) (<BEEBHBREER)EISH - X5

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
(ii) HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers

HKFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for
recognising revenue and some costs from contracts with
customers. HKFRS 15 replaces HKAS 18, Revenue, which
covered revenue arising from sale of goods and rendering
of services.

HKFRS 15 also introduces additional qualitative and
quantitative disclosure requirements which aim to enable
users of the financial statements to understand the nature,
amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows
arising from contracts with customers.

The adoption of HKFRS 15 does not have any material
impact on the financial position and the financial result of
the Group.

a. Timing of revenue recognition

Previously, revenue arising from provision of services
was recognised when services had been provided to
customers and subscription fees were recognised over
time, whereas revenue from sale of goods was
generally recognised at a point in time when the risks
and rewards of ownership of the goods had passed to
the customers.

O
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

5 7% & = Kt & (#)

1 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
(ii) HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

a.

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited Annual Report 2018 @

Timing of revenue recognition (Continued)

Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised when the
customer obtains control of the promised good or
service in the contract. This may be at a single point
in time or over time. HKFRS 15 identifies the following
three situations in which control of the promised good
or service is regarded as being transferred over time:

A.  When the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the entity’s
performance, as the entity performs;

B. When the entity’'s performance creates or
enhances an asset (for example work in progress)
that the customer controls as the asset is created
or enhanced;

C.  When the entity’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the entity and the
entity has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

If the contract terms and the entity’s activities do not
fall into any of these 3 situations, then under HKFRS
15 the entity recognises revenue for the sale of that
good or service at a single point in time, being when
control has passed. Transfer of risks and rewards of
ownership is only one of the indicators that is
considered in determining when the transfer of
control occurs.

The adoption of HKFRS 15 does not have a significant
impact on when the Group recognises revenue.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

51 7% ) & MY 5 (#)

1 Significant accounting policies 1 TESFBEE)
(Continued)

() EFBRREH (F)
(i) (<BEEBHBREER)EISH - X5

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
(ii) HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers

(Continued) EF &/ Wz (&)
b.  Significant financing component b. EABEHS

HKFRS 15 requires an entity to adjust the transaction
price for the time value of money when a contract
contains a significant financing component, regardless
of whether the payments from customers are received
significantly in advance of revenue recognition or
significantly deferred.

The change in accounting policy had no material
impact on the financial position and the financial
result of the Group.

Presentation of contract costs, assets and liabilities
Under HKFRS 15, a receivable is recognised only if the
Group has an unconditional right to consideration. If
the Group recognises the related revenue (see Note
1(d)) before being unconditionally entitled to the
consideration for the promised goods and services in
the contract, then the entitlement to consideration is
classified as a contract asset. Similarly, a contract
liability, rather than a payable, is recognised when a
customer pays consideration, or is contractually
required to pay consideration and the amount is
already due, before the Group recognises the related
revenue. For a single contract with the customer,
either a net contract asset or a net contract liability is
presented. For multiple contracts, contract assets and
contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are not
presented on a net basis (see Note 1(1)).

Previously, contract balances relating to contracts in
progress were presented in the statement of financial
position under “trade receivables” or “trade creditors
and other payables” respectively and the revenue was
recognised for the reasons explained in paragraph a.
above.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

5 7% & = Kt & (#)

1 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)
(ii) HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers

(Continued)

¢.  Presentation of contract costs, assets and liabilities
(Continued)
Under HKFRS 15, costs to fulfil a contract are
capitalised if the costs relate directly to an existing
contract or to a specifically identifiable anticipated
contract. Previously, these costs were presented in the
statement of financial position under “other
receivables and prepayments”.

To reflect these changes in presentation, the Group
has made the following adjustments at 1 January
2018, as a result of the adoption of HKFRS 15:

“Advances received” amounting to HK$14,295,000
which was previously included in trade creditors and
other payables (Note 27) are now included under
contract liabilities (Note 217).

“Costs incurred to fulfil customer contracts”
amounting to HK$6,709,000 which was previously
included in other receivables and prepayments (Note
20) are now included under other contract costs (Note
20).

(iii) HK(IFRIC) 22, Foreign currency transactions and

advance consideration

This interpretation provides guidance on determining “the
date of the transaction” for the purpose of determining
the exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income (or part of it) arising from
a transaction in which an entity receives or pays advance
consideration in a foreign currency.

The Interpretation clarifies that “the date of the
transaction” is the date on initial recognition of the non-
monetary asset or liability arising from the payment or
receipt of advance consideration. If there are multiple
payments or receipts in advance of recognising the related
item, the date of the transaction for each payment or
receipt should be determined in this way. The adoption of
HK(IFRIC) 22 does not have any material impact on the
financial position and the financial result of the Group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

51 7% ) & MY 5 (#)

gt IR (#)

1 Significant accounting policies 1
(Continued)

(d) Wz REMmEA

(d) Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises
from the sale of goods or the provision of services in the
ordinary course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service is
transferred to the customer, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.

Where the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the customer for
more than 12 months, revenue is measured at the present
value of the amount receivable, discounted using the discount
rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
with the customer, and interest income is accrued separately
under the effective interest method. Where the contract
contains a financing component which provides a significant
financing benefit to the Group, revenue recognised under that
contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. The Group takes
advantage of the practical expedient in paragraph 63 of HKFRS
15 and does not adjust the consideration for any effects of a
significant financing component if the period of financing is 12
months or less.

O

AEERKE-REBBETHEERK
RERBMELERADBERKEA -

REMBRBOZHEBE TEPE -
AEBZAERARURBNAZRES
HERNE  ETEERARE =77 KRR
MRS Wa T BEBENIERE
it 34 5 BB - WHIR R B ST Mg

=7
s ©

ﬁé%ﬁﬁﬁ@uﬁﬂ%1iﬁ@ﬁﬂ
BTREFPHRE D - Y Bl iR YR

BEMBRTEEFTE UEBRNEAR

FHERNER ST KRBT -
i AL A BIE B B R O% 8 B R
HeofMaNHEREEARENAETA
SENBARND  ZARHTHERNKRS
BREEBRERNTERANERTHE
BAERX - AEEER(EBHBRE
ERDFEISRFRMATHRE T EDN
B WEEHRI2MEAKIAT - I &
HEEBRBERD TEMZEONKE -

T \FFH ESBETEZAERAA



—0118

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

5 7% & = Kt & (#)

1 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(d) Revenue and other income (Continued)
Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

()

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited Annual Report 2018 @

Transaction fees, handling fees and registration fees
Revenue is recognised when the control over the services
have been transferred to customers.

Annual subscription fees
Revenue is recognised on a time-apportioned basis by
reference to the period of the subscription.

Sale of goods

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when the
control of the goods have been transferred to customers
and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Dividends

Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised
when the shareholder’s right to
established.

receive payment is

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method. For financial assets measured at
FVOCI that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest
rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset.
For credit-impaired financial assets, the effective interest
rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying
amount net of loss of the asset (see
Note 1(k)(i)).

allowance)

Services income

Services income is recognised when the control of the
relevant services have been transferred to customers and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.

When the outcome of a contract can be reasonably
measured, revenue from the contract is recognised
progressively over time using the cost-to-cost method, i.e.
based on the proportion of the actual costs incurred
relative to the estimated total costs.

When the outcome of the contract cannot be reasonably
measured, revenue is recognised only to the extent of
contract costs incurred that are expected to be recovered.
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1 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(d) Revenue and other income (Continued)
(vi) Services income (Continued)
If at any time the costs to complete the contract are
estimated to exceed the remaining amount of the
consideration under the contract, then a provision is
recognised in accordance with the policy set out in Note

1(0).

(e) Property, plant and equipment
The following items of property, plant and equipment are
stated in the statement of financial position at cost less
accumulated depreciation (or amortisation) and impairment
losses (Note 1(k)):

— buildings held for own use which are situated on leasehold
land, where the fair value of the building could be
measured separately from the fair value of the leasehold
land at the inception of the lease (see Note 1()));

— interest in leasehold land; and
— other items of plant and equipment.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an
item of property, plant and equipment are determined as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the item and are recognised in profit or loss on the
date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight line method over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

Leasehold improvements lower of 5 years or
the remaining term of

the lease

Platform hardware and software, 3-5 years

computer and office equipment

Motor vehicles 3 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Building 20 years
Leasehold land unexpired term of the
lease

o]
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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1 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(e) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

()
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Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated on a
reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its
residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the Group has power, only substantive rights
(held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances, transactions and cash flows and any unrealised profits
arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full in
preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised
losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in
the same way as unrealised gains but only to extent that there
is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary
not attributable directly or indirectly to the company, and in
respect of which the Group has not agreed any additional
terms with the holders of those interests which would result in
the Group as a whole having a contractual obligation in respect
of those interests that meets the definition of a financial
liability. For each business combination, the Group can elect to
measure any non-controlling interests either at fair value or at
the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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1 Significant accounting policies 1 FESFTBEGE)
(Continued)

(f) MR RRIFERES (B

(f) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

(Continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately from
equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company.
Non-controlling interests in the results of the Group are
presented on the face of the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit
or loss and total comprehensive income for the year between
non-controlling interests and the equity shareholders of the
company. Loans from holders of non-controlling interests and
other contractual obligations towards these holders are
presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated statement of
financial position in accordance with Note 1(n) depending on
the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not
result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the amounts of
controlling and non-controlling interests within consolidated
equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but no
adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is
recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial
asset (see Note 1(i) or, when appropriate, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate or joint venture
(see Note 1(g)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment
in a subsidiary is stated at cost less any impairment losses (see
Note 1(k)), unless the investment is classified as held for sale
(or included in a disposal group that is classified as held for
sale).
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1 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(g) Associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company has
significant influence, but not control or joint control, over its
management, including participation in the financial

operating policy decisions.

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the Group or
Company and other parties, contractually agree to share control
of the arrangement and have rights to the net assets of the

arrangement.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for in the consolidated financial statements under the equity
method, unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in a
disposal group that is classified as held for sale). Under the
equity method, the investment is initially recorded at cost,
adjusted for any excess of the Group’s share of the acquisition-
date fair values of the investee’s identifiable net assets over the
cost of the investment (if any). The cost of the investment
includes purchase price, other costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of the investment, and any direct investment into
the associate or joint venture that forms part of the group's
equity investment. Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for the
post acquisition change in the Group's share of the investee’s
net assets and any impairment loss relating to the investment
(see Notes 1(h) and (k)). Any acquisition-date excess over cost,
the Group’s share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the
investees and any impairment losses for the year are recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, whereas the
Group's share of the post-acquisition post-tax items of the
investees’ other comprehensive income is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the
associate or the joint venture, the Group's interest is reduced to
nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued except to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee. For
this purpose, the Group's interest is the carrying amount of the
investment under the equity method together with any other
long-term interests that in substance form part of the Group’s

net investment in the associate or the joint venture.
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1 Significant accounting policies 1
(Continued)

(g) Associates and joint ventures (Continued) (9) BELATREE QT (&)

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates and joint venture are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred, in which case they are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a
joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not
remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be accounted
for under the equity method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have significant
influence over an associate or joint control over a joint venture,
it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
investee, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit
or loss. Any interest retained in that former investee at the date
when significant influence or joint control is lost is recognised
at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on
initial recognition of a financial asset (see Note 1(i)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position, its
investments in associates and joint venture are stated at cost
less impairment losses (see Note 71(k)), unless classified as held
for sale (or included in a disposal group that is classified as
held for sale).
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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1 Significant accounting policies 1 FESHBEE)
(Continued)
(h) Goodwill (h) B8

Goodwill represents the excess of R

() the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration () EEBREMNQAAEME  PIEHEK
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in BARNERIFERERSERA
the acquiree and the fair value of the Group’s previously SERAMABEEEARRENAD
held equity interest in the acquiree; over NEENESTE BY

(i) the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and (i) RYWBEBBRHEMESRKEARD
liabilities measured as at the acquisition date. AHRAEERBBENATEFENS

o

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is recognised QA A & B8 A RN) - AR A & FE RN A

immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a bargain purchase. ERRRERAREAZEB AN K -

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses. BBRKAER X RREREEBIEE -

Goodwill arising on a business combination is allocated to each XBENMEENEEERIEEEE

cash-generating unit, or groups of cash generating units, that is ReErBSUNSHERSEESEMN(E

expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination and HeEEaMhRAMESE) TeEFHE

is tested annually for impairment (see Note 7(k)). AR (RAZF1K)) °

On disposal of a cash generating unit during the year, any RERNEHEE-—RESEEBMUR - HE

attributable amount of purchased goodwill is included in the HENERESHEENHELERIH

calculation of the profit or loss on disposal. BEREET AR AP o
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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1 Significant accounting policies 1 FESFTBEGE)
(Continued)
(i) Other investments in debt and equity securities (i) HHEBERAZTHFRE

The Group’s policies for investments in debt and equity
securities, other than investments in subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures, are set out below.

Investments in debt and equity securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group commits to purchase/sell
the investment. The investments are initially stated at fair value
plus directly attributable transaction costs, except for those
investments measured at fair value through profit or loss
("FVPL") for which transaction costs are recognised directly in
profit or loss. For an explanation of how the Group determines
fair value of financial instruments, see Note 26(e). These
investments are subsequently accounted for as follows,
depending on their classification.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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1 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(i) Other investments in debt and equity securities
(Continued)
(A) Policy applicable from 1 January 2018
Investments other than equity investments
Debt securities held by the Group are classified into one of
the following measurement categories:

— amortised cost, if the investment is held for the
collection of contractual cash flows which represent
solely payments of principal and interest. Interest
income from the investment is calculated using the
effective interest method (see Note 7(d)(v)).

— fair value through other comprehensive income
("FVOCI”), if the contractual cash flows of the
investment comprise solely payments of principal and
interest and the investment is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both the
collection of contractual cash flows and sale. Changes
in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive
income, except for the recognition in profit or loss of
expected credit losses, interest income (calculated
using the effective interest method) and foreign
exchange gains and losses. When the investment is
derecognised, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income is recycled from equity to profit
or loss.

— fair value at profit or loss (“FVPL") if the investment
does not meet the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVOCI. Changes in the fair value of
the investment (including interest) are recognised in
profit or loss.

2R (8)

HittEBRRAZHZRE (H)

() B=%—N\F— 8- BEANEE
ER KL 12 E
S B A8 B 0 A T

B 287 -

BREBHERAE  RERFERER
BHRERE  MAKAEAS
R A BT - B EPFEH B
AT ERBERME R E (R
1)) °

BAnBEAAELGEZEKE
UFVOCIJ) HEEMmA DR
EREBEERAE R ENK
H&ﬁ)ﬁﬁéﬁﬁ’w%ﬂﬁﬂﬂlﬁia
MBREREBREENEBERN
TRE-AABEETINEM
2EKREER EEACEES
1B RS (2 A BB A =%
HE )&ER%%EA?E@%EPEE
RoBRERBUEMER  NE
@ﬁﬁﬂﬁlm,\quE’J%%EfM*“&

ZEERa-

B BEEGARERSR
(TFVPL]) » I E 1T & R #
AR BRRA A BEFTA
Hi 2wl asrRE - REN
RAABELZE (BEFNB)RNIE
PR -

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited Annual Report 2018 @



Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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1 Significant accounting policies 1 FESFTBEGE)
(Continued)
(i) Other investments in debt and equity securities (i) HEBERAZTHKRE (H)
(Continued)
(A) Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (Continued) (A) BE-Z-N\E—A—BEANEXE
(&)

Equity investments BRARE
An investment in equity securities is classified as FVPL RRABHOIRE SRR E
unless the equity investment is not held for trading BEt ABHE  BRIERAKEZEWIFF
purposes and on initial recognition of the investment the EEERE BERVAEREKE
Group makes an election to designate the investment at K AEEEEETREREAR
FVOCI such that subsequent changes in fair value are BEF A KM 2R E L‘Xiﬁ(’&ﬁ
recognised in other comprehensive income. Such elections BENEEZDRAMEZEKE
are made on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but may ReBHEERTZRIAMEI 1’!55:'1
only be made if the investment meets the definition of HEEERTARRREFERERETE
equity from the issuer’s perspective. Where such an %HTF—H’EE RIEH A & &
election is made, the amount accumulated in other & - FE@%@H&E%%E’U%%#@
comprehensive income remains in the fair value reserve BRENRAREBEERE EE2KRE
until the investment is disposed of. At the time of %EZI:HEF%JJ: HER  RAREE
disposal, the amount accumulated in the fair value reserve REBRINESEEREZREEN
is transferred to retained earnings. It is not recycled MIFERBRRENE - R RAFE
through profit or loss. Dividends from an investment in %(Tﬁﬁ%ﬁiﬁﬁ?ﬁ’&ﬁfﬁﬁﬁf\?ﬁ
equity securities, irrespective of whether classified as at REEAALEBEFAELMDEKE)
FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised in profit or loss as other % & 0k % AR BT A 1(d)(v) PR
income in accordance with the policy set out in EHBCR N BR T ER A EAKA -
Note 1(d)(iv).

(B) Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018 B) R=Z—NFE—A—BAEANK

&

Investments in securities held for trading were classified as RFEEZRARNESREWBEAR
financial assets measured at FVPL. Any attributable EQ%‘CFTEJ)\TE SAPEMNERE
transaction costs were recognised in profit or loss as E TAEREXZRANELERE
incurred. At the end of each reporting period the fair Ba P HER REERSHR - &
value was remeasured, with any resultant gain or loss ENTERABE AE E'/]EJ%EA
being recognised in profit or loss. BEm R -

AEEEE %Abﬂ&nﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬂ
HAMEHESES eHEAR
EZRHAEFS - Tﬂﬁi@]ﬁﬂﬂ%
5 Th AR 55 PR AN R 2 R B B R 51 AR
(RAFIK) — R=ZF—N\F— A
—HAETEANBEK) °

Dated debt securities that the Group had the positive
ability and intention to hold to maturity were classified as
held-to-maturity securities. Held-to-maturity securities were
stated at amortised cost less impairment losses (see Note
1(k) — policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018).
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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1 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(i) Other investments in debt and equity securities

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited Annual Report 2018 @

(Continued)
(B) Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018 (Continued)

Investments which did not fall into any of the above
categories were classified as available-for-sale debt
securities. At the end of each reporting period the fair
value was remeasured, with any resultant gain or loss
being recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the fair value reserve.
As an exception to this, investments in equity securities
that did not have a quoted price in an active market for
an identical instrument and whose fair value could not
otherwise be reliably measured were recognised in the
statement of financial position at cost less impairment
losses (see Note 1(k)). Dividend income from equity
securities and interest income from debt securities
calculated using the effective interest method were
recognised in profit or loss in accordance with the policies
set out in Notes 1(d)(iv) and (v), respectively. Foreign
exchange gains and losses arising from debt securities
were also recognised in profit or loss. When the
investments were derecognised or impaired (see Note 1(k)
— policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018), the
cumulative gain or loss recognised in equity was
reclassified to profit or loss.

(j) Leased assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of
transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group determines that
the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific asset or
assets for an agreed period of time in return for a payment or
a series of payments. Such a determination is made based on
an evaluation of the substance of the arrangement and is
regardless of whether the arrangement takes the legal form of
a lease.

Assets that are held by the Group under leases which transfer
to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership are classified as being held under finance leases.
Leases which do not transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the Group are classified as operating
leases.
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1 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

()]

(k)

Leased assets (Continued)

Where the Group has the use of assets held under operating
leases, payments made under the leases are charged to profit
or loss in equal instalments over the accounting periods
covered by the lease term, except where an alternative basis is
more representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived
from the leased asset. Lease incentives received are recognised
in profit or loss as an integral part of the aggregate net lease
payments made. Contingent rentals are charged to profit or

loss in the accounting period in which they are incurred.

The cost of acquiring interest in leasehold land is amortised on
a straight-line basis over the period of the lease term.

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets
(A) Policy applicable from 1 January 2018

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECLs”) on the following items:

— financial assets measured at amortised cost
(including cash and cash equivalents and trade
and other receivables);

— contract assets as defined in HKFRS 15 (see Note
1(1)); and

— debt securities measured at FVOCI.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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1 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (Continued)
(A) Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value
of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference
between the cash flows due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls of fixed-rate financial
assets, trade and other receivables and contract assets
are discounted using effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition or an approximation thereof
where the effect of discounting is material.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs
is the maximum contractual period over which the
Group is exposed to credit risk.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

B 75 R 2% Bt 5E (@)
1 Significant accounting policies 1 FESFTBEGE)
(Continued)
(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued) (k) GESBREERE (H)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and contract () BESRMIAEREAHNEENEERE
assets (Continued) (&)

(A) Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (Continued) A) BE=F—NF—A—HEHH

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort. This includes
information about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from possible default events within the
12 months after the reporting date; and

— lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from all possible default events over the
expected lives of the items to which the ECL
model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract
assets are always measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors and an
assessment of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month ECLs
unless there has been a significant increase in credit
risk of the financial instrument since initial
recognition, in which case the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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1 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (Continued)
(A) Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument assessed at the
reporting date with that assessed at the date of initial
recognition. In making this reassessment, the Group
considers that a default event occurs when the
financial asset is 90 days past due. The Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

— failure to make payments of principal or interest
on their contractually due dates;

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in
a financial instrument’s external or internal credit
rating (if available);

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; and

— existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have
a significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability
to meet its obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or a collective
basis. When the assessment is performed on a
collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics, such as past
due status and credit risk ratings.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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1 Significant accounting policies 1 25 BUEK (M)
(Continued)
(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued) k) GEFEREERE (&)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and contract (i) BLRIARASHNEENESER
assets (Continued) (&)
(A) Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (Continued) (A) 5_ T )\ FE—F—HEH
F (&)

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is
recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss. The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account, except for investments in debt
securities that are measured at FVOCI, for which the
loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the fair value reserve.

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with Note
1(d)(v) is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross
carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial
asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a
financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is
credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:
— significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

— it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
into bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

— significant changes in the technological, market,

economic or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor; or
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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1 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (Continued)
(A) Policy applicable from 1 January 2018 (Continued)

— the disappearance of an active market for a
security because of financial difficulties of the
issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or
contract asset is written off (either partially or in full)
to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of
recovery. This is generally the case when the Group
determines that the debtor does not have assets or
sources of income that could generate sufficient cash
flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment
in profit or loss in the period in which the recovery
occurs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

51 7% ) & MY 5 (#)

1 Significant accounting policies 1 FESFTHEGE)

(Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued) k) GEFEREERE (&)
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and contract (i) BHERIAERESHVNEENEEEE
assets (Continued) (#&)
(B) Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018 B) R-ZFE—NF—HA—HF#EH

Prior to 1 January 2018, an “incurred loss” model was
used to measure impairment losses on financial assets
not classified as at FVPL (e.g. trade and other
receivables and available-for-sale investments). Under
the “incurred loss” model, an impairment loss was
recognised only when there was objective evidence of
impairment.

Objective evidence of impairment

included:

— significant financial difficulties of the debtor;
— a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

— it becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

— significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor; and

— a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value
of an investment in an equity instrument below
its cost.
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1 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (Continued)

(B) Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018 (Continued)

If any such evidence existed, an impairment loss was
determined and recognised as follows:

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited Annual Report 2018 @

For trade and other receivables and other financial
assets carried at amortised cost, impairment loss
was measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate,
where the effect of discounting was material. This
assessment was made collectively where these
financial assets shared similar risk characteristics,
such as similar past due status, and had not been
individually assessed as impaired. Future cash
flows for financial assets which were assessed for
impairment collectively were based on historical
loss experience for
characteristics similar to the collective group.

assets with credit risk

If in a subsequent period the amount of an
impairment loss decreased and the decrease could
be linked objectively to an event occurring after
the impairment loss was recognised, the
impairment loss was reversed through profit or
loss. A reversal of an impairment loss was only
recognised to the extent that it did not result in
the asset’s carrying amount exceeding that which
would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior years.

When the recovery of a trade debtor or other
financial assets carried at amortised cost was
considered doubtful but not remote, associated
impairment losses were recorded using an
allowance account. When the Group was satisfied
that recovery was remote, the amount considered
irrecoverable was written off against the gross
carrying amount of those assets directly.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
charged to the allowance account were reversed
against the allowance account. Other changes in
the allowance account and subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off directly were
recognised in profit or loss.
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1 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and contract
assets (Continued)

(B) Policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018 (Continued)

For available-for-sale investments, the cumulative
loss that had been recognised in the fair value
reserve was reclassified to profit or loss. The
that was
recognised in profit or loss was the difference
between the acquisition cost (net of any principal
repayment and amortisation) and current fair
value, less any impairment loss on that asset
previously recognised in profit or loss.

amount of the cumulative loss

Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss in
respect of available-for-sale equity securities were
not reversed through profit or loss. Any
subsequent increase in the fair value of such
assets was recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss in
respect of available-for-sale debt securities were
reversed if the subsequent increase in fair value
could be objectively related to an event occurring
after the impairment
Reversals of impairment such
circumstances were recognised in profit or loss.

loss was recognised.

losses in
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1 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets
Internal and external sources of information are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period to identify indications
that the following assets may be impaired or, except in the
case of goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised
no longer exists or may have decreased:

— property, plant and equipment;

— goodwill; and

— investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures in the Company's statement of financial
position.
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1 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets (Continued)

If any such

indication exists, the asset's recoverable

amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, intangible
assets that are not yet available for use and intangible
assets that have indefinite useful lives, the recoverable
amount is estimated annually whether or not there is any
indication of impairment.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of
its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. Where an asset does not generate cash
inflows largely independent of those from other
assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the
smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if
the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-
generating unit to which it belongs,
recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised in
respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated
to the cash-generating unit (or group of units) and
then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other
assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro rata
basis, except that the carrying value of an asset will
not be reduced below its individual fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if
determinable).

exceeds its
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1 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets (Continued)
— Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
favourable change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount. An impairment loss in respect
of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the
asset’s carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
in prior years. Reversals of impairment losses are
credited to profit or loss in the year in which the
reversals are recognised.

(iii) Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the Group is
required to prepare an interim financial report in
compliance with HKAS 34, Interim financial reporting, in
respect of the first six months of the financial year. At the
end of the interim period, the Group applies the same
impairment testing, recognition, and reversal criteria as it
would at the end of the financial year (see Notes 1(k)(i)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in
respect of goodwill are not reversed in a subsequent
period. This is the case even if no loss, or a smaller loss,
would have been recognised had the impairment been
assessed only at the end of the financial year to which the
interim period relates.

(I) Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises
revenue (see Note 1(d)) before being unconditionally entitled to
the consideration under the payment terms set out in the
contract. Contract assets are assessed for expected credit losses
("ECL") in accordance with the policy set out in Note 1(k) and
are reclassified to receivables when the right to the
consideration has become unconditional (see Note 7(m)).
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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1 Significant accounting policies 1
(Continued)

() EREEREGNEE R

(I) Contract assets and contract liabilities (Continued)

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue
(see Note 1(d)). A contract liability would also be recognised if
the Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration
before the Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases,
a corresponding receivable would also be recognised (see Note

1(m)).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple
contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated
contracts are not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing component,
the contract balance includes interest accrued under the
effective interest method (see Note 7(d)).

Policy prior to 1 January 2018

In the comparative period, contract balances relating to
contracts in progress were presented in the statement of
financial position under “trade creditors and other payables”.
This balance has been reclassified on 1 January 2018 as shown
in Note 21 (see Note 1(c)(ii)).
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

B 7% R Y A ()

1 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(m) Trade and other receivables
A receivable s

unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to receive
consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time is

required before payment of that consideration
revenue has been

presented as a contract asset (see Note 1(1)).

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective

interest method less allowance for credit

Note 1(k)(i)).

(n) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value
and subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated

at cost.
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losses

recognised when the Group has

is due.
recognised before the Group has an
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

51 7% ) & MY 5 (#)

1 Significant accounting policies 1 FESFTHEGE)
(Continued)

(o) BRERIEAME

(o) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to
settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements
in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised
in profit or loss except to the extent that they relate to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at
the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and
taxable temporary differences respectively, being the differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax
assets also arise from unused tax losses and unused tax credits.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

5 7% & = Kt & (#)

1 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(p) Income tax (Continued)

All deferred tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the asset can be utilised, are
recognised. Future taxable profits that may support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences include those that will arise from the
reversal of existing taxable temporary differences, provided
those differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in the
same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising
from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward.
The same criteria are adopted when determining whether
existing taxable temporary differences support the recognition
of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and
credits, that is, those differences are taken into account if they
relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable
entity, and are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in
which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on
the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the
carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any
such reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each other
and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset against current
tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against deferred tax
liabilities, if the Company or the Group has the legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and the following additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Company
or the Group intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

51 7% ) & MY 5 (#)

1 Significant accounting policies 1 25 BUEK (M)
(Continued)
(p) Income tax (Continued) (p) B (&)

in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either:

— the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities
or assets are expected to be settled or recovered,
intend to realise the current tax assets and settle the
current tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.

(q) Employee benefits
(i) Short term employee benefits and contributions to

defined contribution retirement plans

Short term employee benefits are employee benefits that
are due to be settled within twelve months after the end
of the period in which the employees render the related
service. Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans and
the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year
in which the associated services are rendered by
employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred and
the effect would be material, these amounts are stated at
their present values.

Share based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees is
recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding
increase in a capital reserve within equity. The fair value is
measured at grant date using the Black-Scholes model,
taking into account the terms and conditions upon which
the options were granted. Where the employees have to
meet vesting conditions before becoming unconditionally
entitled to those share options, the total estimated fair
value of the share options is spread over the vesting
period, taking into account the probability that the options
will vest.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

5 7% & = Kt & (#)

1 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(q) Employee benefits (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited Annual Report 2018 @

Share based payments (Continued)

During the vesting period, the number of share options
that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting
adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in prior
years is charged/credited to the profit or loss for the year
of the review, unless the original employee expenses
qualify for recognition as an asset, with a corresponding
adjustment to the capital reserve. On vesting date, the
amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the
actual number of share options that vest (with a
corresponding adjustment to the capital reserve) except
where forfeiture is only due to not achieving vesting
conditions that relate to the market price of the
Company's shares. The equity amount is recognised in the
capital reserve until either the option is exercised (when it
is included in the amount recognised in share capital for
the shares issued) or the option expires (when it is
released directly to retained profits).

Provision for long service payments

Provision is made for potential long service payment
obligations that may arise upon cessation of employment
of the Group’s employees in the future, to the extent that
there is a reasonable probability that the amounts are likely
to become payable. Such provisions are made on a
systematic basis, taking into consideration the salary and
years of service of the employees who may qualify for such
payments in the future based on their past services
rendered.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

51 7% ) & MY 5 (#)
1 Significant accounting policies 1 FESFTBEGE)
(Continued)
(r) Translation of foreign currencies (r) ShiEmE

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. The
transaction date is the date on which the Group initially
recognises such non-monetary assets or liabilities. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies that are stated at fair value are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was
measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates approximating the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions.
Statement of financial position items, including goodwill arising
on consolidation of foreign operations acquired on or after 1
January 2005, are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
closing foreign exchange rates at the end of the reporting
period. The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated separately in
equity in the exchange reserve.
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O

% o

T \FFH ESBETEZAERAA



—0148

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

B 7% R Y A ()

1 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(s) Related parties
For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are
considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or the Group's parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of
a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.
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1 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(s) Related parties (Continued)

(t)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies: (Continued)

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in Note 1(s)(a).

(vii) A person identified in Note 1(s)a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of
the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition. Cash and cash
equivalents are assessed for ECL in accordance with the policy
set out in Note 1(k).
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

5 7% & = Kt & (#)

1 Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

(u) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s

various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority

of these criteria.

(v) Other contract costs

Other contract costs are either the incremental

obtaining a contract with a customer or the costs to fulfil a
contract with a customer which are not capitalised as
inventory, property, plant and equipment (see Note 1(e)) or

intangible assets.

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that
the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it
would not have incurred if the contract had not been obtained
e.g. an incremental sales commission. Incremental costs of
obtaining a contract are capitalised when incurred if the costs
relate to revenue which will be recognised in a future reporting
period and the costs are expected to be recovered. Other costs

of obtaining a contract are expensed when incurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

51 7% ) & MY 5 (#)

1 Significant accounting policies 1 FESFTBEGE)
(Continued)

(v) Hit & H A (&)

(v) Other contract costs (Continued)

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the costs relate
directly to an existing contract or to a specifically identifiable
anticipated contract; generate or enhance resources that will be
used to provide goods or services in the future; and are
expected to be recovered. Costs that relate directly to an
existing contract or to a specifically identifiable anticipated
contract may include direct labour, direct materials, allocations
of costs, costs that are explicitly chargeable to the customer
and other costs that are incurred only because the Group
entered into the contract (for example, payments to sub-
contractors). Other costs of fulfilling a contract, which are not
capitalised as inventory, property, plant and equipment or
intangible assets, are expensed as incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Impairment losses are
recognised to the extent that the carrying amount of the
contract cost asset exceeds the net of (i) remaining amount of
consideration that the Group expects to receive in exchange for
the goods or services to which the asset relates, less (ii) any
costs that relate directly to providing those goods or services
that have not yet been recognised as expenses.

Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is charged to profit or
loss when the revenue to which the asset relates is recognised.
The accounting policy for revenue recognition is set out in
Note 1(d).
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

5 7% & = Kt & (#)

Accounting estimates and judgements

Key sources of estimation uncertainty in relation to the preparation
of these financial statements are as follows:

Revenue recognition

As explained in policy Note 1(d), revenue from provision of certain
services is recognised over time. Such revenue and profit recognition
on uncompleted projects is dependent on estimating the total
outcome of the contract, as well as the work done to date. Based
on the Group's recent experience and the nature of the services
undertaken by the Group, the Group has made estimates of the
point at which it considered the work was sufficiently advanced
such that the outcome of the contract can be reasonably measured.
Until this point is reached the related contract assets disclosed in
Note 19 do not include profit which the Group might eventually
realise from the work done to date. In addition, actual outcomes in
terms of total cost or revenue may be higher or lower than
estimated at the end of the reporting period, which would affect
the revenue and profit recognised in future years as an adjustment
to the amounts recorded to date.

Goodwill

Note 15(b) discloses management’s judgement in relation to the
identification of the Group’s E-Commerce segment as the
appropriate cash generating unit for goodwill impairment
assessment. Further to that, management takes into consideration
the projected volume and activity level and cash flows of the
E-Commerce businesses, discounted to present value at a risk-
adjusted discount rate. These projections are based on assumptions
that take into consideration management’'s knowledge of the
business environment and their judgement on future performance.
There is inherent uncertainty in the estimation process and the
underlying assumptions relating to the future, and accordingly
actual performance may differ significantly from the projection.
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2 Accounting estimates and judgements

(Continued)

Investments in associates

The Group reviews internal and external sources of information at
the end of each reporting period to identify indications that the
Group’s interest in Guangdong Nanfang Haian Science &
Technology Service Company Limited (“Nanfang”), an associate of
the Group (Note 16), may be impaired or an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may have decreased. The
Group estimates the interest in Nanfang'’s recoverable amount when
any such indication exists. The recoverable amount of the interest in
Nanfang, or of the cash-generating unit to which it belongs, is the
greater of its net selling price and value in use. In assessing
whether there is any impairment in the carrying value of the
Group’s interest in Nanfang, management may take into
consideration the projected volume and activity level, future growth
rate, and cash flows of the underlying business of Nanfang,
discounted to present value at the risk-adjusted discount rate. These
projections are based on assumptions that take into consideration
management’s knowledge of Nanfang’s business environment and
their judgement on future performance and underlying risks. There
is inherent uncertainty in the estimation process and the underlying
assumptions relating to the future, and accordingly actual
performance may differ significantly from the projection.

Investments in debt securities

The Group recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL on
the investment in debt securities measured at FVOCI because there
has not been a significant increase in credit risk of the debt
securities since initial recognition. As explained in Note 1(k)(i)(A),
ECL is remeasured at each reporting date to reflect changes in the
debt securities’ credit risk since initial recognition. In measuring ECL,
the Group takes into account reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort. This
includes information about past events,
forecasts of future economic conditions.

current conditions and

O
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2 Accounting estimates and judgements

(Continued)

Investments in debt securities (Continued)

The evaluation of credit risk of a debt security requires analysis of
the credit standing of a particular issuer and involves management
judgement. When assessing credit risk of debt securities, the Group
places emphasis on issuer specific factors, such as significant
financial difficulty, default or delinquency on interest or principal
payments. A credit rating downgrade, worsened liquidity or decline
in fair value below the amortised cost is not by itself considered a
loss event, but rather incorporated in the credit risk analysis along
with other available information. Particular attention will be on
those individual debt securities for which there was a cumulative
fair value loss at each reporting date.

In the comparative period, an investment in available-for-sale debt
security was considered impaired if there was objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more occurred loss events that had
an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the investment in
available-for-sale debt security. The Group determined that there
was objective evidence of impairment of an available-for-sale debt
security, if at the reporting date, there had been a significant
decline in the fair value of an available-for-sale security or any loss
events.

a5 & K i (&)

REBEFZNRE (H)

HEBESNTETESMBERTANE
RO - 8 R E TR E M - R A ER
ErmEERRE  REBEBRFETANA
BEX MERUBHHE BHLERFE
AL - FEAFRTRE RBUEB(LKIA
BETEMERBRRARG THRERER
= MEEAEGATAEN-REAASEER
RO FRHIEESERSANAERMA
REEBBENEBE S

RIS HE MRAR-HXZREELED
BEEHETHEEEBBESFRENEN K
RREEREXE DATBEEBRRATHY
EEBELFNREELRE - AEBRR
MRERER  AHBEEBESOAIAE
EBEEBRZTR EABREMHEL B
BEEBERRANHEEEBEFELRE -




3 Revenue

The principal activity of the Group is the provision of Government
Electronic Trading Services (“GETS"”) for processing certain official
trade-related documents. The principal activities of the subsidiaries
are set out in Note 75 to the financial statements.

Revenue represents the value of services provided and goods
supplied to customers. All of the Group’s revenue is within the
scope of HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers. The
amount of each significant category of revenue recognised during
the year is disclosed in Note 4.

Details of concentrations of credit risk arising from customers are
set out in Note 26(a).

Segment reporting

The Board of Directors of the Group reviews the internal reporting
by segments to assess performance and allocate resources. The
Group has identified the following reportable segments:
E-Commerce: This segment generates income from processing
government trade-related documents and supply
chain solutions.

Identity Management
(previously known as  of security products, digital certificates, security
Security Solutions): solutions and biometric-based authentication

solutions for identity management.

This segment generates income from the provision

Other Services: This segment comprises handling fees for the
conversion of paper form to electronic messages,
income from the provision of technical support

and other project services.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments
with reference to fees and sales generated and the expenses
incurred by those segments. The measure used for reporting
segment results is profit before interest, taxation and depreciation.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the sub-segments of
E-Commerce, being GETS and Commercial Services for the
processing of government trade-related documents and the
business-related documents respectively, were reported. For the year
ended 31 December 2018, the two sub-segments were presented as
E-Commerce segment in the view of the strategic development of
our overall E-Commerce business for the trade and logistics industry
in the light of the changing operating environment.

O
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4 Segment reporting (Continued) 4 7 EBER & (&)
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by timing RERKEFHEINzZEPEHNKE Rk
of revenue recognition, as well as information regarding the REFESTSUIEELERDE LD BRRTE
Group’s reportable segments results as provided to the Board of NEBAEEHE T N\FER_T—+tF
Directors for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of T A= —RALEFEAZ2RDIBERINH
segment performance for the years ended 31 December 2018 and IR o

2017 are set out below.

31 December 2018
—E-N\E+=ZA=+—H
Identity Other

E-Commerce Management Services Total
ETHE SHEE H i iR 75 At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT B¥ETT B¥T T BT

Disaggregated by timing of & R Wk B B 2 5
revenue recognition

Point in time Bl B 158,409 27,353 18,378 204,140
Over time & B 33,305 29,990 4,495 67,790
Revenue from external # o W =

customers 191,714 57,343 22,873 271,930
Inter-segment revenue 2 0 R k% — 7,823 12,266 20,089
Reportable segment revenue 7] 2 3§ % B W 191,714 65,166 35,139 292,019
Elimination of inter-segment 85 o 7 R s

revenue (20,089)
Consolidated revenue HReEWlaE 271,930
Reportable segment profit A 2 5 2B & 72,730 7,593 14,756 95,079
Interest income B U A 15,152
Other net income Hoh U 2= 5 58 405
Depreciation e (6,893)
Impairment loss on other Hmbi s & EREEE

financial assets (156)
Share of results of associates — PTih Bt & N A %48 1,540
Unallocated corporate income & 9 B2 U A 1,023

Consolidated profit before %% & BR #i A 3% F
taxation 106,150
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4 Segment reporting (Continued) 4 pEHBE (&)

31 December 2017
—E-tFT=A=+—8

Identity Other
E-Commerce Management Services Total
BEFEE HHEIR H A AR 75 e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T ok e BT T
Disaggregated by timing of &% R Wk & B B 2 5
revenue recognition
Point in time Bl B 154,061 23,946 16,138 194,145
Over time B& B 28,620 16,174 2,891 47,685
Revenue from external # oW =
customers 182,681 40,120 19,029 241,830
Inter-segment revenue 7 BB Uk 25 — 7,819 12,923 20,742
Reportable segment revenue ] 2 % % B W 5 182,681 47,939 31,952 262,572
Elimination of inter-segment & 5% 2F FE Yo =%
revenue (20,742)
Consolidated revenue mEe s 241,830
Reportable segment profit & 2 | 5 &8 % F 61,508 5,845 11,433 78,786
Interest income B A 16,892
Other net income H b 5 F R 1,463
Depreciation e (6,270)
Impairment loss on other HiWBEERBEER
financial assets (8,242)
Share of results of associates — Fr{hEt & QA 7 45 2,415
Unallocated corporate income & 9 B2 1 E A 3,298
Consolidated profit before %R & BRBi A1 % R
taxation 88,342

O — T \FFEHR EESBEFTEZERAA

157 &—



Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

B 7% R Y A ()

4 Segment reporting (Continued)

(i) Revenue expected to be recognised in the future
arising from contracts with customers in existence
at the reporting date
The aggregated amount of the transaction price allocated to
the remaining performance obligations under the Group's
existing contracts as at the reporting date and the expected
contract completion time are set out below:

4 7EHE (&)

() REERRBEEFEITNENHE

SR R 2R A R B2 A0 W &
REER  DEEXAEEREAHEAT

BB TRANEENRHEREERTEASR
BHTREREBINMAT

Expected contract completion time
Within 1 year

AMENTREH
—FNR

After 1 year but not more than 2 years —F B Z W E

2018
—s-N%

HK$'000
BET T

Note (a)Hf i£(a)
58,162

(Note (c)(H17#(c)

2017

T —tF
HK$'000

BT T

Note (b)1iE(b)
Note (b)/ff &£ (b)

Notes

loga

(@) As permitted by HKFRS 15, the transaction price for contracts with
an original expected duration of one year or less is exempt from
disclosure due to practical expedient.

(b) As permitted by HKFRS 15, the transaction price for comparative
year is exempt from disclosure due to transition to new accounting
standards in the current year.

(c)  This amount represents revenue expected to be recognised in the
future mainly for the supplies of goods to our solution contracts
entered into by the customers with the Group. The Group will
recognise the expected revenue in future when or as the
performance obligations are satisfied, which are expected to occur
over the next 12 to 24 months.

(ii) Geographic information
No geographic information is shown as the revenue and
operating profit of the Group is substantially derived from
activities in Hong Kong.

5 Other net income

(a)

E(ERHMBIREER)E 1R A
HEAEFAT REBMFHRR—FX
NTAHNNRZERERCHRE -

(R EM B HE LD E1SHAH S5
RERBETEFAT AFEEMLBRF
EHERERRIE -

AEBEFEPRRS TRIANKE - =
EREFPEASHEITUNBRTEAH
M RE A & o 7R 5 B TR AR R k12
2418 A AFETT IR 4 B (E R R TR B UK

25 o

(i) HEE R
B AN £ 8 48 X BB 0 e I AR 2 0 ) 1S
REBBEY Rt E2INERER -

5 HthlsmFHE

2018 2017

—E-N\E —ET—+tF

HK$’'000 HK$'000

BYET T ST I

Gain on disposal of an associate & — S AR K 405 —
Net gain on disposal of available-for-sale HEAHEHEEBESD

debt securities ek — 1,463

405 1,463
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6 Profit before taxation

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

6 BR®

BBAEFNE NG GEA)

51 7% ) & MY 5 (#)

DL A2

A 25 F

2017
—ET—tF
(Note)
(K7 2%)
HK$’'000 HK$'000
B¥ T BT T
(@)  Staff costs: (@ [EEMRAK:
Contributions to defined FREHFRKE B
contribution retirement plan G 3,116 2,882
Equity-settled share-based payment A B #E #5 B0 DA RR 19
expenses BERITHHRX 944 984
Salaries, wages and other benefits e IERHMBERN 110,082 101,741
114,142 105,607
(b)  Other items: (by H#IERE:
Auditors’ remuneration % B AT BN & 1,033 957
Depreciation e
— interest in leasehold land held — FEEBEMNEE
for own use (Note 14(a)) + i BE 55
(i it14@)) 142 142
— other property, plant and — HMWE R
equipment (Note 14(a)) B
(i it14@)) 6,751 6,128
Impairment loss on trade receivables FEW BR FOR B B 18
(Note 26 (a) (1 7t26(a)) 791 —
Operating lease charges in respect MENKEHERS
of properties 1,415 1,416
Net foreign exchange gain PE WUz F RE (1,023) (3,298)
Net loss/(gain) on disposals of HEME BE KR
property, plant and equipment HEHEER/ (k)
F R 10 (30)
Note: The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 and HKFRS 9 at 1 January Mt FAEEER-ZF—NF—HA—HBEIFK

2018. Under the transition methods chosen, comparative information

/s not restated. See Note 1(c).

BB ERDE 155 R(EBH
5 ERDEIN - IRIFEEEFEH BK
T 0% WAEBFLEKEH o ZHTE(C) -
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REBEBRNAEHR

7 Income tax in the consolidated 7
statement of profit or loss

(a) FEBERNHBES :

(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss represents:

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited Annual

(b)

2018 2017
=E-N\F —T—tF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T BT T

Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax KEEEBNEHEE
for the year 12,117 12,301
Provision for overseas taxes for the year 7N4F & /& 9N T8 5 35 25
Over-provision in respect of prior years LA fE & & B 58 5 (5) (10)
Deferred taxation IR AR TE 4,235 1,906
16,382 14,222

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2018 is calculated
at 16.5% (2017: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for
the year. Taxation for overseas subsidiaries is charged at the

appropriate current rates of taxation ruling in the relevant

countries.

Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting

profit at applicable tax rates:

“E-N\FNEBNEHBEDRFE
HEERTUEFNM16.5% (ZF — 4
16.5% ) 5T & ° MM E R BRI IR IR AR
FBERAERBRITH U -

(b) ZEARBRAHENHEAIHESS
AR

2018 2017

—E-N\F —EF—tF

HK$’'000 HK$'000

ok BT T

Profit before taxation B A5 A1 4 ) 106,150 88,342

Notional tax on profit before taxation, 18 1% A8 B8 B 5K i A &9 Fr 1S ¢
calculated at the rates applicable to =R AR R EH

profits in the countries concerned HEMIE 17,319 14,601

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses A R F X MR 5 2 & 929 401

Tax effect of non-taxable revenue FERBBENH L (1,529) (1,098)
Tax effect of unused tax losses not RERRDABEEED

recognised B e 3 915
Tax effect of prior years’ unrecognised {F AT FE R ERTIE

tax losses utilised EENORBETE (206) (2)
Tax effect of temporary differences not K & 32 B B 14 2= 2 &) T 75

recognised za — (572)

One-off tax reduction —RBIE (129) (40)

Over-provision in respect of prior years A ¥ 4 & B 48 % 5 (5) (10)

Other differences HthEgE — 27

Actual tax expense ERHIEX H 16,382 14,222

Report 2018 @



8

Income tax in the consolidated
statement of financial position

(@) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of
financial position represents:

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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8 ZEMBMRRRNAEH

() FEMBRARNWAHABIESR :

2017
—F—tF
HK$'000
BT T
Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax REEBBFISBEE

for the year 12,117 12,301
Provisional Profits Tax paid BN EHFEH (9,068) (8,361)
3,049 3,940

Balance of overseas tax provision relating LATE 4F [Z /8 51N 55 18 5 5 45 &
to prior years 157 132
Provision for overseas taxes for the year N4 [ /& S 18 % 15 35 25
3,241 4,097

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:

The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position and the
movements during the year are as follows:

(b) ERANEEBREERERE !

EREEMBRRARERNELRIEE
E/(BENERFD RFAREEH N

T
Depreciation
allowances
in excess of Credit
related loss
depreciation Tax losses allowance Total
Deferred tax arising from: TEER FEBE
RETIEENELERE: BHABETE REKE B @t
(Note)
(K t)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BETR BETR BETR
As at 1 January 2017 RZT—t§—H—H 414) 8,920 — 8,506
Credited/(charged) to profit or loss SR KA/ (R) 191 (2,097) - (1,906)
As at 31 December 2017 R-Z-t§+=B=+-H (223) 6,823 — 6,600
Impact on initial application BERER(EERBREER)
of HKFRS 9 FORMTE — — 151 151
As at 1 January 2018 R-Z-N¥-A-H (223) 6,823 151 6,751
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss ~ MBHEF (1K) /A (980) (3,323) 68 (4,235)
As at 31 December 2018 R=ZZB-NE+=ZA=+-H (1,203) 3,500 219 2,516
Note: Upon the initial application of HKFRS 9, the Group has recognised Hiet - B JE (B FE 3R 2 kBl E9

deferred tax assets on the additional credit losses recognised

under the ECL model.

R KEEEREEA = EERA
RARBEET REEEZBIER
BB -
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Income tax in the consolidated
statement of financial position
(Continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:

(c)

(Continued)

8 #x

EUBRRRNFAER

(%)

(b)

CRANEEREEERER
(&)

2018 2017
—E-N\EF e
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Representing: il
Deferred tax assets on the e MBARRAERAD
consolidated statement of financial ELERIRE E
position 3,719 6,823
Deferred tax liabilities on the e MBARRERAH
consolidated statement of financial ELEHIBEAE
position (1,203) (223)
2,516 6,600

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has total tax
losses of HK$33,977,000 (2017: HK$55,346,000). In accordance
with the accounting policy set out in Note 7(p), deferred tax
assets have been recognised in respect of HK$21,211,000
(2017: HK$41,348,000) of such losses. Based on a forecast
prepared by management, future taxable profits against which
the losses can be utilised will be available in foreseeable future.
The tax losses do not expire under current tax legislation.

Deferred tax assets not recognised:

The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of
cumulative tax losses of HK$12,766,000 (2017: HK$13,998,000)
as it is not probable that future taxable profits against which
the losses can be utilised will be available. The tax losses do
not expire under current tax legislation.

(c)

RBEER AEBNRIEBEREA
7 33,977,000 (Z T — = F : B &
55,346,0007T) ° IRIEA iF1(p) TS M &
FPE B FEE e B 21,211,000
TL(ZF — -+ F : B %41,348,0007T)
RECEHBEE BEEEEMERE
B - AT R 2R BT B A R 2R R AR A s A
LABE SH 5 18 - IRIBIR TR E AR - BB
BETENEA -

AERNEEHEEE

AEB T ERRFHEEEBE
12,766,000t (= & — £ F: & ¥
13,998,00070) RELERBEE ' RE
BRARRDTRAIEIRGERBE RIS
ZEEESUNER BEBERITHEBE
HoHEEETESEHA -




9 Directors’ and chief executive’s
emoluments

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation is

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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9 EERTTHARME

BIEBEBC(RREA)E3MER D F (KR E
EFMEERROE2HBEENEFH W
T~

as follows:
Basic salary,
allowances Contributions
and other to retirement Share-based 2018
benefits schemes payments Total
Exfe-
)33 PYLp) —E-N\F
e REMEN BARGEHSR AL ERHXIM @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BT BYBTT BRI BYTT BT BBTT
Executive directors HiTEZ
TSE Kam Keung kL — 4,896 18 2,930 286 8,130
CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew L3 = 2,868 18 334 122 3,342
CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily EERE - 2,556 18 693 135 3,402
Non-executive directors FHTES
LEE Nai Shee, Harry e 110 — — — — 110
LEE Delman FEK 75 — — — — 75
YING Tze Man, Kenneth HFX 85 — — — — 85
YUEN Wing Sang, Vincent KA 45 — — — — 45
Independent non-executive BYIFHTES
directors
CHAK Hubert Bl 330 - — - — 330
CHAN Chi Yan BRERE 310 = = = - 310
CHAU Tak Hay RER 350 = = = = 350
CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy Gl 370 — — — — 370
HO Lap Kee, Sunny 330 — — — — 330
Total @t 2,005 10,320 54 3,957 543 16,879
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9 Directors’ and chief executive’s 9 EERITHARME (&)
emoluments (Continued)

Basic salary,  Contributions

allowances and  to retirement Share-based 2017

Fees  other benefits schemes Bonus* payments Total
EX%S

EE LA & —T—t#E

[k REMBF RKGEIGR TEaT~ ERMIH @t

HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000

BET T BETT BETT BETT BET T BETT

Executive directors HTES
TSE Kam Keung EifE — 4,833 18 2,785 208 7,844
CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew gl — 2,780 18 347 140 3,285
CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily EBE — 2,464 18 685 164 3,331
LI Fuk Kuen, Wilfred ZREM-Z—tERA
(retired as executive director on T-REFRTES)
11 May 2017) - 741 — 343 4 1,088
Non-executive directors FETES
LEE Nai Shee, Harry =g 110 — — — — 110
LEE Delman ZEAR 90 — — — — 90
YING Tze Man, Kenneth EFX 70 - - - — 70
Independent non-executive BUKHTES
directors
CHAK Hubert 2R 330 — — — — 330
CHAN Chi Yan BER 310 - — - — 310
CHAU Tak Hay AR 350 — — — — 350
CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy EHE 370 - — - — 370
HO Lap Kee, Sunny ] 3 & 330 — — — — 330
Total o 1,960 10,818 54 4,160 516 17,508
*  Bonus represented actual bonus paid during the year * JRALIEFEAE T8 BERTEAL
The above emoluments include the value of share options granted EIMEEERBEAARBREER TS
to certain directors and chief executive under the Company'’s share TESRTRAZNBRERE LA HANG
option schemes, as estimated at the date of grant. Details of these AEE. LAEDANSHFEEREES R
benefits in kind are disclosed under the sections “Share Option SEBRER 8] —HE%E -

Schemes” in the Directors’ Report.
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10 Individuals with highest emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, three (2017:
four) are directors during the year whose emoluments are disclosed
in Note 9. For the year ended 31 December 2017, one of these four
directors were in the directorship for only part of the year. The
portions of the emoluments that were not attributable to the period
during which they were in directorship were disclosed below. The
aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other two (2017:
two) individuals are as follows:

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

51 7% ) & MY 5 (#)

1MMBSHF AL

FR - AEGESFALRE=RZ(ZT—t
F OR)REF RENHSERHZIR
B-B2-_F—tH+-A=+—-BLL#F
B ZOREED —REENEEHTR
—F TERREHETEEHE MRS
RIXEERE - ERE (T —t4: ®a)
ATZMERENT

2018 2017

=F BS e

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Salaries and other emoluments FehEMME 2,832 3,702
Share-based payments ARR 19 A E T H) 64 108
Retirement scheme contributions RARET B R 36 18
2,932 3,828

The emoluments of the above two (2017: two) individuals with the
highest emoluments are within the following bands:

FRME(ZE—EF MB)ERSHFALH
MermE&EEDT

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+tF

Number of Number of

Individuals Individuals

HK$ BT A A&
1,000,001-1,500,000 1,000,001-1,500,000 1 1
1,500,001-2,000,000 1,500,001-2,000,000 1 —
2,000,001-3,000,000 2,000,001-3,000,000 — 1

O
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B %5 3k & Bt 5 o)
11 Dividends 1MERE
(a) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the () XFEENEATARERFEANR
Company attributable to the year 2

2018 2017
—®-NF —F—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
LR BT

Interim dividend declared and paid of EEIRIKEMSOFHRET

HK 3.5 cents per share M3 5BM(ZE—+4F :
(2017: HK 3.2 cents per share) FR3.28 1) 27,812 25,427

Final dividend proposed after the end of RIEE = F KRS E1TRAR
the reporting period of HK 6.0 cents 5 B R 1% R B9 R B AR

per share (2017: HK 6.3 cents per BER6OBIL(ZE—+
share) based on issued share capital as  4F : &6.378 1)
at the year end 47,678 50,059
75,490 75,486
The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting RB|EHAREF RN RAR S RN RS
period has not been recognised as a liability at the end of the HARERRAG-
reporting period.
(b) Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the (b) BRE—BEMBRFEE  ARFAH#
Company attributable to the previous financial ERRNAFAATDRERE ANE
year, approved and paid during the year TRE

2018 2017
—g-n% —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
T BT T

Final dividend in respect of the previous B t— BB FEE » TR

financial year, approved and paid F B E RO B R B AR
during the year of HK 6.3 cents per BEERe3BIW(=ZZ—+
share (2017: HK 6.3 cents per share) F GHR6.3EA) 50,062 50,059
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12 Other comprehensive income 12H2HEH K=

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Debt securities measured at FVOCI ZBHEMZEAWRBEAAE
BEENELEES
Changes in fair value recognised during RFEEERZANEE
the year L2 (16,013) —
Reclassification adjustments for amounts HEABEORBETERN
transferred to profit or loss: DT
— impairment loss (Note 26(a)) — WEEE (M it26(a)) 365 —
Net movement in the fair value reserve 2 E A 2 T W as i R
during the year recognised in other KEEAREBEEREREE
comprehensive income pEiE=C (15,648) —
Available-for-sale debt securities AHHEEBRES
Changes in fair value recognised during RAFEEEHERZAAEE
the year # = (3,939)
Reclassification adjustments for amounts HEABRORIBETEN
transferred to profit or loss: DT
— net gain on disposal transferred to — EWABERNHS
profit or loss F Yz — (1,463)
— impairment loss (Note 26(a)) — REEE (K 726(a)) — 8,242
Net movement in the fair value reserve EREMEEKEBERN
during the year recognised in other TFEEARBEREZ
comprehensive income R = 2,840
There is no tax effect relating to the above components at 31 ET—N\FE=ZFT—tF+=ZA=+—
December 2018 and 2017. H LillHr2E6HBTE-
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1B3EREZR

(a) BREZXEA

13 Earnings per share

(a) Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the
profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the
Company of HK$89,768,000 (2017: HK$74,120,000) and the
weighted average number of 794,624,000 ordinary shares
(2017: 794,581,000 ordinary shares) in issue during the year,
calculated as follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

BREARBF DREA R A LB E
A A FEAE % F 7 89,768,000 (= &
—+F : BH74,120,00070) R AREFEER
B 17 3 AR A N 19 AR 887 94,624,000
A% (== — 44 : 794,581,0000% & & A%)
E AT

EBRRMETEHRE

2017

—+F

‘000

F &

Issued ordinary shares as at 1 January R—A—HKMEBTEER 794,586 794,486

Effect of share options exercised BETEERENTE 38 95
Weighted average number of ordinary R+ -A=+—HH

shares as at 31 December T 38 AR hn ke 1 AR B 794,624 794,581

(b) Diluted earnings per share

The calculation of diluted earnings per share is based on the
profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the
Company of HK$89,768,000 (2017: HK$74,120,000) and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares of 794,634,000
(2017: 794,647,000) after adjusting for the effect of the
potential dilution from ordinary shares issuable under the
Company's share option schemes, calculated as follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted)

BREBERF

BRE TR DR A R 7] B AR E
BB AL A5 %89,768,0007T (= F
— 5 B#74,120,0007T) K @A H
hn#E 7 15 3% #794,634,0000% (=& —
F : 794,647,0000%) (B 5t A& A 7] 88 AR &
FTEITA FPROTEBERNECH TR
ERPAEB)GE - FAWAT

HE R0 R B (EH5E)

2017
—tfF
‘000
F i
Weighted average number of ordinary R+ZA=+—HHLBEK
shares as at 31 December hniE T R 8 794,624 794,581
Effect of deemed issue of shares under 1R {ERIE AN 7] 08 B i 5t &I
the Company’s share option schemes LEREBITROOTE
for nil consideration 10 66
Weighted average number of ordinary W+ _-A=+—HH
shares (diluted) as at 31 December 58 A% 0 A T 15 AR B
(#E) 764,634 794,647
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14 Property, plant and equipment

(a) Carrying amount

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

51 7% ) & MY 5 (#)

14ME - -BERRE

(a) BRMEIE

Platform
hardware and
software, Interest in
computer and leasehold land
Leasehold office Furniture and held for own
improvements  equipment Motor vehicles fixtures  Building  Subtotal use
TREHR
HENE &4 EER BEBRN
%6 BOZERG RE  BRAREE BF Mt BELHER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000 HKS$'000  HK$'000
BRI BT BT E¥Tn EBTn E¥Tr BRI E¥TR
Cost: A
As at 1 January 2018 R=2-\5-A-H 12,459 155,761 1,278 3,291 33,250 206,039 6,018 212,057
Additions RE 1219 6,275 - - - 749 - 7,49
Disposals RE - (313) - (65) - (378) - (378)
As at 31 December 2018  R-E-N\E+-f
=t+-8 13,678 161,723 1,278 3,226 33,250 213,155 6018 219,173
Accumulated depreciation: 3t E :
As at 1 January 2018 R=%-\5-A-H 11,693 147,602 937 2,815 21,199 184,246 1,815 186,061
Charge for the year FRFERR 460 4,289 193 146 1,663 6,751 142 6,893
Disposals RE - (313) - (55) - (368) - (368)
As at 31 December 2018  R-E-NF+-f
=t+-8 12,153 151,578 1,130 2,906 2,862 190,629 1957 192,586
Net book value: REEE:
As at 31 December 2018 KZZ—-NF+ZA
=+-H 1,525 10,145 148 320 10,388 22,526 4,061 26,587

O — T \FFEHR EESBEFTEZERAA
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14 Property, plant and equipment
(Continued)

(a) RRMEE ()

(a) Carrying amount (Continued)

—0170

Platform
hardware and
software, Interest in
computer and leasehold land
Leasehold office Furniture and held for own
improvements equipment  Motor vehicles fixtures  Building  Subtotal use Total
TaBEHR
BENE B EKR RfEE RN
B BOZRE HE RMREE BT het BETHER s
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
RETT BETT BETT AETT AT B¥Tn RETT AT
Cost: RA&:
As at 1 January 2017 WZE-t5-f-H 12,412 177,408 1,278 3,305 33,250 227,653 6,018 233,671
Additions nE 47 5997 — - - 6,044 — 6,044
Disposals BE - (27,644) - (14) - (27,658) — (27,658)
As at 31 December 2017 RZE—+E+ZA
=t-H 12,459 155,761 1,278 3,291 33250 206,039 6,018 212,057
Accumulated depreciation: E&HTE :
As at 1 January 2017 WZE-+t5-f-H 11,240 171,804 522 2,674 19,536 205,776 1,673 207,449
Charge for the year ERTERY 453 3442 415 155 1,663 6,128 142 6,270
Disposals BE - (27,644) - (14) - (27,658) — (27,658)
As at 31 December 2017 KZZ—+%+=f
=t-H 11,693 147,602 937 2,815 21,199 184,246 1815 186,061
Net book value: REFE:
As at 31 December 2017 K-Z—+%+-R
=+-A 766 8,159 341 476 12,051 21,793 4,203 25,996
(b) The analysis of net book value of properties is as (b) MEREFEINMT :
follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—+tF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Interest in leasehold land and building RIEEHEZ T -t F 28
situated in Hong Kong held for own hHEIEE - BEB AN
use under medium-term lease up to EAHETHESZRET
2047 14,449 16,254
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15Interest in subsidiaries

(a) Details of the subsidiaries which principally affected

15FrE KB A Rl Em
() EERSAREMEM EERAME

the results, assets or liabilities of the Group are as WHRBARFEBOT
follows:
Place of Proportion of Proportion of
incorporation/  Particulars of issued ownership interest ownership interest
establishment and held by the held by a
Name of company and operation paid up capital Company subsidiary ~ Principal activity
BRARL/ BEAR AAREAKEN AKELANER
ARER RIREEHRE BRRAFE BAREZRASL FEEEZEIN ZEXH
Digi-Sign Certification Services Limited Hong Kong 10,000 shares 100% —  Certificate authority services
EFRERBARAR B 10,000 B 13 BEGERS
Trade Facilitation Services Limited Hong Kong 50,000 shares 100% —  Dormant
) 50,0008 12 13 TEXH
Digital Trade and Transportation Network Hong Kong 41,000,000 shares 100% —  Provision of electronic messaging
Limited B 41,000,000 f& 17 routing and transformation
UBEHERRBERRT services
RUEFASEAREARE
Up Forward Technology Limited Hong Kong 1 share 100% —  Investment holding
EERRARRE ) 1R 17 REER
EClink Technology Limited Hong Kong 99 shares 100% —  Investment holding
SBAERRERAA Bk 99K Bk 3 RERR
Tradelink E-Biz Secure Solutions Limited Hong Kong 1,000,000 shares 100% —  Secure solutions services
BEBEFEBEARERLR 3 1,000,0008 % 3 REHERBE
iTradelink eMarket Limited Hong Kong 10,000 shares 100% —  Provision of e-commerce services
X 10,000 i 3 REEFHERE
VSHIP Limited Hong Kong 1 share 100% —  Provision of e-commerce services
) 1R REEFHERY
E5A0RM) —AERAR Macau MOP25,000 100% —  Provision of e-commerce services
sl JRFI#25,000 REEFHERS
TREASREFRRRBERA T PRC HK$8,400,000 100% —  Provision of e-commerce and
# 7 #8,400,0007 e-logistics services
REBTHEREFNRRS
XEEHBRBEERDE PRC RMB500,000 — 100%  Provision of e-commerce and
# AR #500,0007 e-logistics services

REREHREFHRARR A

FRENSBHRARA A

ENEASAEFHHARAT

RMB100,000
AR 100,000

RMB100,000
AR 100,000

RMB500,000

A #500,0007

REETHBREFNRRE

Provision of e-commerce and
e-logistics services

REETHBREFNARE

Provision of e-commerce and
e-logistics services

REETHBREFNARE

Provision of e-commerce and
e-logistics services
RESFHEREFORRE
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15Interest in subsidiaries (Continued)

(a) Details of the subsidiaries which principally affected

(b)

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited Annual Report 2018 @

the results, assets or liabilities of the Group are as
follows: (Continued)

Each of these is controlled subsidiaries as defined under Note
1(f) and have been consolidated into the Group’s financial
statements.

L Subsidiaries not audited by KPMG. The financial statements of the
subsidiaries not audited by KPMG reflect total net assets and total
revenue constituting less than 1% of the respective consolidated
totals.

* Companies registered as a wholly-foreign owned enterprise in the
PRC.

Goodwill

The goodwill recognised by the Group arose from the
acquisition of Digital Trade and Transportation Network Limited
("DTTNCo0") in 2009 and is attributable mainly to the technical
expertise, intellectual property and the synergies expected to be
achieved from integrating DTTNCo into the Group’s existing
business and customer base. The goodwill has a carrying
amount of HK$9,976,000 since the acquisition date of 26
March 2009.

The E-Commerce segment of the Group is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the acquisition of DTTNCo in entirety,
and there are no other units within the Group that the
goodwill can be appropriately allocated to. Accordingly, the
E-Commerce segment is identified as the cash-generating unit
("CGU") containing the goodwill for the purpose of impairment
evaluation of the goodwill.

The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based on
value-in-use calculations. These calculations use the CGU'’s cash
flow projections based on financial forecasts covering a six-year
period. Cash flows beyond the six-year period are extrapolated
using a medium term growth rate adjusted on the basis of
management’s best estimates. The growth rates used do not
exceed the long-term average growth rates for the business in
which the Group operated. The future cash flows are
discounted, at a discount rate specific to the Group of 10%
(2017: 10%) for the assessment period, to determine the value
of the CGU. Based on management’s assessment, there is no
impairment recognised in respect of the goodwill for the year
(2017: Nil).

15 Fr b By BB 2 Rl R =& ()

() TERELAEMER BEERAE

HMBARFEOT : ()

DA L35 B Y 2 1) B R RE S 2 1 B IR
AT LERAEBOMBERESAA

BE o

Y BB LIRS R ES
PR o 3% S0 FF i B 15 B & 7 B 75
B BT B 2 7] 81 75 82 AT IR B A 48
BEFERBURDEEREGHREBE

1%L e

BB BELFA LA -

(b) B &

AEERZNBEDAR-_ZEZNAFR
BABEIERMEMBAER QA
(IDTINCODFFEAT T RRBABER
M ABEERIAF S UIDTINCOE AL
BIRAEXBLELPERRAERNRRF
ME-BWEBEH -_ZZTAF=H
“tXRER BENREHEREE

9,976,0007T °

HRBERAAEEEFHED BAUZER
Y BEDTTNCo 2 B fix 4 P 2= £ 1) 1 A 3%
sONMERESHEEESKEASE
HiEMN HEFHEDHEZRINAE
srtEEnReELEM((REEL
BBz ]) - DA bt v B R E T A -

IR EE A B AL A P] Uy Bl B RE T IR R 5 A
BENELIET  HERSELEME
=75 F HAR A B 75 T8 OR a0 TEDRI IR € R BT
B NFHENENBEQRDBREEE
BREMMAEN P SR ERH
B o BT {8 FA B 48 5 2R T 4 R 8 7N 5 (B BT
KEEBHRATHERER - KRR E
2 LA ST fh B AN & B A9 R R B 3R R
10% (ZZF—tF :10% )8R - AEE
BeEELEVNER BEEEEBNT
o RAFEDAEREERREMBE

—ELFE) -
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16 Interest in associates 16t E AT ER
The following list contains the particulars of associates, all of which T%%ﬁ‘] HERBFHIE  ZERAERLE
are unlisted corporate entities whose quoted market price is not MERENFELTLEES
available:

Proportion Proportion Proportion

Place of Particulars of of Group's of shares of shares
Establishment issued and effective  held by the held by a
Name of associate and operation paid up capital interest Company subsidiary  Principal activity
-3 | HEAR
BRIK BETRAR FEERER Fiis R4 FERG
BeENREB EENE RAFEE BAk ERil: Balk TEEHR
Guangdong Nanfang Haian Science & PRC RMB10,000,000 20% 20% —  Provision of e-commerce
Technology Service Company Limited 2 AR #10,000,0007T services (Note)
("Nanfang”) RESFHERE (W)
EREASERRRBEERAR ([BH])
TEERHRERNEELERAF PRC RMB45,000,000 26% — 26%  Supply chain management
("U-Link") & AR #45,000,0007T development and
services
HEEERERRERS
BN BEAMTESRITER PRC RMB1,000,000 49% 49% —  Provision of e-commerce
((%LJ&R%&J) H A K #1,000,0007C and e-logistics services
RESFHEREF
Wi R
Note: Guangdong Nanfang Haian Science & Technology Service Company Hiat - BRE 5 EFEFIFERE R 7] TRERH,
Limited, a high-tech company providing advanced e-commerce services BT BT B B R B R 2 A
in Guangdong area, enables the Group to gain exposure to this H:8 B BN E N EE GRS E I Z
market through local expertise. 745 e
All of the above associates are accounted for using the equity LA EFTEEE RBRAERENGS MK
method in the consolidated financial statements. Wk AR o
O T )\F5W EZBEEFESZSERAA
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5 7% & = Kt & (#)
16 Interest in associates (Continued) 16T E AR R (F)
(a) Summary of financial information on associates (a) BEQPTNMBERHE

Summarised financial information of the principal associate,
adjusted for any differences in accounting policies, and
reconciled to the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed below:

TXHRBELIEBELR

A B ERRE

(ERGABREMNEZRFEHARE BB
HIFAMBHRERTPOREESLR)

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Gross amounts of Nanfang's assets MHEEREEHE:
and liabilities:
Current assets MEE E 38,328 26,377
Non-current assets FERBEE 42,497 51,250
Current liabilities mENBE (14,263) (12,333)
Non-current liabilities FnBAaE (5,198) (10,310)
Equity 2 61,364 54,984
Revenue & 63,220 64,410
Profit from continuing operations BB E R 7,700 12,680
Total comprehensive income FE BT 7,700 12,680
Reconciled to the Group's interests in EEZANE BN HE N
Nanfang # iR
Gross amounts of net assets of Nanfang 5 & & G B £ 58 61,364 54,984
Group's effective interest REEERER 20% 20%
Group’s share of net assets of rEEREREANEERE
Nanfang 12,273 10,997
Goodwill Bk 5,805 6,281
Carrying amount in the consolidated R#&Z& M BHE T HREE
financial statements 18,078 17,278
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16 Interest in associates (Continued)

(a) Summary of financial information on associates
(Continued)

Aggregate information of associates that are not individually

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

51 7% ) & MY 5 (#)

16 fiibi & 2 A ER (&)
(a) B AR WM BEREE ()

SEEAIERMBE RBEREER

material:
2018 2017
=t —T—t%
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Aggregate amounts of the Group's RNEBEMAZERERA
share of those associates’ loss from REFEBESCEEBERARE

continuing operations

@

Ao

®

Bk

Total comprehensive income 2 K

— (121)

— (121)

(b) Impairment loss on interest in associate

As the recoverable amount of Nanfang was less than the

carrying amount, provision for impairment loss

of

HK$3,000,000 was made in prior years. At 31 December 2018,
the Group carried out an impairment assessment for the
recoverable amount of Nanfang. The estimates of the

recoverable amount of Nanfang were based on the present
values of the budgeted future cash flows, discounted at the
market risk-adjusted discount rate of 14% (2017: 14%), by
reference to the projected volume, activity level and future
growth rates of the underlying business of Nanfang. The fair

value on which the recoverable amount is based on

is
categorised as a Level 3 measurement. For the years ended 31

December 2018 and 31 December 2017, same basis of

impairment measurement in respect of the interest in Nanfang

is performed by management. No additional or reversal of

provision for impairment is considered necessary.

O

(b) R E NR RN EEESSE
HREANITKESEERERERE &
SEE R BT FE R %3,000,0007T 8
BEEBBRELEH R_ZE-—NF+=
A=+—B A&LEEEHRBAHNTRE
CREETRET G -BAHAUKESET
2EZmHABEBTERBRE  EBKK
FRAKREER  ERBBERKELRK
ENRME K14% (ZZT—tF: 14%)
/Y TH 35 [ B 3 B Bh BR 5K AL 3R M A0 A
oA REBl G EAKEBENRAABES R
AR E - BHE-_ZT—\F+=A
=t+t—HBEZ=ZZ—t&+=-A=+—H
ItFE ERERRAREEEFERA
T 2 BB o BB 78 1 B ONR B BOR
EREEREE -

“E-)\EEHR BEZBETESEARLA
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17 Interest in joint venture

Details of the Group’s interest in a joint venture, which

17fiiEeE ARER

is

accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial

statements are as follows:

TREIAKRERGZEAANESFE - T)
RARDENGAVBRRAROT

Proportion Proportion Proportion
Place of Particulars of of Group’s of shares of share
establishment issued and effective  held by the held by a
Name of joint venture and operation paid up capital interest Company subsidiary  Principal activity
K& ARH ol PN
IR 2ETR FREBER R G iR G
REATER EEBE RERAFE EZEIH BAk Aol TEXH
ERIBRRBBEERAA PRC RMB4,920,000 49% — 49%  Provision of e-commerce
& AR %4,920,0007C services

RESTEERSE

As the recoverable amount of the joint venture was less than the
carrying amount, provision for impairment loss of HK$1,280,000
was made in prior years. For the years ended 31 December 2018
and 31 December 2017, there is no improvement in the financial

situation of the joint venture and no reversal of provision for

impairment of joint venture is recorded.
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1BHMUBEE

18 Other financial assets

31 December 1 January 31 December
2018 2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—+tF
—A—B +ZA=+—8H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T
Debt securities measured at FVOCI 35 38 H /b & [ U 25
BERAREETEN
B EH
— listed (Note) — bR ) 347,732 367,181 —
Available-for-sale debt securities at R AR EBEERN
fair value A EERE
— listed (Note) — bR ) — — 367,181
Representing: ¥
— Non-current — ERH 305,499 367,181 367,181
— Current — B 42,233 — —
347,732 367,181 367,181
Note: Available-for-sale financial assets were reclassified to debt securities Kt R=EF-—NF—HA—HBEXEHAEEY
measured at FVOCI upon the initial application of HKFRS 9 at 1 BHREERDEIS R IR EHBFE
January 2018 (see Note 1(c)(i)). EE D BERE MW Z A
BE:E /) E R ELH (B F1)0)) -
Available-for-sale financial assets were reclassified to financial assets R-FE—NE—H—BEHLrEREET®

E: tt/i,g']))%%ﬁfﬁ AL ENEEEEN
DEAFAEMEZEBRZEARBEINEN

measured at FVOCI upon the initial application of HKFRS 9 as at 1
January 2018 (see Note 1(c)(i)). The debt securities are issued by

corporate entities with credit quality commensurate with the return
as considered acceptable to the Group.

As at 31 December 2018, the debt securities does not have
significant credit risk.

As at 31 December 2017, a listed available-for-sale debt security is
individually determined to be impaired on the basis of the
significant financial difficulty of the issuer which indicated that the
cost of the Group’s investment in them may not be fully recovered.
Impairment losses on these investments were recognised in profit or
loss in accordance with the policy set out in Note 17(k)(i)(B).

O

E!M‘%ﬁ% (REFZ1C))) - EEEBAETE

BREFNEEEZEAEEE/AERND
WARE o

RZZE—-—N\F+=ZA=+—8" FHEIW
EEREERER -

RZZE—+F+ZRA=+—HB BARETA
BEBAMBNEE BRAKBHERERAE
Al RE SR B E - {E R L AT S E
EREERTIRE o RIBAZ1K))B)FRED
B WERENREBRENEHRER -

“E-)\EEHR BEZBETESEARLA
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19 Trade receivables and contract assets

19EWERFIRENEE

31 December 1 January 31 December
2018 2018 2017
—E-N\¥ —E-N\F —E—+tF
+=—B=+—-H —A—RB +ZA=+—H
Note HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Mt BT T BETT BETT
Trade receivables, net of loss FEUER K - B
allowance B () 33,554 28,770 28,933
Contract assets BHWEE (ii) 10,563 — —
44,117 28,770 28,933
Notes. W -
(i) Upon the adoption of HKFRS 9, an opening adjustment as at 1 January (i) REFEB(BEBHHBEERDEIRE  ErELH

2018 was made to recognise additional ECLs on trade receivables (see

Note 1(c)(i)).

(i) Upon the adoption of HKFRS 15, some of the trade receivables, for which
the Group’s entitlement to the consideration was conditional on
achieving certain milestones, were classified as contract assets (see Note

1(c)(ii)).
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R-F-NFE—FH— AR EE L #ER
JEYBR K ey 8RS T (5 B 1R (T 1(c)())

RIERB BB IREERDE 1596 EFE
EBIRRCEREFIRFIRENE T EEE
HEREFESEBEHEEZHF1()
(i) °




19 Trade receivables and contract assets
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Trade receivables, net of loss allowance

Ageing analysis

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of
trade receivables, based on the invoice date and net of loss
allowance, is as follows:

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

51 7% ) & MY 5 (#)

MPEREREEGNEE (&)

(a)

FEW AR - MERE R BRE

MR 2 AT

RIERR - HEEA ARG EER
W E BREROBRESTET

2018 2017

—EBE-N\EF —E—tF

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Less than 1 month L —1E A 19,313 17,664
1 to 3 months —Z=1@A 7,097 5,315
3 to 12 months ==+={@A 4,952 3,496
Over 12 months BB+ =@A 2,192 2,458
33,554 28,933

All the above balances are expected to be recovered within one
year and some of them are covered by deposits from customers
(see Note 217).

Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk
arising from trade receivables are set out in Note 26(a).

Contract assets

The Group's contracts include payment schedules which require
stage payments over the contract period once milestones are
reached. These payment schedules prevent the build-up of
significant contract assets.

All of the revenue recognised during the year are from
performance obligations satisfied (or partially satisfied) in the
current year.

All of the contract assets are expected to be recovered within
one year.

O

(b)

B MBI R—FRAKE - BF
FHRIBEFREMZRSARE (RAF
21) °

BERAKBEGEERRREYRRELN
= EE R E— S F BN E260a) -

BREE

AEENASHNERNRKER REE
EHBIRMEE R A X8R X AR R
HZENRERERE LTEZKERS L

FARBNAERRHRERAFER
ER (B ER)WBHORE-

EANEERPRR —FRKRE -
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B 7% R Y A ()

20 Other receivables, prepayments and

other contract costs

20 Htb B FRIH » N RIER
Hft& QA

31 December 1 January 31 December
2018 2018 2017
—E-N\F¥ —E-N\F —E—+fF
+=H=+—H —A—HA +=ZRA=+—H
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Hiat BET T BT T BT T
Other receivables and ~ E Al & Y 3078 & T8 1+ 51 1B (i)
prepayments 11,176 14,922 21,631
Other contract costs HiAHRA (i) 4,742 6,709 —
15,918 21,631 21,631
Note: et -
(i) Upon initial adoption of HKFRS 15, “Costs to fulfil customer contracts” ()  BRIRW(BBYHHEEER)EI155 % - B+

(a)

(b)

Tradelin

previously included as “Other receivables and prepayments” were
reclassified to other contract costs (see Note 1(c)(ii)).

Other receivables and prepayments
All other receivables and prepayments are expected to be
recovered or recognised as expenses within one year.

Other contract costs

Other contract costs capitalised as at 31 December 2018 relate
to the costs to fulfil contracts with customers at the reporting
date. Other contract costs are recognised as part of “cost of
purchases” in the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which revenue from the related sales or services is recognised.
There was no impairment in relation to the costs capitalised
during the year.

All other contract costs are expected to be recovered within
one year.

FIATE MW BR B H B [BTTES
BRELRK LT IEFN 5 EEAME LKL
(BH 1) -

(a) Htt B R E R AN KIE
P Eo A 8 U R IA R FRA SR TR AR —
FRUE KRB

(b) Hftt & AR A

RZBE-NF+ZA=+—BERLH
HMSORAERBERHPETERRER
BRMKARR - Eib 8 HKARK B
HEHE RGN K EERZBHRNE
BRAERBRBERAIN D - F
W BEA K AE AR RIE -

FrEHEME R AERN —FRKRE -
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other payables

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

51 7% ) & MY 5 (#)

21Trade creditors, contract liabilities and 21ENEX - SN EBER Hb

FE 1+ 7R IR

31 December 1 January 31 December
2018 2018 (i) 2017
—E2-N\E —E-N\F —E—tF
+t=ZA=+-H —A—-B@# +=ZR=+—H
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Wi BT T BB BB
Trade creditors FE - BR 3K 11,447 15,838 15,838
Customer deposits received EREFES 134,851 140,772 140,772

Accrued charges and other R R
payables E b & B (1) 38,358 29,196 43,491
Contract liabilities AHEE (1), (i) 9,566 14,295 —
194,222 200,101 200,101

Notes: Hat -

(i)

(i)

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 using the cumulative effect
method and adjusted the opening balance at 1 January 2018.

Upon the adoption of HKFRS 15, “Advances received” previously included
as “Accrued charges and other payables” were reclassified to contract
liabilities (see Note 1(c)(ii).

() AEEEHRNEZ G RFRACE S HH
HEAPDEISHERABER —E—NF—HA—H
H)H ) 45 B

(i)  RERA(EBEHBHHEERDE159% - BIEAT
AR RIS A M E T3R8y [ B 425
EEBHDEREKREZHEICND))

(a) Trade creditors (a) EE{TFE
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of RBEER REZBHHE  ENER
trade creditors, based on the invoice date, is as follows: KRR 2T T -
2018 2017
—®-NF —E—tf
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T ok i a
Less than 1 month DR —1E A 11,079 15,702
1 to 3 months —Z==f@A 368 136
11,447 15,838
(b) Customer deposits received (b) EWEF#ZE

Deposits received are monies received from customers before
they are allowed to make trade transactions through the use of
the Group’s systems. Generally, customers are only allowed to
incur transaction charges up to the amount deposited with the
Group. Deposits are refundable to customers on demand.

O

Bk ATPEEERAEEN RS
ETE SR ZH B TP WS H K
He—REF BEFPANRENRS
E EUEPAAEEXXNNZESR
R-ReAEEPERTARE -

“E-)\EEHR BEZBETESEARLA
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

B 7% R Y A ()

21 Trade creditors, contract liabilities and
other payables (Continued)

(c) Contract liabilities

When the Group receives a deposit before the production
activity commences this will give rise to contract liabilities at the
start of a contract, until the revenue recognised on the project

exceeds the amount of the deposit. The amount of the deposit,
if any, was negotiated on a case by case basis with customers.

Movements in contract liabilities

21EBNERNR - SN ERHA
FE A3 RKOE (&)

(0 &HEE
AEEERNEETHRBAINKRERS
EREHNRRERANEE EEC
ERNEBEERABRREEBAL &
ENERMA) NEEERETPERS

=1
=ae

BHREENES

2018
—E-N\F
HK$°000
BT T
As at 1 January R—HA— 14,295
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of AEHEE .¢W5§ AR BRI A S &)
recognising revenue during the year that was B E W mom
included in the contract liabilities at the
beginning of the period (13,152)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of billing in & #) & & & 12 & 5+ £ 1M 4 A0
advance 8,423
As at 31 December R+=—A=+—H 9,566
As at 31 December 2018, the amount of billings in advance of RZZE-—N\FE+=A=+—8 FBHE

R—FBERBRANBLIRAGTES
% 4 75 #836,0007T ©

2R2REBRKEEEE

performance expected to be recognised as income after more
than one year is HK$836,000.

22 Provision for long service payments

2018 2017

ZE-N\F —tF

HK$’'000 HK$'000

BT T BT

As at 1 January m—HA—H 3,093 3,035
Released/utilised BEWR/EEA (20) —
Provisions charged to profit or loss 18 a5 B A 5 106 58
As at 31 December wR+ZA=+—H”H 3,179 3,093

——0182 Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited
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23 Employee retirement benefits

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“the MPF
scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administered by independent trustees.
Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

24 Equity-settled share-based
transactions

(a) Share option schemes
The Company adopted two share option schemes. The first one
was adopted on 14 October 2005 (the “Share Option Scheme
2005"”) and the second one was adopted on 9 May 2014 (the
“Share Option Scheme 2014").

Share Option Scheme 2005

Under the Share Option Scheme 2005, the Directors were
authorised, at their discretion, to invite employees of the
Group, including directors of any company in the Group, to
take up options at consideration of HK$1.00 per grant to
subscribe for shares of the Company. Each option gave the
holder the right to subscribe for one ordinary share in the
Company.

The share options granted under the Share Option Scheme
2005 vested after 12 months (25%), 24 months (60%) and 36
months (100%) respectively from date of grant and then
exercisable within a period of 10 vyears. The subscription
amount payable in respect of each share upon the exercise of
an option shall be determined by the board of directors and
shall be not less than the greater of:

(i) the closing price of the shares on the SEHK as stated in the
SEHK’s daily quotations sheet on the date, which must be
a business day, of the written offer of such option (the
“Date of Grant”);

(i) the average closing price of the shares on the SEHK as stated
in the SEHK’s daily quotations sheets for the five business

days immediately preceding the Date of Grant; and

(iii) the nominal value of the shares.

O
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23 & &R KB R

REEREC(E BB HERTRS TSRO
RIBB(EERBERIDERNES - RLA
HEREEAH(RESFE]) - @EEE
ERBURTEAETENEREIORINGE -
RiFBRESTE EXTHEEBEES SRS
EHEEREERBARSRHEN  MEH
ABIAE BB 30,0007 & FR - K& EH [
SFEMEHM MRS RBEEBES -

20N REFEEIURDAHER
KR 5

(a) BB FERT &
ARABERMAMEARRESE - BEAR
—EERFTATEAERAT=FZA
FRREFHDRE-BR-_ZT-—OF
ERANBHESH(T-_Z-—HFBREST
gl -

—ERERAFBRETE
RE_STAFHERETS EFER
HEREEFEASERE (BEAKEIHE
TEAABNER)ZEARAATREARRF
B BERE RERBRAMREHER
BAEKI0T SRBRERTHERA
AR RB-—BRARAEBEROERMN -

TS RFERE RN ERE -
EFREBHEF+-_@EA - =+ m{EA
E=+ER% H5lEE25% - 60%
K100% - BEE AT T FHANITHE - BT
150 B AR 4 1 28t B AR AR 10 2 5T O SR B 3R
BB ESSET BTBLRTI&
SE

() RERENEEEHAMTERLA
H BARBERR) BOHREE
P A MERAINERT BB
Fir B9 W 73 {8

(i) ZRFLAMPTAEEER KK
REBBIMEBARERMIES
BHE R PRI E Rk

(i) BXfDE{E e

“E-)\EEHR BEZBETESEARLA

183 o—
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24 Equity-settled share-based transactions 24 AREEEW URMHOEER

(Continued) HNRZ (&)

(a) Share option schemes (Continued) (a) BRRESTE (|
Share Option Scheme 2005 (Continued) “ETRFBRESTE (H)
The Share Option Scheme 2005 expired on 13 October 2015. CETRFEREFEER T —RF
However, share options previously granted under this Share TAtT=ZRAER Al EATREZE
Option Scheme remain valid, subject to the same terms and REFTEREOBRENDAATR A X
conditions and the unexercised share options under this Share MR ER REHERR - B IR &
Option Scheme lapsed after 13 April 2018. BTITRIENERER_-_ZT—/\FMNA

+Z Ak KM

Share Option Scheme 2014 —E-NFEBEREE

Under the Share Option Scheme 2014, options will be granted BIE-T—NFERESE  NAFE

to eligible persons, including Directors, employees, consultants, ZEERNTRBEZAERAT(BEE

business associates or advisers as the Board of the Company £ EE HEEMN EBBHIEN
may identify from time to time (“Grantees”), entitling them to BE)([ERADREBERE BTERS
subscribe for shares of the Company, subject to acceptance of BEMRERRARG  MEEFRRAE
the Grantees and the payment of HK$1.00 by each of the MBEAIEE  BEREARAREMNER

Grantees upon acceptance of the options. Each option gives the TERFA S B 1.007T - & 15 B8 IR R

holder the right to subscribe for one ordinary share in the TRHREAEFNRB-RAQR AR -

Company.

The share options granted under the Share Option Scheme BIR T —FERE & T ER

2014 vest after 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 36 B ERLAMSMEG @A —+mMm

months (75%) and 48 months (100%) respectively from date of AR -=Z=+X"EARM+NER%E &

grant and then exercisable within a period of 10 years. The A 8% B25% ~ 50% * 75% &% 100% - (&

Grantee may exercise the share options subject to the BT FERITE - AR A AR 8RR

conditions in respective option offering letter. The subscription EREZN RS GHTERR

amount payable in respect of each share upon the exercise of o AITEBREmARESRRKR DM

an option shall be determined by the board of directors and WARBRESHESSETE BT ELD

shall be not less than the greater of; RTIHEEE :

() the closing price of the shares on the SEHK as stated in the () RERERLBERESHIME
SEHK's daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of such HRERFI RN E B RZATH
option; and WmE: &

(i) the average closing price of the shares on the SEHK as stated (i) ZEERERD B HATAES S
in the SEHK's daily quotation sheets for the five business H RESBXFEBE®RERMT
days immediately preceding the date of grant of such IR0 i B A X AT g (B o
option.
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24 Equity-settled share-based transactions
(Continued)

(a) Share option schemes (Continued)
The terms and conditions of the grants that existed during the
year are as follows, whereby all share options are settled by

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

51 7% ) & MY 5 (#)

4 REFEEIURDAER

MR % (&)

(a) BB MR AERT & ()
T IR A E R A Y R R IR
ot AEBBREAROED SR

physical delivery of shares: mEERRET
Number of Contractual
instruments  Vesting conditions life of options
BREMN
TAZE HBEHKHS EHEH
Options granted to directors:
ERTESHBERE:
— on 30 June 2014 4,600,000 12 months (100%) from 30 June 2014 10 years
—RZE-—MFEXA=1H BE-ZE-—MEXNA=1+AHBF2EA(100%) T
— on 30 June 2014 1,700,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
—RZE—MFARA=1H 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +5
from 30 June 2014)
BEZZ-—MEANA=THEF12EA25%)
2418 A(50%) ~ 361E A(75%) %4818 A (100%)
— on 2 July 2015 800,000 100% on 2 July 2015 10 years
—RZZE-RFtA=H RZZE—RFtHA=H5100% T4
— on 2 July 2015 1,700,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
—R=ZZE—HFEA=H 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) T4
from 2 July 2015
BE-Z-—AFE+A-ABF12AQ25%)
2448 B (50%) * 36fE A (75%) % 48{& A (100%)
— on 4 July 2016 3,000,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
—RZE-R"FtAOEA 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +4F
from 4 July 2016
BE-Z—A"F+tAMARTI2EA25%) *
2418 A(50%) ~ 361E A (75%) & 481E A (100%)
— on 28 April 2017 3,900,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
—R=Z—+FWA=-1+N\H 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) T4
from 28 April 2017
BT —tFMA=-+N\HREF12EA(25%)
2418 A(50%) ~ 36& A (75%) K 481& A (100%)
— on 4 May 2018 4,300,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
—R=ZFE-NFHRANA 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +F

from 4 May 2018
BE-Z-\FRAMARH12MEA25%) - 2418 A
(50%) ~ 36fE A (75%) & 481& A(100%)

O
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24 Equity-settled share-based transactions 24 AREEEW URMHOEER

(Continued)

(@) Share option schemes (Continued)

M5 (&)

(a) FB MR MEET & ()

Number of Contractual
instruments  Vesting conditions life of options
BRED
IEHE HEKRH BREH
Options granted to employees:
ERTFEENERE:
— on 14 April 2008 198,718 12 months (25%), 24 months (60%) and 10 years
— RZETN\FEOA+TA 36 months (100%) from 14 April 2008 +&
BT N\FEA+MA L1218 (25%) -
248 A (60%) %361 A(100%)
— on 30 June 2014 2,300,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
—RZZE-HmEXA=1H 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) T
from 30 June 2014
BZZ-—WFERA=THE12EA(25%) -
248 A (50%) ~ 361E A (75%) % 481& A(100%)
— on 2 July 2015 2,100,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
—R-ZT—AFtA=H 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) T
from 2 July 2015
BE-T—RFtA-B#12EA25%)
2418 A (50%) - 361& A (75%) % 481& A (100%)
— on 4 July 2016 2,300,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
— R FLtAMEA 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) T4
from 4 July 2016
BT A"FtAMBE12EA25%)
2418 A (50%) - 361& A (75%) K 481& A (100%)
— on 28 April 2017 2,400,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
—RZZE—tFWMA=+ R 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +4
from 28 April 2017
BZE—tFEAZ+N\B 12088 25%)
2418 A (50%) - 361 A (75%) % 481E A (100%)
— on 4 May 2018 3,100,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
—RZZE-\FHRAMNA 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) +4
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24 Equity-settled share-based transactions

(Continued)

(a) Share option schemes (Continued)

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

51 7% ) & MY 5 (#)

MR % (&)

(a) FE MR S8 ()

4 REFEEIURDAER

Number of Contractual
instruments  Vesting conditions life of options
BREN
IAYE HEEH BRER
Options granted to ex-employees:
ERTFREENEBRE:
— on 30 June 2014 2,400,000 100% on 30 June 2014 10 years
— RZE—MFSA=+H RZZE—WFNA=+HE100% T+
— on 30 June 2014 500,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
—RZZE-WmEAA=1H 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) T+
from 30 June 2014
BEZZE—MFRA=+HEFH12EA(25%)
2418 A (50%) - 3618 A (75%) K& 481E A
(100%)
— on 2 July 2015 2,400,000  100% on 2 July 2015 10 years
—R=ZZE—FFtA=H RZTE—AF+HA=ZHE100% T+
— on 2 July 2015 500,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
—RZZE—RF+HAZH 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) IEE
from 2 July 2015
BEZZ—hF+AZHsH12EAQ25%) - 24
& A (50%) - 361 A (75%) K& 481& A (100%)
— on 4 July 2016 1,600,000  100% on 4 July 2016 10 years
— RZZE—R"REtLtAMA RZZE—RFtAMHEE100% T+
— on 4 July 2016 500,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
— RZZE—RELtAMA 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) + 4
from 4 July 2016
BT AF+tAmBE12MEA25%)
2418 A (50%) - 3618 A (75%) K% 481E A
(100%)
— on 28 April 2017 500,000 12 months (25%), 24 months (50%), 10 years
— RZZE—+tFWMA=+NH 36 months (75%) and 48 months (100%) + 4
from 28 April 2017
BE-T—+tFMNA-+N\B®EF12@EA
(25%) ~ 241& A (50%) - 361E A (75%) &
481 A (100%)
40,798,718

O — T \FFEHR EESBEFTEZERAA
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24 Equity-settled share-based transactions
(Continued)

(@) Share option schemes (Continued)
The number and weighted average exercise prices of share
options are as follows:

L RELEES IR AER
MRS (E)

(a) &M EERT& ()
BRENEE RNEFHITEENAT

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise Number of exercise Number of
price options price options
¥ IR 15
TEE EREHE 17618 BlkEHA
HK$ ‘000 HK$ ‘000
BERT TR BT Tz
Outstanding as at 1 January R —B—BHKTE 1.73 33,398 1.76 27,053
Granted during the year FARS 1.34 7,400 1.592 6,900
Exercised during the year FRITEE 1.01 (48) 1.42 (100)
Forfeited during the year FRE MK 1.01 (150) 1.46 (455)
Outstanding as at R+t-ZA=+—8
31 December W AR AT 1.66 40,600 1.73 33,398
Exercisable as at 31 December R+ =A=+—H
AT 24,125 18,974

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for
share options exercised during the year was HK$1.34 (2017:
HK$1.62).

The options outstanding as at 31 December 2018 had exercise
prices ranging from HK$1.34 to HK$1.90 (2017: ranging from
HK$1.01 to HK$1.90) and weighted average remaining
contractual life of 7.3 years (2017: 7.7 years).

AEEFRERETE BB INEFHRE
BB E1I34n(ZF —tF: B %162
JC) °

R-ZZE—NF+=-A=+—H " HKTT
FERERENTEEN T AE1.34TEE
190 (ZZ—tF : N FHEK1.01T
Z 5 E1.907T) K NHE 15 iE g A K HE
I3F(ZE—LF:7.7F) -
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

51 7% ) & MY 5 (#)

4 REFEEIURDAER

24 Equity-settled share-based transactions

(Continued)

(b) Fair value of share options and assumptions

MR % (&)

(b) BRENIABERRR

The fair value of services received in return for share options
granted is measured by reference to the fair value of share
options granted. The estimate of the fair value of the share
options granted is measured based on Black Scholes Model. The
contractual life of the share option is used as an input into this
model.

Fair value of share options and
assumptions

2018
BRENAAEBERRBER =E-N\F

ERARLBRERBMESHREAA
BE D2REELBRENIAEE
AE - DEHBRENGHALEED
BB N R BEERXGHE - lRATT
Bt RBERENAOFH -

Fair value at measurement date

Share price fix B

TTE(E

Exercise price

Expected volatility (expressed as
weighted average volatility used in the
modelling under Black Scholes Model)  2£7%1)

Option life (expressed as weighted
average life used in the modelling

FHESD

under Black-Scholes model)

Expected dividends 8 HA Ak B

Risk-free interest rate
(based on the yield of Hong Kong FW R EHE

Government Bonds)

Rt HHO QA REE

EHRIE (R AR AT
15 3P 2 DN 7 39 8 1R

BB e i A AR (4240 ) e T
BT =0 AT A 2 I 7 19

ERE AR (R EBBUFE

2017
—E—tF

HK$0.169 HK$0.205
7% #£0.1697T 7 #£0.2057T
HK$1.34 HK$1.592

7 #81.347T 7 #51.5927T
HK$1.34 HK$1.592

7 #81.347T 75 #51.5927T
28.7% 31.0%

5 years 5 years

5% 54

6.6% 6.6%
2.199% 1.149%

The expected volatility is made with reference to the daily
historical volatilities of the Company with period commensurate
to the expected option life. Expected dividends are based on
historical dividends. Changes in the subjective input
assumptions could materially affect the fair value estimate.

Share options were granted under a service condition. This
condition has not been taken into account in the grant date
fair value measurement of the services received. There were no
market conditions associated with the share option grants.

O

TR R Y 2 E AR R B RIE R
REXHMRERR BENERE LK
fEfEL - MRS TDRBERS M E °
REAENETHMRNEE N - ATaE
FEARBENMGE -

BRERENSRURBHKARS -
AHEAEREREANEE BRI ARE
B WEE B L IR G o &% s e
SR TSR
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

B 7 ¥k & Bt 5 ()
25 Capital and reserves 25E KK f#fE
(a) Movements in components of equity (a) EEZAHEZ2EH
The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of AEBMFYRFESHIOOGEEERLE
each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out BROEHEEIRNGEEZZEHR - AR
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of B RO AFEVNEFRNESF
the changes in the Company’s individual components of equity BN
between the beginning and the end of the year are set out as
below:
The Company AT
Share Capital Retained Total
capital reserve profits equity
B EXfHE REEF BRAHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BB BT
As at 1 January 2017 R-Z-t&-A-H 295,870 4,169 50,662 350,701
Dividends approved in respect of EEEE#ER S
the previous year (Note 11) (Mizt11) — - (50,059) (50,059)
Issue of shares (Note 25(b)\i)) BT (W #22500)0)) 169 (27) — 142
Equity-settled share-based AR 12 4 B30 A RR 1
transactions RERNRS — 984 — 984
Lapse of share options BRERT — (98) 98 —
Total comprehensive income AEEXENELE
for the year — — 75,401 75,401
Dividends declared in respect of A& E 2R R4
the current year (Note 11) BRE(WE11) — — (25,427) (25,427)
As at 31 December 2017 (Note) R=Z—+%+=5
=+-8#i#) 296,039 5,028 50,675 351,742
Impact on initial application of BRER(ERI KR
HKFRS 9 SEANERNTE - - (136) (136)
Adjusted balance as at R=ZE-N§-A-H
1 January 2018 MERBLEH 296,039 5,028 50,539 351,606
Dividends approved in respect of ~ E&FEE i KR S
the previous year (Note 11) (Miz11) - — (50,062) (50,062)
Issue of shares (Note 25(b)(i)) BTl (W #22500)0)) 54 (5) — 49
Equity-settled share-based DA R 8 45 8300 DA RR £
transactions REBRNRS — 944 — 944
Lapse of share options BRERU — (16) 16 —
Total comprehensive income AEEXENEAE
for the year — — 75,179 75,179
Dividends declared in respect of A& E 2R %4
the current year (Note 11) W8 (frzt11) — — (27,812) (27,812)
As at 31 December 2018 RZE-N\%
+ZRA=+-H 296,093 5,951 47,860 349,904
Note: The Group, including the Company, has initially applied HKFRS 15 M AEE(BEARF)ER=ZF—
and HKFRS 9 at 1 January 2018. Under the transition methods F—H—HBEXRRB(EEH ﬁf‘f
chosen, comparative information is not restated. See Note 1(c). EERDE 5% R(CE B FE#REE

RIDE9T - IR 15 B #EFEry B E T
E W EES KRB N
1(c) °
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25 Capital and reserves (Continued)

(b) Share capital

(i)

Issued share capital

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

51 7% ) & MY 5 (#)

25 B AR i s (4&)

(b) B
(i) SBRITRA

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
Number of Number of
shares Amounts shares Amounts
4% & E k| B & B L]
in ‘000 HK$’000 in "000 HK$'000
T’ BET T T BT
Ordinary shares, issued Z&ER B 1T
and fully paid: REE:
As at 1 January n—HA—H 794,586 296,039 794,486 295,870
Shares issued under share R 1% B A% # 5+ 21 3%
option schemes TH R, 48 54 100 169
As at 31 December R+=ZA=+—H 794,634 296,093 794,586 296,039

In accordance with section 135 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, the ordinary shares of the Company
do not have a par value.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to
one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All
ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s
residual assets.

O

RIEEB(RBRPDF13506 K
AREBRYEEE-

BB AR BRI RORE K
BEORE LERRARAARE L
RERE - BREOE R -ME%
BEHARRBTEEZT AR S

)
s o
Im

“E-)\EEHR BEZBETESEARLA
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25 Capital and reserves (Continued) 25 E R K f#fE (&)
(b) Share capital (Continued) (b) B4 (48)
(ii) Shares issued under share option schemes (i) REBERETERTRG
During the year, share options were exercised to subscribe FR - BRERA ANE 49,000
for 48,000 ordinary shares (2017: 100,000 ordinary shares) THREZT - +LF: B
in the Company at a consideration of HK$49,000 (2017: 142,00070) 17 1 88 X # - R B8
HK$142,000) of which all was credited to share capital in 48,000 AR EEBR(ZE —+
accordance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. £ : 100,000/ EiBEAR) - RIBEFE
Capital reserve of HK$5,000 (2017: HK$27,000) has been CARMERDY  EEBRER S AR
transferred correspondingly to the share capital account in o &K E B K500 (ZF
accordance with the policy set out in Note 1(q)(ii). —+4F B #27,0007T) BRI A
1Q)i) PR & I SR BB B 2 IRARER -
(iii) Terms of unexpired and unexercised share options at (iii) ABREHRKRBNPRARTHEBERE
the end of the reporting period: B9 15k 3K
2018 2017
“B-N\§ —E—+tF
Exercise Number of Number of
Exercise period 766 price options options
B BREHE EREHE
14 April 2008 to 13 April 2018 “EE\FMATMAZ HK$1.01
—E-\FEA+=H 1017 — 198,718
30 June 2014 to 29 June 2024 —E-MEXA=1HE HK$1.90
—E-MEXAZ+NA A 190 11,500,000 11,500,000
2 July 2015 to 1 July 2025 —E-AFtAZHE HK$1.78
—Z2-hFtAR—H B 78T 7,500,000 7,500,000
4 July 2016 to 3 July 2026 —E-RFLANBE HK$1.57
—E2Z R FtRA=H B 5T 7,400,000 7,400,000
28 April 2017 to 27 April 2027 —E—+FMA=-+/N\RAZE HK$1.592
—E-+ENA=+EA 15027 6,800,000 6,800,000
4 May 2018 to 3 May 2028 —E-N\FRAEAZE HK$1.34
ZTEZNFRA=A  BE134n 7,400,000 —

40,600,000 33,398,718
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25 Capital and reserves (Continued)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

(d)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Capital reserve

The capital reserve comprises the grant date fair value of
unexercised share options granted to directors, employees
and ex-employees of the Company recognised in
accordance with the accounting policies adopted for share
based payments set out in Note 1(q)(ii).

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with
in accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note

1(r).

Fair value reserve

The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change
in the fair value of debt securities measured at FVOCI
under HKFRS 9 held at the end of the reporting period
(see Note 1(i).

Other reserve

The other reserve is non-distributable and represents
transfer from annual profits up to a maximum of 50% of
the issued and paid up capital of the Macau subsidiary in

accordance with the Macau Commercial Code.

Distributability of reserves

As at 31 December 2018, the aggregate amount of reserves
available for distribution to equity shareholders of the Company
was HK$47,860,000 (2017: HK$50,675,000). After the end of
the reporting period, the directors proposed a final dividend of

HK

6.0 cents per ordinary share (2017: HK 6.3 cents per

share), amounting to HK$47,678,000 (2017: HK$50,059,000).
This dividend has not been recognised as a liability at the end
of the reporting period.

O
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25 B AR i s (4&)

(c)

(d) =

RENEERAZR

(i) BEXGHE
EARFERRERTARAES
EBERAEEYRESRAZ10Q)
(ii) Fh VA B 4 A% EE T 9 32T i R 4 Y
S 5t BUR PR RR Y R R 1T (R BB AR
BWRLEEHRAREE-

(i) BE 5 #1E
ERFEEEEREBIIRANE
BERMELNMEELEZE - AR
FEEEBRBEHNAZ 10N TR
BRIE e

N

nBEREBERRSHRMEF

J

IR BCE B B 15 3RS 2 B F 95k

(iii) 2 A BERE
AV

BREMEEAWERAABEMNE
MEBESAAEBERFTEHFR
(RAFEEIH) -

(iv) H 1t {18
HittfE@E A TR 2K LR ER
FmEs  BRMKBARE R

N B R B AN A 5% %50% 43[R B F 2
i Al i

A 4 2 K % e

R_ZE—NE+_A=+—8 Ay
ETFARAIRERBANREERBE RS
#47,860,000t (= T — £ F: B &
50,675,0007T) - R EHR 2B EF
FORERAR B FR T MAR6.0B (L (=
T+ FE - FRe3IBU) - AEBE
47,678,000 (= T — £ F: B &
50,059,0007T) ° #% & Ik B R R & HA R I
KERBBE-

“E-)\EEHR BEZBETESEARLA

193 o—



—0194

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

5 7% & = Kt & (#)

25 Capital and reserves (Continued)

(e) Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safequard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
and to enable the Group to meet its liabilities as they fall due
for the foreseeable future. The Group has no external

borrowing at the end of the reporting period.

The Group’s capital structure is regularly reviewed and
managed with due regard to the capital management objectives

of the Group.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to

externally imposed capital requirements.

26 Financial risk management and fair

values

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risk arises in
the normal course of the Group’s business. These risks are limited
by the Group’s financial management policies and practices

described below.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on
its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the
Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade
receivables, contract assets and investments in debt securities.
The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash
equivalents and deposits with banks is limited because the
counterparties are major banks, for which the Group considers
to have low credit risk. Management has a credit policy in place
and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an

ongoing basis.

Trade receivables and contract assets

When registering as a subscriber, a customer is automatically
assigned with a credit limit based on the amount of its deposit
or bank guarantee and is normally given credit periods ranging
from one day to one month. Credit terms offered by other
companies of the Group are based on individual commercial
terms negotiated with customers. The amount of deposit is
determined on a customer-by-customer basis, depending on its
usage of the Company’s services. Generally, if a customer
reaches or exceeds its credit limit before the normal billing
cycle, an ad hoc bill will be issued to the customers for
payment by bank direct debit. However, if a customer is in
default of payment for whatever reason, its account
automatically suspended from operation until all outstanding
charges have been fully settled. For that reason, customers may
also, and often do, place deposits with the Company from time

to time to cover their charges.
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26 Financial risk management and fair 26 BREBEER AAEBE
values (Continued) (#8)

(a) Credit risk (Continued) (a) EE =B (8])

Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)

There is, however, no credit policy for the Company’s ad hoc
customers who are required to pay the relevant charges
(including service charges, service centre handling fees and
Government fees) in full when using the Company over-the-
counter services.

The Group's exposure to credit risk from trade receivables is
influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer rather than the industry or country in which the
customers operate and therefore significant concentrations of
credit risk primarily arise when the Group has significant
exposure to individual customers. At the end of the reporting
period, 2.1% (2017: 5.5%) and 25.3% (2017: 19.3%) of the
total trade receivables was due from the Group's largest
customer and the five largest customers respectively.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables and
contract assets are set out in Note 79.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables and
contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is
calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group's historical
credit loss experience does not indicate significantly different
loss patterns for different customer segments, the loss
allowance based on past due status is not further distinguished
between the Group’s different customer bases.

The following table provides information about the Group's
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables and
contract assets as at 31 December 2018:

YRR RENEE (&)

A ARBAERREREFILEER
BE - ZEREPANER AR B NER
RER 2HEXNEHER(BERY
E RBPLFEERBFRE) -

AEERBEKEROEERBREER
ERFNERSEEMFZEMIERTFLE
EBHFENTEXNBRAMEZE  BitfE
BREBEESETHBRAEIEHENEASE
BHENEFEEARBAERES -
WMEHK 21%(ZF—+F:55%)
K253% (ZF —+F :19.3%) M fE UK
EREE N ARBKRASENGZARS
EARBEFEMKIA-

EEAEEREBEBUERRENEEN
FERBRNE—SELEEER  FR
Bat19 -

rEBZEERZHEREEEENS
E(ABREEMTE) RFTEE S BN
BREHNEEBBEE AXAEENB
T REEEBEBRIBERTRAER 9
BEAEZENBIEFE URaHMKE
TENEEREBEREEAERTRAER
HRAE—FED -

TREREHEAEEAR-_ZE—\F+=
A=+—BrREENEERRARER
ERARANEERMEEBENER

Expected Gross carrying

loss rate amount Loss allowance

FEEEEE REAE EBERE

% HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BET T

Neither past due nor impaired 3f 4 38 % 75 & 5l B — 30,262 —
Less than 1 month past due B KR —1{EA — 4,927 —
1 to 3 months past due BY-Z=@A — 3,165 —
Over 3 months past due BREB=M@A 5.8% 5,763 (335)
44,117 (335)
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26 Financial risk management and fair
values (Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)
Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over the
past three years. These rates are adjusted to reflect differences
between economic conditions during the period over which the
historic data has been collected, current conditions and the
Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected lives of
the receivables.

Comparative information under HKAS 39

Prior to 1 January 2018, an impairment loss was recognised
only when there was objective evidence of impairment (see
Note 1(k)(i) — policy applicable prior to 1 January 2018). At
31 December 2017, nil trade receivables was determined to be
impaired. The aging analysis of trade debtors that were not
considered to be impaired was as follows:

26 i BEBERER AAEBE
(&)

(a) FERR ()

FEREREREAENEE (B
EHEBERERBTI=FNERERLR
AE - WEHLRSRREIN (FERED
RS @BERRER - BAARK
75 [ 4 W BB TR HI B HR N A B IR
MZ B - MANAAE -

(BBEEFER)FE399H T i EBEH
R-ZZE—N\F—A—Bil 25688
RMEZBEE T ERRRESE (BT
1k)() — BRR-_T—N\F—HA—HH
MEBRE) RZFE—tF+A=+—
B BEEKEREETAETHE-
I AR B TR E A R R SRR e
MR

2017

—F—tF

Neither past due nor impaired 3 48 460 B O AR R (E 16,672
Less than 1 month past due BE D — (& A 4,123
1 to 3 months past due wmE—Z={EA 3,503
Over 3 months past due i B AR iR = (8 A 4,635
12,261

28,933

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a
wide range of customers for which there was no recent history
of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a
number of independent customers that have a good track
record with the Group. Based on past experience, management
considers that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect
of these balances as there has not been a significant change in
credit quality and the balances are still considered fully
recoverable.

I 30 9 A R OE A B
A %EE 5 &SRR

B i H HE 0 M R R E A R IR R %
2BUBEPAR - ZEEPRAKED
BEEELHERT REBEEELR &
BERR AREEEZIEEAE
8 AFaa DR Er 28 KeE -
BB RZ T BRI E RS -




26 Financial risk management and fair
values (Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets (Continued)
Comparative information under HKAS 39 (Continued)

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade
receivables and contract assets during the year is as follows:

Balance at 31 December 2017 under
HKAS 39 RIBCEB G LD

FEI9RETF A B

Impact on initial application of HKFRS 9 & /X fE (& B IS8R &
(Note 1(c)(i) EANFEHRMEE

RZE—+tF+=ZA=+—H

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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26 BEBREERAAEE
(%&)

(a) FE R (F)

BB RS R A 40 R ()
(B8 B2 R B30 T ML BN
(4

00 BHREKERRA DA EN S
BEEEEHOT :

2018 2017
—E-N\F ZE—tF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T BT T

(Bt &£ 1(c)i)) 163 —
Adjusted balance at 1 January R—A—BRKAEER 163 —
Amounts written off during the year 4 Al §4 & 58 (619) —
Impairment losses recognised FAERAREERE
during the year 791 —
Balance at 31 December R+-ZA=1+—B0#&#% 335 —
Investments in debt securities BEXBEHFRE

Investments in debt securities are normally in liquid securities
quoted on a recognised stock exchange, issued by corporate
with sound credit standing (Note 18). Given their high credit
standing, management does not expect any investment
counterparty to fail to meet its obligations. Nevertheless, the
Group's financial advisor monitors the situation and will notify
the Group of any change. In addition, the Investment
Committee undertakes annual reviews of the Group's
exposures.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group does not have
any significant concentration of credit risk. The maximum
exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of
each financial asset in the statement of financial position. The
Group does not provide any other guarantees which would
expose the Group to credit risk.

The Group measures loss allowances for debt securities at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs.

AEENEFESKE —RBRRBAIE
HRGMHBREE  YHEEFNRRIT
AR BEITHRBES (H218) o R
REHFHAAREEFR EREL
THEMERNKRESF I EBERETE
F-AM AKEFHEREERR
NoMBEFEY HBANEE -
S RERBEEFRAAKEEAR -

RBERR  AEBETESEETHRE
SRk -EERRNSEESEERTH
MARPREBRMBEENREES
5o RE B EBEHEMEMEES
AEEAZEERBER -

REBRBSN2E AR EEEHER
BEBEFTEEEER-
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26 Financial risk management and fair
values (Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)

Investments in debt securities (Continued)
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of debt
securities during the year is as follows:

26 I EBEER
(&)

QX NREE

(a) FERR (&)

BEEEHRE (H)

TR EHREEEFNEBERERE %
g :

2018 2017
—Z2-N\F —ET—tF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Balance at 31 December 2017 under HKZ=% —th‘T'*ﬁ =+—H
HKAS 39 RIBECEE G ER)
EE395% T A A #R 4,103 —
Impact on initial application of HKFRS 9 & )X JE (& B B ISR &
(Note 1(c)(i) ERADFESHRMEE
(Kt & 1(00)) 1,760 —
Adjusted balance at 1 January R—A— B HEER 5,863 —
Amounts written off during the year ~ FRAM < 58 (3,894) (4,139)
Impairment losses recognised FABHERREEE
during the year 365 8,242
Reversal of impairment loss F AR E R B &R
during the year (209) —
Balance at 31 December R+ZA=+—Hm&s 2,125 4,103

Comparative information under HKAS 39

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group
considered impairment indications existed for an available-for-
sale debt security and carried out an impairment assessment for
that available-for-sale debt security. Based on management'’s
assessment, impairment losses of HK$8,242,000 had been
recognised in the profit or loss being the difference between
the acquisition cost (net of amortisation) and its fair value.

All other financial assets and liabilities are carried at amounts
not materially different from their fair values as at 31
December 2018 and 2017.

(BB BRI FE3955 I8 T i H B & F
HE-_ZT—+t&+-_A=+—HL*#E
E -AEBRAE—BAUHLEEELE

GEREDRR  WH BB HEERER
BHETRETE - REBEEREATIERT
B EREBEEZERARBEEBEESE
8,242,0007T * B U i Ak AN (40 B 8 81) 22

HARABENEZRE-

RZEBE-NFR-_ZF-—+tF+-A
=+t—H8: Fﬁﬁﬁ‘r&ﬂ?fﬁ%ﬁé&ﬁ%ﬂﬁ
FREEEEAANABEELEENER -
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26 Financial risk management and fair 26 BREBEER AAEBE

values (Continued) (#8)
(b) Liquidity risk (b) "BESEAR
All cash management of the Group, including the short term AEEMNMERSERIE(BIERS
investment of cash surpluses and raising of loans, if needed, to BHOEHERAREBEER(WERE)
cover expected cash demands, are managed centrally by the NENEHRREFT R HEAQA F R
Company. The Group's policy is to regularly monitor current B - AEENBERTHERINAR
and expected liquidity requirements and its compliance with EHRBESTRUREHEEREN
lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient BITER BREEBEBEAERZUNEASE
reserves of cash and readily realisable marketable securities and HHAZHEBEEES  URKETENE
adequate committed lines of funding from major financial BERISEHNAZEERE  UEN
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and ERBLEREARBEST K -
longer term.
At 31 December 2018, the Group's current liabilities was RZZE-NF+ZA=+—H ~&H
HK$197,463,000. Except for billings in advance of HK$836,000, 1 B B & 578 #197,463,0007T © R
all trade creditors, contract liabilities and other payables of AT ET 2 %5 #836,0007T 5N + 412 1FT R
HK$193,386,000 as indicated in Note 27, were due to be FIBERNFIE - &8 & REMERK
repaid or recognised as income during the next financial year or TE 75 #5193,386,0007T + AR T — @8 K
repayable upon demand. The directors of the Group are of the FEANRIREREELER B R E -
opinion that the Group would have sufficient funds to meet its SEEFKERTISEHERR  T&
obligations as and when they fall due, having regard to the EeERWEeEMNEEBEL:
following:
The Group will continue to generate positive operating cash . AEBBESEFIELEERS
flows; and m &
ii. it is not expected that significant customer deposits are i TEHSREHREH T @A ABRE
required to be refunded in the next twelve months from EREFPIREATRE

the end of the reporting period.

(c) Interest rate risk (c) # = b

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash MEREBEREMIAN A REBEIERR
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of IR &= K B 5 R 2 8 KK B8
changes in market interest rates. The Group's interest rate risk B AEBEMNFEREEFEZREERE
arises primarily from investments in fixed income debt securities EWABBEEFIRE (F:718) R)F R
(Note 18) and floating rate bank balances, which expose the RITHEER ELAEEBAAZAREE
Group to fair value interest rate risk and cash flow interest rate 2 EL b K 3R = A R R R o

risk.
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26 Financial risk management and fair
values (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited Annual Report 2018 @

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2018, it is estimated that a general increase/
decrease of 50 basis points in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, would increase/decrease the Group's
profit after tax and retained profits by approximately
HK$376,000 (2017: HK$151,000). The fair value reserve in the
consolidated equity would decrease/increase by approximately
HK$3,809,000 (2017: HK$5,657,000) in response.

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group’s consolidated equity that would arise
assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred at the
end of the reporting period and had been applied to re-
measure those fixed income debt securities held by the Group
which expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk at the
end of the reporting period. In respect of the exposure to cash
flow interest rate risk arising from floating rate bank balances
held by the Group at the end of the reporting period, the
impact on the Group’s profit after tax (and retained profits) is
estimated as an annualised impact on interest income of such a
change in interest rates. The analysis is performed on the same

basis for 2017 for cash flow interest rate risk.

Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily through
debt securities denominated in United States dollars and
investments in PRC incorporated entities. Given the fact that
the exchange rates of United States dollars and Hong Kong
dollars are currently pegged, management does not expect that
there will be any significant currency risk associated with the
investment in debt securities denominated in United States
The Group has not hedged the foreign exchange
exposure in relation to its investments in PRC incorporated
entities.

dollars.

26 i EBEER A AEE
(&)

(c)

(d)

Fl B b (F)

@@E“ﬁ
R-ZE—NE+-_A=+—8 L&
lﬁﬁ MF|REEE T HHS0EE
BoMAMBHEM R TRZBHZITE B
SARNE BB B S T K AR % 1

R b #78 46376,000T (Z B — + 4
7B #151,0007T) » FAERANN QA E

EHEEHEBERERMB D M
3,809,000 (= T — + F: 8 %
5,657,0007C) ©
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26 Financial risk management and fair
values (Continued)

(e) Fair value measurement
HKFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement categorises fair value
measurements into a three-level hierarchy. The level into which
a fair value measurement is classified is determined with
reference to the observability and significance of the inputs
used in the valuation technique as follows:

e Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1
inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date

e Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs
i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not
using significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs
are inputs for which market data are not available

e Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant
unobservable inputs

At 31 December 2018, the debt securities measured at FVOCI
(Note 18) held by the Group fall into Level 1 of the fair value
hierarchy described above.

(i) Corporate bonds categorised in level 1
The fair value of corporate bonds traded in active markets
is based on quoted market prices at the end of the
reporting period and included in Level 1.

O
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26 Financial risk management and fair 26 K EBEERAAEBE

values (Continued) (%)
(e) Fair value measurement (Continued) (e) AREEFE (&)

(ii) Corporate bonds categorised in level 3 (i) " EAFE=FHNLEREH
Valuation technique and inputs used in Level 3 fair value ARE=ZRA N EEGTENEES
measurements ER A I
One corporate bond was categorized in Level 3 as at 31 RZZE—tF+-A=+—H H#
December 2017 due to the issuer’s financial difficulties RETANMBRERESNR -F
and the fact that bond had been suspended from trading —t+tFEERFEE 2N —HEHE
in 2017. The disappearance of an active market meant that BEHFEPBEEE=H - -kEERM
significant unobservable price information and judgement GEEBEEAAEEREFEREXRT
were used in the determination of fair value. The Group ABREREHKHAH ~EEHG
relied upon a broker indicative quote to determine the fair B—EBELHNETEREEEAR
value and considered it representative because the value BE URREBEEEARRKNL
was similar to a price transacted over-the-counter near 31 FREAEBEERR _T—LtF+=
December 2017. A=T—HAENSINZ HERHE

3 o

During the year ended 2018, the Group disposed of the HE-_Z-\FILFE AEBRLES

corporate bond in Level 3 and there were no transfers between RN ERES ARABEERZE

levels of fair value hierarchy. The Group’s policy is to recognise WHERER AEBNBRAREHE
transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the date of BREBNEREHREIRMBERRR
the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer. BESRZEER -

The movements during the year in the balance of these Level 3 FRNEAE=ZRIRBEASEBNE

fair value measurements are as follows: R :

—E-N\F

HK$'000

BT T

Opening balance BR ¥ 4 82 3,736
Reversal of impairment loss recognised in BORERBRANRESE

profit or loss 209

Proceeds from sales HE PTISAE (3,981)

Others Hh 36

Closing balance AR 4% 87 =
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27 Commitments

(a)

(b)

Capital commitments

Capital commitments outstanding as at 31 December 2018 not
provided for in the financial statements amounted to
HK$1,513,000 (2017: Nil). They were mainly in respect of the
purchase of hardware and software for the Group.

Operating leases

The total future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases in respect of property rentals are
payable as follows:

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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27 &

(a) EXREIE
RZTE—NF+ZA=+—8 HFE
TERRYBRERBEZENRERE
#1,513,000C(Z B —+ 4% F) %%
AEIERASEIRESKEEGFEE -

(b) K&HE
RETAHELLHESE sEMDEMR
ERARENOKERENREROT

2018 2017

—®-N\F —E—t%

HK$°000 HK$'000

B¥ T BT T

Within one year —F R 688 470
More than one year but within —FRELFR

five years 327 —

1,015 470

The Group leases a number of properties under operating
leases. The leases typically run for an initial period of six
months to three years, with an option to renew the lease when
all terms are renegotiated. None of the leases includes
contingent rentals.

O
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28 Material related party transactions

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in
these financial statements, the Group entered into the following
material related party transactions:

(a) Recurring transactions

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group provided
security solution services to TAL Apparel Limited (“TAL”), an
associate of a substantial shareholder and generated revenue of
HK$64,000 (2017: HK$64,000). The Group also generated
HK$29,000 (2017: HK$32,000) from TAL for providing
electronic solutions in processing certain government related
documents.

(b) Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel, including
amounts paid to the Company’s executive directors as disclosed
in Note 9 and certain of the highest paid employees as
disclosed in Note 10, is as follows:

28ERKEABALRS

A

SUBHRREMERRENRS LA H

Hh REBTETATERBERALRS

(a)

(b)

KREETHRS
BHE-_Z—-N\F+-_A=+—HLHF
E-AEBRMBEEEXBRAA
(TTALDN(BEZ R R B8 A)IEH/F
Z 5 RIRTE BB W a5 B ¥ 64,0000T (=2
— 4 B H64,0007T) © A @ AT IR G
BEETBNEEXHENEFBRASR
IR R TALER 18 78 #29,000 (= T — +
& B ¥32,0007T) °

FTEEBEAEME
TEEBAEHME (BERN LR E
B RA R RHITE R HRE RN
IR BEERETRSHFREENN
KW

2018 2017

—2-N& —E—tf

HK$°000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Short-term employee benefits EHEERA 17,109 18,680
Post-employment benefits w2 EEEF 90 72
Equity compensation benefits IR A E R A 607 624
17,806 19,376

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see Note 6(a)).

e Bt AEBKA (R A Z6())
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29 Contingent liabilities 295, B A&

Pursuant to the terms of the contracts with the Government, the BRIBEIRFAI NGOG REEREZE
Group has obtained three bank guarantees totaling HK$4,218,000 BITAHARITES=ZHETERALEE
(2017: two bank guarantees totaling HK$2,166,000) from banks for 4,218,000 (ZF — & : MIARITERE
the due performance of the contracts by the Group. The bank H & #2,166,0007T) © R IT AR KB 4 R
guarantees and performance bond are secured by a charge over NG H B #4,218,000L (Z T —tF : B
deposit totaling HK$4,218,000 (2017: HK$2,166,000). 2,166,0007T) 7 K 8 # L fE R HE A -

30 Company-level statement of financial 3072 7B @& B &k R &R
position

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B it BT T BT T
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ¥ % « B /5 M & 25,912 21,740
Interest in associates PTib Bt & N R s 16 16,101 16,955
Interest in subsidiaries P Bt BB A Al i 25 15 91,318 81,613
Deferred taxation IR IE 18 27 —
133,358 120,308
Current assets RBEE
Trade receivables and contract  JEWEER MA N EE
assets 22,654 18,127
Other receivables, prepayments  H b & It FX 18 ~ 78+ 7018
and other contract costs M E A& # AR 315,467 350,359
Deposits with bank RITFER 4,222 4,246
Cash and cash equivalents BekBHeEE 72,714 66,210
415,057 438,942
Current liabilities RBAE
Trade creditors, contract liabilities [EfEEF - AW BE
and other payables K H A FE < 5B 191,707 201,100
Taxation 18 2,869 3,493
194,576 204,593
Net current assets REBEETFE 220,481 234,349
Total assets less current EEABERRBER
liabilities 353,839 354,657

O — T \FFEHR EESBEFTEZERAA 205 o—
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30 Company-level statement of financial 302 78 @ # M AR K (&)
position (Continued)

2018 2017
—E-N\F e
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Kt &t BT T BT
Non-current liabilities FkRBEE
Provision for long service RHRBE S BE
payments 2,819 2,753
Deferred taxation EIER IR 1,116 162
3,935 2,915
NET ASSETS BEEFE 349,904 351,742
Capital and reserves BEXREE
Share capital [N 25(b)(i) 296,093 296,039
Reserves HE 53,811 55,703
TOTAL EQUITY A 349,904 351,742
Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 26 KEZGN _T-—NF=ZR-+A#H#LAER
March 2019. BT E -
Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, SB.S., J.P. FE
Chairman ZNEEL  sBS, JP.
TSE Kam Keung HITEF
Executive Director EiF

——0206 Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited Annual Report 2018 @



31 Non-adjusting events after the

reporting period

After the end of the reporting period, the directors proposed a final
dividend of HK 6.0 cents per share (2017: HK 6.3 cents per share)
for the year ended 31 December 2018, amounting to
HK$47,678,000 (2017: HK$50,059,000). This dividend has not been
recognised as a liability at the end of the reporting period.

32 Comparative figures

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 15 and HKFRS 9 at 1 January
2018. Under the transition methods chosen, comparative
information is not restated. Further details of the changes in

accounting policies are disclosed in Note 1(c).

33 Possible impact of amendments, new

standards and interpretations issued
but not yet effective for the annual
accounting period ended 31 December
2018

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA
has issued a number of amendments, new standards and
interpretations which are not yet effective for the year ended 31
December 2018 and which have not been adopted in these
financial statements. These include the following which may be
relevant to the Group.

Effective for
accounting
periods beginning
on or after

HKFRS 16, Leases 1 January 2019

HK(IFRIC) 23, Uncertainty over income tax
treatments

1 January 2019

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017
Cycle

1 January 2019

Amendments to HKAS 28, Long-term interest
in associates and joint ventures

1 January 2019

O

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

51 7% ) & MY 5 (#)

BTHBEHERAFAENS R

RFERRR EFREBBRE_T—N\F
TZ A=+ - B LEFENRHBRESTRE.0E
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47,678,0007T (= F — 4 : /& #50,059,000
) HmBRERBERRL KERBAE -

NRLEEREF

AEEER -_Z-N\F-A-BERE®
(BRI B REER)FE1SH, R(EE MK R
SEADFIR - RBECEENBESE I
BEILREH ST BREHNE — T
BRM A 1(c) B 5E

BEE=-FE-—NF+=A
=t-HBLEEESFHEE
PR M B & R A MAVIEET ~ #
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33 Possible impact of amendments, new

standards and interpretations issued
but not yet effective for the annual
accounting period ended 31 December
2018 (Continued)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of these amendments, new standards and interpretations is
expected to be in the period of initial application. So far the Group
has identified some aspects of HKFRS 16 which may have a
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements. Further
details of the expected impacts are disclosed below. While the
assessment has been substantially completed for HKFRS 16, the
actual impact upon the initial adoption of this standard may differ
as the assessment completed to date is based on the information
currently available to the Group, and further impacts may be
identified before this standard is initially applied in the Group's
interim financial report for the six months ended 30 June 2019. The
Group may also change its accounting policy elections, including the
transition options, until the standard is initially applied in that
financial report.

HKFRS 16, Leases

As disclosed in Note 1(j), currently the Group classifies leases into
operating leases depending on the classification of the lease. The
Group enters into some leases as the lessee.

HKFRS 16 is not expected to impact significantly on the way that
lessors account for their rights and obligations under a lease.
However, once HKFRS 16 is adopted, lessees will no longer
distinguish between finance leases and operating leases. Instead,
subject to practical expedients, lessees will account for all leases in
a similar way to current finance lease accounting, i.e. at the
commencement date of the lease the lessee will recognise and
measure a lease liability at the present value of the minimum future
lease payments and will recognise a corresponding “right-of-use”
asset. After initial recognition of this asset and liability, the lessee
will recognise interest expense accrued on the outstanding balance
of the lease liability, and the depreciation of the right-of-use asset,
instead of the current policy of recognising rental expenses incurred
under operating leases on a systematic basis over the lease term. As
a practical expedient, the lessee can elect not to apply this
accounting model to short-term leases (i.e. where the lease term is
12 months or less) and to leases of low-value assets, in which case
the rental expenses would continue to be recognised on a
systematic basis over the lease term.

BEHE-ZFE-—NFE+=A

=t+—HLEFESTHHHEE
FEMHEERERWIET ~ 5
EARRBTRELNTE
(48)
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MERENEESHRREE BREBENR
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33 Possible impact of amendments, new

standards and interpretations issued
but not yet effective for the annual
accounting period ended 31 December
2018 (Continued)

HKFRS 16, Leases (Continued)

HKFRS 16 will primarily affect the Group’s accounting as a lessee of
leases for properties which are currently classified as operating
leases. The application of the new accounting model is expected to
lead to an increase in both assets and liabilities and to impact on
the timing of the expense recognition in the statement of profit or
loss over the period of the lease.

HKFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2019. As allowed by HKFRS 16, the Group plans to use the
practical expedient to grandfather the previous assessment of which
existing arrangements are, or contain, leases. The Group will
therefore apply the new definition of a lease in HKFRS 16 only to
contracts that are entered into on or after the date of initial
application. In addition, the Group plans to elect the practical
expedient for not applying the new accounting model to short-term
leases and leases of low-value assets.

The Group plans to elect to use the modified retrospective approach
for the adoption of HKFRS 16 and will recognise the cumulative
effect of initial application as an adjustment to the opening balance
of equity at 1 January 2019 and will not restate the comparative
information. As disclosed in Note 27(b), at 31 December 2018 the
Group's future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases amount to HK$1,015,000 for properties, some of
which is payable within 1 year after the reporting date. Upon the
initial adoption of HKFRS 16, the opening balances of lease
liabilities and the corresponding right-of-use assets will be adjusted
to HK$840,000, after taking account the effects of discounting, as
at 1 January 2019.

Other than the recognition of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets,
the Group expects that the transition adjustments to be made upon
the initial adoption of HKFRS 16 will not be material. In addition,
the expected changes in accounting policies as described above will
not have a material impact on the Group’s financial statement from
2019 onwards.

O
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Five-Year Financial Summary

EFHMBRE

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
—E-N\E —T—+tfF —E-RE “Z-hF “Z-QmF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
k=3 BETT BETT BT BETT BETT
Results S
(vear ended 31 December) (BE+=-HA=+—HItFE)
Revenue & 7 271,930 241,830 231,302 222,719 226,293
Profit from operations BEHEF 1 104,766 94,169 91,931 85,982 83,646
Share of results of associates R VNS 1,540 2,415 (10,557) 6,596 6,888
Share of result of joint venture RS RRIEE — — — — (409)
Impairment loss on interest RSN RARER RERR
in associate — — — — (3,000
Impairment loss on interest REERAER 2 RERE
in joint venture — — — — (1,280)
Impairment loss on other HiuMEEERERR
financial assets (156) (8,242) — — —
Profit before taxation R 10 31 106,150 88,342 81,374 92,578 85,845
Taxation A 7,2 (16,382) (14,222) (2,122) (11,174) (11,662)
Profit for the year REF RN 89,768 74,120 79,252 81,404 74,183
Attributable to: AL
Equity shareholders of ARRREREA
the Company 89,768 74,120 79,252 81,404 74,183
Profit for the year REEEF 89,768 74,120 79,252 81,404 74,183
Assets and Liabilities BEREE
(as at 31 December) (R+=-A=+—-H)
Total non-current assets ERBEELE 2 363,859 427,254 465,918 293,609 142,094
Total current assets MBEELS 1,2 188,743 134,670 98,706 283,119 469,980
Total assets BELE 552,602 561,924 564,624 576,728 612,074
Total non-current liabilities ERBAELEE 1,2 (4,382) (3,316) (3,449) (3,548) (3,432)
Total current liabilities nBEERH (197,463) (204,198) (210,824) (212,531) (231,514)
Total liabilities BERE (201,845) (207,514) (214,273) (216,079) (234,946)
Net assets BEFHE 350,757 354,410 350,351 360,649 377,128

Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited

Annual Report 2018




Notes to the five year summary:

As a result of the adoption of HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with
customers, with effect from 1 January 2018, the Group has changed its
accounting policies in respect of revenue recognition. In accordance with
the transitional provisions of the standard, the changes in accounting
policies were adopted by way of opening balance adjustments to equity as
at 1 January 2018. Figures in years earlier than 2018 are stated in
accordance with the policies applicable in those years.

The Group adopted HKFRS 9, Financial instruments from 1 January 2018. As
a result, the Group has changed its accounting policies in relation to
financial instruments. As allowed by HKFRS 9, the Group has not restated
information relating to prior years. Differences in the carrying amounts of
the financial assets resulting from the adoption of HKFRS 9 were
recognised in retained earnings and reserves at 1 January 2018. There was
no difference in the carrying amounts of the financial liabilities. Prior to 1
January 2018, figures were stated in accordance with the policies

applicable in those years.

BFEHEME
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BRI B F—NF—A—HE 758
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Other Financial Assets

HtwM BEE

Other financial assets held as at 31 December 2018 with nominal value

at US$3 million or above are as follows:

UWTAR-ZE-—NF+_A=+—BFH4A8E
{E3,000,0003% JT sk A 9 H b BF 5 B EE -

Issuer Principal business Coupon Nominal value Maturity date
BITA FTEEK S| A E HmE Z#HA
Us$'000
FER
Sino-Ocean Land Treasure Finance | Limited Real Estate 4.625% 3,000 30 Jul 2019
BRFWESMERAT B E —ZET-hFtA
=+H
Zhaohai Investment (BVI) Limited Industrial Other 4% 3,000 23 Jul 2020
Hip T ZTZTFtA
—+=H
Sunshine Life Insurance Corporation Limited  Life Insurance 3.15% 3,000 20 Apr 2021
R AZRBRODBRAF ASRE —E—FMWA
—+H
Chongging Nan’an Urban Construction & Industrial Other 3.625% 3,000 19 Jul 2021
Development (Group) Co., Ltd. Hh T2 —T-—4%+A
EETEHEEATRERER(EE)ER AR +hE
BOC Aviation Limited Commercial Finance 2.375% 3,000 15 Sept 2021
PRMEHAEERAF [EEA —T-—FNA
+HA
Union Life Insurance Co., Ltd. Life Insurance 3% 3,000 19 Sept 2021
ERABRERMDBR A A ASRE —E-—%NA
+hE
Bluestar Finance Holdings Limited Chemicals 3.5% 3,000 30 Sep 2021
fpEa —E-—FNA
=+H
China Great Wall International Holdings I Financial Services 2.625% 3,000 27 Oct 2021
Limited ©RARTS —ZE=—%+H
—++H
China Cinda Finance (2017) | Limited Financial Services 3.65% 3,000 09 Mar 2022
© Bl AR 7% —T-_F=RNH
ICBCIL Finance Co. Limited Commercial Finance 3.375% 3,000 05 Apr 2022
THRERESHBERRA A HELRE —ET-__FWMAERA
Sinochem International Development Pte. Ltd. Chemicals 3.125% 3,000 25 Jul 2022
e 2 —T__F
+tA-+HA
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Investor Relations and Key Dates

REEBRNREEZEBRH

The Company encourages two-way communication with both its
institutional and individual investors. Extensive information about the
Company’s activities is provided in the Annual Report. There is regular
communication with institutional and individual investors. Enquiries from
individuals on matters relating to their shareholdings and the business of
the Company are welcome and are dealt with in an informative and
timely manner.

Financial Calendar
Closure of Register of Members:
— to ascertain shareholders entitlement

to attend and vote at the 2019
Annual General Meeting

7 May 2019-10 May 2019
(both days inclusive)

— to ascertain shareholders qualified for
the Final Dividend

16 May 2019-20 May 2019
(both days inclusive)

2019 Annual General Meeting 10 May 2019

Final Dividend Payment Date On or about 29 May 2019

Listings

The Company’s shares have been listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 28 October 2005.

Annual Report 2018

This Annual Report 2018, in both English and Chinese, is now available in
printed form as well as on the Company’s website at www.tradelink.com.hk
and the website of HKEXnews at www.hkexnews.hk

Stock Code

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited — 00536

Registered Office

11/F & 12/F

Tower B, Regent Centre

63 Wo Yi Hop Road

Kwai Chung, Hong Kong
Telephone: +852 2599 1600
Fax: +852 2506 0188
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Share Registrar

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716

17/F, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wan Chai, Hong Kong

Telephone: +852 2862 8555

Fax: +852 2865 0990

Investor Relations

Ms. Wong Siu Yee, Grace

Vice President (Investor Relations and Corporate Communications)
Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited

11/F & 12/F

Tower B, Regent Centre

63 Wo Yi Hop Road

Kwai Chung, Hong Kong

Telephone: +852 2161 4370

Fax: +852 2506 0188

Email: ir@tradelink.com.hk

Website

www.tradelink.com.hk
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Corporate Information
AEEH

Board of Directors

Chairman and Non-executive Director
Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, SB.S., J.P.

Executive Directors

Mr. TSE Kam Keung (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew (Chief Technology Officer)
Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily (Chief Operations Officer)

Non-executive Directors
Dr. LEE Delman

Mr. YING Tze Man, Kenneth
Mr. YUEN Wing Sang, Vincent

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. CHAK Hubert

Ms. CHAN Chi Yan

Mr. CHAU Tak Hay

Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy

Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, J.P.

Board Committees

Audit Committee

Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy (Chairman)
Mr. CHAK Hubert

Ms. CHAN Chi Yan

Mr. CHAU Tak Hay

Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, J.P.

Remuneration Committee
Mr. CHAU Tak Hay (Chairman)
Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S., J.P.
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy

Nomination Committee

Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, J.P. (Chairman)
Dr. LEE Nai Shee, Harry, S.B.S., J.P.

Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy

Investment Committee
Mr. CHAK Hubert (Chairman)
Ms. CHAN Chi Yan

Mr. CHAU Tak Hay

Mr. YING Tze Man, Kenneth
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Corporate Information (Continued)

NETN- 0 =2¢ )]

Corporate Governance Committee
Mr. CHUNG Wai Kwok, Jimmy (Chairman)
Mr. CHAK Hubert

Ms. CHAN Chi Yan

Mr. CHAU Tak Hay

Mr. HO Lap Kee, Sunny, J.P.

Senior Management

Mr. TSE Kam Keung (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. CHENG Chun Chung, Andrew (Chief Technology Officer)
Ms. CHUNG Shun Kwan, Emily (Chief Operations Officer)
Ms. CHU Pik Kwan, Peggie (Chief Financial Officer)

Company Secretary

Mr. HO Chi Kin Joseph

Auditor

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

Bankers

Dah Sing Bank, Limited
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

Registered Office

11/F & 12/F

Tower B, Regent Centre

63 Wo Yi Hop Road

Kwai Chung, Hong Kong
Telephone: +852 2599 1600
Fax: +852 2506 0188

Share Registrar

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716

17/F, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wan Chai, Hong Kong

Telephone: +852 2862 8555

Fax: +852 2865 0990

In case of inconsistencies between the English and Chinese versions, the
English version shall prevail to the extent of such inconsistencies.
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Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited

11/F & 12/F, Tower B, Regent Centre,

63 Wo Yi Hop Road, Kwai Chung, Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 2599 1600 Fax: (852) 2506 0188
Corporate Website: www.tradelink.com.hk

Business Portal: www.tradelink-ebiz.com
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1 (852) 2599 1600 fEEH : (852) 2506 0188

A AL © www.tradelink.com.hk

EFESEH : www.tradelink-ebiz.com
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